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The Annual and Special Meeting of the 
shareholders of WesternZagros will be 
held on Thursday, June 6, 2013, 
at 3:30 pm in Meeting Rooms No. 1 and 2, 
Plus Fifteen Level, at the Ernst & Young 
Tower located at 440 – 2nd Ave. S.W. 
Calgary, Alberta T2P 5E9.

This annual report contains forward-looking 
statements and actual results may differ 
materially from what is anticipated by 
WesternZagros. See the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis section of this report, 
beginning on page 35, for a full description  
of the meaning of forward-looking statements 
and the factors that could impact results. 

Terms related to resource classifications 
referred to in this annual report are based on 
the definitions and guidelines in the Canadian 
Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook. For a full 
explanation of these definitions and guidelines, 
please see the WesternZagros Annual 
Information Form dated March 22, 2013,  
filed on www.sedar.com.
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WesternZagros, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 

holds two Production Sharing Contracts with the Kurdistan 

Regional Government.  
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Our Mission is to be recognized, through consistently 

superior business performance and operations 

excellence, as one of the leading junior oil and gas 

companies active in the Kurdistan Region.
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 1 MILLION 
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Kurdamir-2 discovers giant oil field and tests 3,450 barrels 
of oil per day in the Oligecene reservoir
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Drilling supports hypothesis that Kurdamir is part 
of a much larger geological structure
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Kurdamir Blocks 
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and appraisal activities

100% drilling success rate and excellent safety 
record continue 
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placement and 
a Cdn$46.6 
million strategic 
investment
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The Kurdamir Region  
of Iraq is quickly 
becoming one of the 
world’s hottest oil 
exploration plays.

WesternZagros contingent resources

974 
MILLION 
  barrels of oil equivalent  

WesternZagros prospective resources

4,729 
MILLION 
  barrels of oil equivalent  

See full resources data on page 24



Letter to 
Shareholders 
We are proud at WesternZagros to 
claim in 2012 a distinction that few 
junior oil and gas companies can 
share – we were part of a team that 
discovered a giant oil field. With at 
least 500 million barrels of ultimately 
recoverable light oil, giant oil fields 
are rare; fewer than 1,000 such fields 
have ever been discovered in the world. 

Most giant fields discovered today are 
found in relatively inaccessible areas, 
such as deepwater offshore basins. In 
the case of the Kurdamir field, however, 
this giant is located in the rapidly 
developing Kurdistan Region of Iraq, 
which is quickly becoming one of the 
world’s hottest oil exploration plays. 
The 2012 results from our Kurdamir-2 
well were highly encouraging as we 
discovered a 118-metre-thick oil column, 
and since we have yet to see an 
oil-water contact, it has the potential 
to be significantly thicker. Indeed, we 
believe that Kurdamir may prove to 
be part of an even bigger structure, 
extending from our Kurdamir 
exploration block into our Garmian 
exploration block, and extending 
as well into other blocks that 
border Kurdamir.

While the discovery of a giant field was 
the crowning achievement of our very 
busy year in 2012, it was far from the 
only highlight. We also had success on  
our Garmian Block in both exploration 
and production, and we were pleased 
to welcome two excellent new partners:  
Gazprom Neft Middle East B.V. (Gazprom 
Neft) as a co-venturer on the Garmian 
Block and Crest Energy International 
LLC (Crest) as a strategic investor.

Having achieved an increase of over 
60 percent in our market value in 2012, 
we are highly optimistic early in 2013 
about the Company’s future. However, 
despite our numerous successes, we still 
face a complicated political situation 
in Iraq, which has prevented our giant 
discovery from being valued as we, and  
numerous industry analysts, believe it 
should be.

SucceSS thrOugh the drILL bIt

The Kurdamir Block is the smaller of 
our two contiguous exploration blocks 
in the Kurdistan Region, but the one 
that contains the tremendous prize of 
the Kurdamir giant oil discovery. 
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We have a 40 percent interest in 
Kurdamir; our co-venturer Talisman 
(Block 44) B.V. (Talisman) operates the 
field with a 40 percent interest; and 
the Kurdistan Regional Government 
(KRG) holds a 20 percent interest. 

After spudding the Kurdamir-2 well late 
in 2011, drilling and testing operations 
continued through most of 2012. The 
well discovered oil in three stacked 
reservoirs: the Oligocene, below the 
structure’s gas cap, and the deeper 
Eocene and Cretaceous reservoirs. 

The Oligocene was the reservoir about 
which we were most optimistic and it 
exceeded our expectations. At 118 metres  
thick, the oil leg was larger than we had 
anticipated from seismic data and the 
strong flow rates in our testing showed 
excellent permeability. In fact, natural 
gas flowed down from the gas cap into 
the deepest test interval in the oil leg, 
demonstrating the high permeability, 
but also hampering our oil flow rates. 
This promises eventually to be a very 
prolific producing light oil field, as 
demonstrated by the fact that we now 
have a mean estimate of 390 million 
barrels of contingent oil resources in 
the Oligocene reservoir alone. 

Although we did not see commercial flow 
rates from the Eocene and Cretaceous 
reservoirs, the test results confirmed 
our overall hypothesis about the potential 
of the entire Kurdamir structure. Thus 
far we have encountered oil with no 
evidence of water, which means that 
we have not yet found the oil/water 
contact point. This in turn suggests 
that all three oil-bearing reservoirs are 
likely part of a much larger geological 
structure that extends off the Kurdamir 
Block. It will take more delineation 
drilling to understand the full extent of 
the Kurdamir structure. That work is 
underway with our Kurdamir-3 well, 
which began drilling in February 2013. 
We are also completing an extensive 
3D seismic program over the Kurdamir 
structure that will assist with our 
evaluation.

The excellent drilling results at Kurdamir 
have heightened our enthusiasm for 
the northern part of our Garmian Block, 
which sits directly adjacent to the 
Kurdamir Block. We now believe that 
our Baram prospect in the Garmian 
Block may in fact be an extension of 
the Kurdamir structure. Our Baram-1 
well, scheduled to begin drilling in the 
second half of 2013, will test this 
hypothesis. Baram-1 will be a high-
impact well for WesternZagros. The 
Qulijan prospect on the northwest 
corner of the Garmian Block is also 
promising.  

The remainder of the large Garmian 
Block contains the Sarqala oil discovery, 
the Mil Qasim oil discovery from early 
2012, and numerous other prospects. 
Discoveries in the southern Garmian 
are relatively simple to bring on 
production, because the reservoirs 
contain high-quality, low-sulphur oil 
with lower amounts of gas and no 
hydrogen sulphide. The oil in this 
region is of such high quality that I 
have heard it described locally as 
“Sarqala Super Light.” 

With the approval of the KRG, we put 
our Sarqala-1 well on an extended well 
test (EWT) late in 2011 and by the 
beginning of 2012 we were producing 
5,000 barrels per day of light oil into 
the local Kurdistan Region market. By 
the end of May 2012, when we took the 
well down for repairs, we had produced 
and marketed approximately one million 
barrels of oil in exchange for cash 
payment. We received approval to 
restart the EWT in early November 
2012 and deliver the crude for export, 
but ceased production less than three 
weeks later at the request of the KRG 
in relation to their payment dispute with 
the Iraq federal government. We have 
a workover planned that we believe 
will make the Sarqala-1 well capable of 
producing 10,000 barrels per day once 
the export situation is resolved.  

As well as the Baram-1 well, our 
Garmian Block exploration plans for 
2013 include drilling the Hasira-1 well 
beginning mid-year, which will both 
test the Oligocene reservoir in that 

location and appraise the Jeribe 
reservoir. We plan to complete the well 
as a producer in either reservoir 
depending on the results. We are also 
preparing for a three-well drilling 
program in the shallow Upper Bakhtiari 
reservoir, which we identified while 
drilling the Mil Qasim well. With at least 
three wells planned in 2013 and a 3D 
seismic program underway, we should 
have a greatly enhanced understanding 
of the petroleum geology of the Garmian 
Block by the end of the year. We believe 
the block has excellent potential for 
near-term oil production.

cONServatIve fINaNcIaL 
MaNageMeNt

With conservative financial 
management and supportive partners 
and shareholders, WesternZagros 
remains well-capitalized. We are fully 
funded for our extensive drilling and 
seismic plans in 2013.

The assignment of the third-party 
interest in the Garmian Block was a  
key development for us in 2012. 
WesternZagros operates the Garmian 
Block with a 40 percent interest; the 
KRG holds a 20 percent interest; and 
the remaining 40 percent interest was 
assigned by the KRG to Gazprom Neft 
mid-year. Gazprom Neft is the major 
oil producing subsidiary of Gazprom, 
the world’s largest gas company. With 
their involvement we have gained a 
supportive co-venturer with excellent 
operating expertise.

We were also very pleased to welcome 
Crest as a new strategic investor in 
2012. We secured a $57 million private 
placement with Crest in August 2012, 
and a further $123 million combined 
private placement and loan in March 
2013. Both placements were priced at 
a premium to the market price. Crest 
now owns approximately 19.8 percent 
of WesternZagros and has two 
appointees on the WesternZagros 
Board of Directors. The Richard 
Chandler Corporation also acquired 
just over 15 percent of WesternZagros’s 
shares on the open market late in 2012 
and then opted to participate in the 



public offering that followed the second 
Crest private placement (at the same 
premium to market price) to maintain 
that 15 percent stake. We appreciate 
the support of these large shareholders.      

As this annual report goes to print,  
we are advancing our plans to list 
WesternZagros’s shares on the London 
Stock Exchange. We have had a 
substantial following in the U.K. markets 
for some time, and we believe that an 
LSE listing will facilitate greater U.K. 
ownership, strengthening our trading 
liquidity and investor interest.

gettINg OIL tO Market

Questions of infrastructure and political 
stability remain in 2013, as they do in a 
number of emerging oil and gas regions. 
On the positive side, the security 
situation in the Kurdistan Region remains 
stable and we are confident in the safety 
of our employees and contractors. As 
well, our relationship with the KRG is 
strong, and general industry confidence 
in the region is growing, as evidenced 
by the additional number of major oil 
companies that have moved into the 
Kurdistan Region in recent months.

The relationship between the KRG and 
the federal government of Iraq, however, 
impacts WesternZagros as it impacts 
all of the oil and gas companies 
operating in the Kurdistan Region. 
We operate under the auspices of the 
Kurdistan Petroleum Law, because the 
Draft Federal Petroleum Law of 2007 
has yet to be finalized. Iraq has 
recently failed to pay the KRG amounts 
owed for oil previously delivered to the 
main Iraq oil export system. 

While continuing to seek a resolution 
with Iraq, the KRG is also actively 
pursuing other options for getting 
oil to markets. The KRG has established 
its own relationship with the Turkish 
government, which is proving positive 
and constructive. New pipeline 
infrastructure is currently under 
construction to create an export line  
to Turkey that runs entirely within the 
Kurdistan Region. With plans in 
progress and work currently underway, 

the KRG could have its own oil export 
pipeline to Turkey in service in 2014.

It is extremely rare for giant fields to 
remain behind pipe for long and we 
believe that the opportunity to realize 
the Kurdistan Region’s economic 
potential will provide the necessary 
incentive to support pipeline 
development and a workable export 
regime in due course. In the meantime, 
we are focused on proving up the 
potential in our exploration blocks, 
maintaining the Company’s sound 
financial position so that we can afford 
to be patient, and ensuring our 
discovered oilfields are production-
ready when the time comes. 

Part Of the cOMMuNIty

At WesternZagros, we continue to 
put a high priority on nurturing our 
relationships with the local community 
in our operating area in the Kurdistan 
Region. The large majority of our 
employees and contractors in the 
region are local people, and we invest 
in providing training when we cannot 
find local employees with the necessary 
skill sets. We also maintain a substantial 
community investment program focused 
on local employment, water supply, 
education, health care, agriculture and 
recreation, and we advanced these 
programs substantially in 2012. We 
believe that fostering social, economic 
and political development in the 
Kurdistan Region is in everyone’s 
interest. 

The more time our management, 
directors and senior staff spend in the 
Kurdistan Region, the more respect we 
gain for the rich history and culture of 
the Kurdish people. We will continue 
to do everything we can to be a 
positive and respected contributor 
to Kurdish society.

As always, I must thank our dedicated 
employees and directors for their 
commitment to WesternZagros’s 
long-term success. We added a few 
new senior executives in 2012 and 
early 2013, as we build the breadth of 
talent that we need to reach for the 

next level of growth. With an excellent 
safety record again in 2012, strong 
market performance and 100 percent 
drilling success, we are confident in 
our ability to replicate the breakthrough 
year we had in 2012 in the years to come.

Thank you as well to our investors  
for their continued support of the 
WesternZagros vision. 2012 marked 
our fifth anniversary since our 
incorporation as a publicly traded 
company, and our seventh year in the 
Kurdistan Region. While we have come a 
long way in a few short years, we believe 
that we are only just getting started.  

Sincerely,

Simon Hatfield,  
Chief Executive Officer. 
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This year we joined an elite group 
of oil and gas companies around 
the world with the discovery of a 
giant oil field in our Kurdamir Block. 
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Many important developments in 2012 

contributed to what was a breakthrough 

year for WesternZagros. We built on our 

exploration success and solid operating 

execution, and moved well ahead on our 

mission to be recognized as one of the 

leading junior oil and gas companies 

active in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. 

We have now drilled and tested four wells 

and made four discoveries. We have also 

found gross unrisked contingent 

resources of 974 million barrels of oil 

equivalent and assessed gross unrisked 

prospective resources of an additional 

4.7 billion barrels of oil equivalent.

Our efforts remain firmly focused on our 

two highly prospective exploration 

properties, the Kurdamir and the Garmian 

blocks. These exploration properties are 

held under Petroleum Sharing Contracts 

(PSCs) with the Kurdistan Regional 

Government (KRG) and together cover 

2,120 square kilometres. This represents 

one of the largest exploration areas in the 

Kurdistan Region, on trend with the 

super-giant Kirkuk oil field and adjacent 

to a number of prolific historic oil and 

gas discoveries.

This year we joined an elite group of oil 

and gas companies around the world 

with the discovery of a giant oil field in 

our Kurdamir Block. There are relatively 

few giant oil fields around the world and 

the Kurdamir structure still has the 

potential for further resource growth as 

we delineate the extent of the discovery. 

While we are hunting for giants on the 

Kurdamir Block, our adjacent Garmian 

Block provides an intriguing contrast.  

Here, the prospects are smaller, but more 

numerous. To date, we have already 

discovered a billion barrels of net 

prospective oil resources spread across 

numerous targets and we believe there is 

further exploration upside.  In addition, 

the Garmian Block has the potential to 

provide significant production in the 

near term.

In 2013 we anticipate building on our past 

success through a fully funded and 

aggressive exploration and delineation 

campaign on both blocks. We are no 

longer a pure exploration play as we turn 

our attention to preparing wells for 

production and converting a further 3.4 

billion prospective barrels into contingent 

resources. And in terms of getting our oil 

to market, we are optimistic about new 

pipeline development underway within 

the Kurdistan Region that may offer an 

alternative in the event that the oil 

export negotiations between the Iraq 

federal government and the KRG reach 

an impasse.

kurdaMIr bLOck

The Kurdamir block is approximately 340 

square kilometres and is operated by our 

joint venture partner, Talisman (Block 44) 

B.V. (Talisman).  WesternZagros holds a 

40 percent working interest in the block, 

while Talisman has an additional 40 

percent and the KRG retains the 

remaining 20 percent interest. 

The Kurdamir structure is the largest of 

the numerous prospects across our 

exploration blocks. Evidence suggests 

that the Kurdamir discovery could be part 

of an even bigger structure that extends 

We will continue to 
explore our prime prospects, 
increase production capability 
and advance development plans.
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into the neighbouring Topkhana Block 

to the north, which is also operated by 

Talisman, and into our Garmian Block 

to the south. We now believe that our 

Baram prospect on the Garmian Block 

may be an extension of the Kurdamir 

structure.

kurdaMIr-2 exPLOratION WeLL

Kurdamir-2 was our second exploration 

well drilled on the Kurdamir Block. This 

well was spud in October 2011 and was 

located approximately two kilometres 

northeast of the Kurdamir-1 well, our 

previous oil, gas and condensate 

discovery on the block.  Kurdamir-2 

reached a total depth of approximately 

4,000 metres in June 2012, penetrating 

three stacked reservoirs. From the top to 

the bottom they were the Oligocene, the 

Eocene and the Cretaceous reservoirs. A 

comprehensive testing program was 

carried out in the fourth quarter of 2012.

With the completion of the Kurdamir-2 

well the total combined mean estimate of 

gross unrisked contingent resources of 

the Kurdamir structure increased to 545 

million barrels of oil in the Oligocene and 

Eocene reservoirs.

Oligocene Reservoir

The Kurdamir-2 well drilled through the 

Oligocene interval in the first quarter of 

2012, finding 118 metres of oil pay. When 

we first drilled into the Oligocene, we 

paused drilling to conduct a drill stem 

test in the open hole to evaluate 22 

metres of gas pay in contact with 33 

metres of oil pay at the top of the 

reservoir. The test achieved a flow rate of 

7.3 million cubic feet per day of gas and 

950 barrels per day of a 47 degree API 

mixture of light oil and condensate.

Later in the fourth quarter of 2012, after 

completing the well, we conducted two 

additional cased-hole tests on the 

Oligocene reservoir. The first of these was 

carried out over an interval of 20 metres 

near the base of the Oligocene interval 

and achieved a maximum flow rate of 

3,450 barrels per day of light oil and 8.8 

million cubic feet per day of natural gas. 

The oil was high quality, 38 degree API. 

The second cased-hole test was 

conducted above the first and spanned a 

24-metre-thick interval. This test achieved 

a stabilized flow rate of 2,184 barrels per 

day of light, 42 degree API oil, together 

with 10.4 million cubic feet per day of 

natural gas. No evidence of water was 

encountered during the testing period.

Because the testing was conducted either 

across or below the gas-oil contact, we 

saw fairly high gas-oil ratios in these 

tests, due to a strong flow from the gas 

cap. We believe that the two cased-hole 

tests were pulling gas down through 

fractures or other high permeability 

zones within the reservoir. As such, the 

gas-oil ratios seen in these tests are 

anomalously high and over-estimate the 

actual gas-oil ratios to be expected from 

a test of the oil reservoir where it is 

isolated from the gas cap.

Based on the reservoir data obtained 

during the testing period and 

independent engineering assessments, 

we now predict that sustainable 

production rates of 7,000 to 11,000 

barrels of oil per day are possible from 

individual wells using horizontal drilling 

and completions technology to target the 

Oligocene reservoir. Horizontal wells 

would also minimize gas production from 

the overlying gas cap.

The results from the Oligocene reservoir 

are significant for two reasons. First, the 

hydrocarbon column is significantly larger 

than anticipated, at 448 metres, 

compared to the 327 metres observed in 

the previous Kurdamir-1 well. Second, the 

bottom of the known oil column is 

significantly deeper than the limit of the 

four-way closure of the Kurdamir 

structure as mapped by previous seismic 

data. This supports the interpretation that 

the Oligocene reservoir is involved in a 

considerably larger trap, sharing a

common oil accumulation with the 

neighbouring Topkhana Block, where 

Talisman has drilled another discovery, 

and our Garmian Block. 

Based upon the information obtained 

during the drilling and testing of 

Kurdamir-2, the contingent oil resources 

for the Oligocene reservoir in the 

Kurdamir Block alone increased to 390 

million barrels, while the prospective oil 

resources rose to 1.1 billion barrels.

Eocene Reservoir

For the middle Eocene reservoir, a single 

cased-hole test was performed over an 

interval of 108 metres that resulted in the 

flow of light, 45 degree API oil at 

sub-commercial flow rates. No water leg 

was encountered and no formation water 

was recovered during the test. 

Following an acid fracture stimulation, 

the well flowed back a mixture of oil, 

emulsion and spent acid. There were two 

reasons for the sub-commercial oil flow 

rates: the effective permeability of the 

Eocene reservoir is lower than the 

Oligocene reservoir; and the oil emulsion 

mixture had higher viscosity than that of 

pure oil. This was our first test of the 

Eocene reservoir, and we intend to carry 

out further studies designed to optimize 

completion techniques and unlock 

this resource. 

Based upon the information from this 

test, we have now recognized 155 million 

barrels of contingent oil resources and a 

further 107 million barrels of prospective 

oil resources in the Eocene reservoir.

Cretaceous Reservoir

In addition, we tested the deepest of the 

three reservoirs, the Cretaceous.  This 

program consisted of three cased-hole 

tests over a 221-metre interval that 

resulted in the flow of light, 39 to 40 

degree API oil at sub-commercial rates. 

(continued on page 16)
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Together our Kurdamir 
and Garmian blocks 
cover 2,120 square 
kilometres and are 
one of the largest 
exploration areas in  
the Kurdistan Region.
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2 KURDAMIR-2

Drilled in 2011 – 2012

Established thick oil column within the Oligocene reservoir
on the flanks of the Kurdamir structure 

Discovered oil in the Cretaceous and Eocene reservoirs

Evidence supports that the Kurdamir discovery is part
of a much larger structure

1 KURDAMIR-1

Drilled in 2009 - 2010. Discovered oil in the world-
class Oligocene reservoir

Discovered a large gas cap with high condensate yield and
numerous deeper oil and gas shows

A giant field with evidence for over 1,900 metres
of gross hydrocarbon interval

4 BARAM-1

Planned for Q3 2013

Will test a possible extension of the Kurdamir oil leg into the 
Garmian Block

Could prove up significant additional gross contingent oil 
resources on both the Garmian and Kurdamir blocks

3 KURDAMIR-3

Spudded in February 2013

Designed as appraisal well to evaluate the extent of the oil leg
in Oligocene reservoir

Sidetrack option to drill into the oil-only portion of the
reservoir should the gas cap be encountered

5 6 MIL QASIM-1

Drilled in 2011 – 2012

Encountered gross
hydrocarbon bearing
interval of 800 metres

Successfully tested oil from
four tests conducted in the
Upper Fars reservoir 

8 UPPER BAKHTIARI8
Planned for Q2 2013 

Will explore shallow Upper
Bakhtiari formation

Low-cost three-well 
program pending
availability of drilling rig

7 HASIRA-1

Planned for Q2 2013

Will appraise the oil leg in 
Jeribe reservoir

Also to explore deeper
Oligocene reservoir

SARQALA-1 
 
Drilled in 2008 – 2009. 
Re-entered in 2011

Flowed light, 40° API oil at
over 9,000 barrels per day

On extended well test 
with capability to produce 
5,000 barrels of oil per day
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The Kurdamir structure contains a 
giant oil discovery, the full extent 
of which is yet to be defined.
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The southern Garmian Block contains 
multiple prospects, two oil discoveries, 
and EWT production capacity.



(continued from page 9)  

Further evaluation, including 3D seismic 

appraisal, will be required to understand 

commercial reservoir characteristics in 

other parts of the structure. The sub-

commercial flow rates are primarly due  

to the low effective permeability of the 

Cretaceous reservoir.

Despite discovering oil, the results of the 

test did not provide us with sufficient 

confidence to assess contingent resources 

in the Cretaceous. The prospective oil 

resources for the Cretaceous reservoir in 

the Kurdamir Block are estimated at 107 

million barrels. 

For both the Eocene and Cretaceous test 

results, the key finding is the oil-bearing 

reservoir with no water. As well, we 

discovered oil in both reservoirs at depths 

beyond the known limit of closure of the 

Kurdamir structure. All of this evidence 

supports the hypothesis that the Kurdamir 

field is actually part of a much larger 

structure. 

kurdaMIr SeISMIc

We commenced a 3D seismic survey over 

the Kurdamir structure in January 2013. 

This survey will cover 184 square 

kilometres on the Kurdamir Block in order 

to more clearly define the extent of the 

Oligocene, Eocene and Cretaceous 

reservoirs. The data from this survey will 

be used to determine future appraisal 

well locations and refine our current 

resource assessments. We expect the 

survey to be completed in the third 

quarter of 2013.

garMIaN bLOck

The Garmian Block is a 1,780 square 

kilometre property in which we hold a 40 

percent working interest and act as the 

operator. Newly appointed joint venture 

partner, Gazprom Neft Middle East B.V.  

(Gazprom Neft), holds an additional 40 

percent interest, while the KRG holds the 

remaining 20 percent.

We have identified resources in over 10 

targets on the Garmian Block and are 

actively pursuing drilling and seismic 

programs. Our goal for exploration 

All evidence supports the hypothesis 
that the Kurdamir field is part of a  
much larger structure. 
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activities over the next two years will be 

to rank, prioritize and drill the highest 

ranked of these prospects prior to the 

end of the exploration period.

SarqaLa-1 exteNded WeLL teSt

In September 2011 we received approval 

from the KRG to commence an extended 

well test (EWT) at Sarqala-1. We achieved 

first oil flow on October 18, 2011, and by 

the end of 2011 had achieved a steady 

state EWT production rate of 

approximately 5,000 barrels of oil per 

day from the Jeribe reservoir. By June 

2012, after eight months on production, 

the Sarqala-1 well test had produced 

approximately one million barrels of light 

oil. The EWT production was trucked and 

sold into the domestic refinery market in 

the Kurdistan Region and we were paid 

by the buyers in advance.

We shut down the EWT at Sarqala-1 

in May 2012 to carry out a planned 

maintenance program on the well. This 

work was completed by July and KRG 

approval to recommence the EWT was 

received on November 8, 2012. At this 

time, the KRG stipulated that EWT 

production be transported for export 

through the federal Iraqi system. The 

KRG expected to receive the proceeds 

from petroleum sales from the Iraqi 

government before compensating 

independent contractors.

The EWT was halted on November 27, 

2012, when the KRG began reducing its 

export volumes to the Iraqi market due to 

a payment dispute with the Iraqi 

government regarding oil exports from 

the Kurdistan Region. Unfortunately, as 

fallout from this dispute, we have not 

received payment for our November EWT 

production and the well has remained 

shut-in since this time. Currently, there is 

no timeline for the resumption of the 

EWT or for the receipt of proceeds from 

oil that was exported in November.  

We are planning a workover of the 

Sarqala-1 well in the second half of 2013, 

pending approval from the KRG, in order 

to allow future EWT production capability 

to increase beyond 5,000 barrels per day 

to 10,000 barrels per day. In preparation, 

engineering work has been completed for 

permanent facilities, including gas 

conservation measures, with a production 

capability of 20,000 barrels per day. 

Work is continuing on opportunities to 

utilize the associated natural gas from 

any future crude oil production to 

minimize flaring.

At the present time, the Sarqala-1 well 

is estimated to have discovered 24 

million barrels of contingent oil resources 

and 296 million barrels of prospective 

oil resources.

MIL qaSIM-1 exPLOratION WeLL

Mil Qasim-1, our second exploration well 

drilled on the Garmian Block, was located 

approximately three kilometres away 

from Sarqala-1. The well reached a total 

depth of 2,425 metres in December 

2011 and was tested in the first quarter 

of 2012.

Mil Qasim-1 encountered a gross 

hydrocarbon bearing interval of 

approximately 800 metres. This interval 

contained numerous hydrocarbon 

bearing sandstones (each in the range of 

two to 13 metres thick) in two formations, 

the Lower Bakhtiari and Upper Fars. 

Hydrocarbon shows and wireline logs 

indicated the presence of oil in the Upper 

Fars formation, so this was the focus of 

the testing program.

Upper Fars Formation

Four tests were conducted in the Mil 

Qasim-1 well. The first was an open-hole 

test, while the other three were cased-

hole tests. The first test covered 39 

metres and flowed 44 degree API oil at 

an average rate of 108 barrels per day. 

The second test was conducted over a 

perforated interval of 49 metres, but 

flowed limited amounts of oil to surface. 

We believe that this test failed due to 

ineffective perforations.

The third test was conducted over a 

perforated interval of 167 metres, and 

flowed 44 degree API oil at an average 

rate of 488 barrels per day. Analysis of 

the results from this third test conducted 

by an independent third party 

engineering expert indicates that this 

interval has the potential to produce over 

1,000 barrels of oil per day if formation 

damage can be mitigated by stimulation 

or the use of alternative drilling 

techniques. A final test was conducted 

over an interval of 107 metres that flowed 

43 degree API oil at an estimated rate of 

250 barrels per day. 

No hydrogen sulphide and no formation 

water were identified during the testing 

program. We are currently investigating 

alternative drilling and completion 

techniques to unlock the potential of the 

numerous low permeability oil bearing 

sand reservoirs of the Upper Fars.

Upper Bakhtiari

In addition, the Mil Qasim-1 well 

encountered hydrocarbon shows in a 

high porosity conglomerate and 

sandstone interval of approximately 25 

metres thickness in the Upper Bakhtiari 

formation. This formation lies at a 

relatively shallow depth of approximately 

500 metres. 

We have been encouraged by the 

existence of numerous highly productive 

water wells drilled in the Upper Bakhtiari 

formation in the southern Garmian area 

that have typical flow rates of up to 

6,000 barrels per day on pump. These 

wells are indicative of the potential of 

high productivity in the Upper Bakhtiari 

formation. We are planning a lower cost 

drilling program to evaluate this shallow 

zone, with the anticipated spud for the 

first well in the second quarter of 2013.
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When both formations are combined, 

Mil Qasim-1 is estimated to contain 

contingent oil resources of 127 million 

barrels.

garMIaN SeISMIc

During the fourth quarter of 2012 we 

commenced a seismic survey targeting 

prospects in the southern portion of the 

Garmian Block.  We have already 

completed a 2D seismic survey over the 

Chwar prospect, which is located 22 

kilometres west-northwest of Sarqala-1, to 

elevate this low-risk, Jeribe reservoir 

opportunity to drill-ready status. In 

addition, we are currently carrying out a 

3D seismic survey over the Sarqala, 

Mil Qasim and adjacent Zardi Complex 

structures. We expect this survey to be 

completed in the second quarter of 2013.

Processing and interpretation of the 

seismic data has already begun and will 

be used to optimize the number and 

placement of future appraisal and 

development wells, to improve our 

understanding of fracturing within these 

structures, and to further evaluate the 

Bakhtiari, Upper Fars, Jeribe, Oligocene, 

Eocene and Cretaceous reservoirs on the 

southern portion of the Garmian Block. 

We also have plans in place to conduct a 

3D seismic program in the second half of 

2013 over the northern portion of the 

Garmian Block, targeting the Baram and 

Qulijan structures. The 3D data over 

these prospects will help determine 

whether they represent extensions of our 

existing Kurdamir discovery into the 

Garmian Block. 

2013 OutLOOk

In 2013, we plan to drill at least three 

high-impact exploration wells. The first 

of these wells, Kurdamir-3 has already 

been spud by Talisman in the Kurdamir 

Block. The remaining two wells, Hasira-1 

and Baram-1, are planned for the  

Garmian Block. 

In preparation for these wells, we 

awarded a contract in January 2013 for 

two, 2,000 horsepower drilling rigs with 

a leading North American drilling 

In 2013, we plan to drill at least three 
high-impact exploration wells. 
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contractor. The rigs have been contracted 

to drill the Hasira-1 well, the Baram-1 well 

and subsequent wells within our Garmian 

Block. The drilling services contract was 

awarded for a two year term with an 

option to extend services for an 

additional two years. We also have the 

option of retaining a third 2,000 horse-

power rig if required.

Kurdamir-3 Appraisal Well

In February 2013, we spudded the 

Kurdamir-3 well over the Kurdamir 

structure. While Kurdamir-1 and 

Kurdamir-2 were considered exploration 

wells, Kurdamir-3 is designed as an 

appraisal well being drilled to evaluate 

the extent of the oil leg in the Oligocene 

reservoir.  It is being drilled approximately 

five kilometres west of the Kurdamir-2 

discovery well. 

Kurdamir-3 is expected to take 

approximately four months to reach the 

planned total depth of 2,800 metres and 

the gross costs of drilling and testing 

operations are estimated to be 

approximately $50 million. Contingent 

projects may also include $9 million for a 

potential Kurdamir-3 sidetrack and, 

subject to KRG approval, $7 million 

related to an EWT at the Kurdamir-2 well. 

Having a contingency for a sidetrack at 

Kurdamir-3 gives us the option to drill 

into the oil leg further away from the gas 

cap if we determine that it would be 

helpful in evaluating the reservoir.  

Hasira-1 Exploration Well

The Hasira-1 well is planned to spud in the 

Garmian Block during the second quarter 

of 2013. This well will help to appraise the 

extent of the oil leg previously 

encountered in the Jeribe reservoir at 

Sarqala-1 and also to explore the deeper 

Oligocene reservoir. During the drilling of 

Sarqala-1 we discovered significant oil 

shows in the Oligocene reservoir, but 

were unable to evaluate them due to 

wellbore conditions. 

Hasira-1 is expected to take 

approximately seven months to drill to 

a planned total depth of 4,100 metres. 

The gross costs of drilling and testing 

operations are expected to be around 

$60 million.

Baram-1 Exploration Well

The Baram-1 well in the Garmian Block is 

planned for drilling in the third quarter of 

2013. If successful, this well would 

support our interpretation that the Baram 

structure is an extension of the oil leg in 

the Oligocene reservoir from the 

Kurdamir structure onto the Garmian 

Block. Baram-1 could also prove up 

significant additional gross contingent oil 

resources on both the Garmian and 

Kurdamir blocks.

We expect this well to take approximately 

five months to reach the planned total 

depth of 3,800 metres, with gross costs 

of drilling and testing operations 

estimated at $55 million. 

Choosing between the Baram and Qulijan 

prospects for our next northern Garmian 

well was not easy, because both are 

excellent prospects. If any results from 

the Kurdamir-3 well change our thinking 

about the prospectivity of Baram, we will 

work to reverse the order and drill Qulijan 

instead.  

Upper Bakhtiari Three  

Well Drilling Program

The goal of this program is to explore the 

potential of the shallow Upper Bakhtiari 

formation in the southern part of the 

Garmian Block through a low-cost, 

three-well drilling program. We plan to 

spud the first well in the second quarter 

of 2013, subject to the availability of a 

drilling rig in the Kurdistan Region.

INfraStructure

Our ongoing drilling success means that 

we now have the potential to add 

near-term production from EWTs. In light 

of this opportunity, we are often asked 

how we intend to transport any 

production to market, particularly in light 

of the recent difficulties experienced in 

keeping our Sarqala-1 EWT on-line. While 

disagreements continue between the 

KRG and the Iraq government, the KRG is 

taking a long-term approach with regard 

to investment in production and 

transportation infrastructure.

Estimates of proved oil reserves in the 

Kurdistan Region range from two billion 

barrels (Iraq Oil) to 45 billion barrels 

(KRG). A 2012 assessment by the U.S. 

Geological Survey estimated that the 

Zagros Fold Belt Province, which includes 

the Kurdistan Region, holds undiscovered 

resources of 38 billion barrels of oil and 

192 trillion cubic feet of gas. These results 

indicate that the Zagros Fold Belt 

represents approximately 6.5 percent 

of the world’s total undiscovered oil 

resources.

Seeing the tremendous resource 

potential, more than 50 oil companies 

have actively invested in the Kurdistan 

Region following the enactment of the 

Kurdistan Region Petroleum Law in 2007. 

This has driven considerable growth in 

exploration activity throughout the 

region.  Between January 2006 and 

December 2012, a total of 89 wells have 

been drilled on PSCs issued by the KRG, 

with 37 of them being exploration wells. 

Notably, 28 of the 37 exploration wells 

resulted in discoveries, implying a success 

ratio of 76 percent and indicating that 

activity is likely to increase.

Oil Pipelines

According to the International Energy 

Agency, the existing pipeline system in 

Iraq has over six million barrels per day of 

crude oil export capacity. However, much 

of the existing oil infrastructure remains 

in need of repair. If restored to its full 
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operating capabilities, the Iraq pipeline 

system is believed to have abundant 

transportation capacity. 

At the current time, the Kirkuk—Ceyhan 

export pipeline is the only potentially 

available sustainable oil transportation 

option for WesternZagros. This 

infrastructure is significantly under-

utilized, with 2012 exports of 0.4 million 

barrels per day versus the 1.6 million 

barrel per day stated capacity. The 

starting point for this pipeline is located 

within the Kurdistan Region at Khurmala 

(the north-west end of the Kirkuk Oilfield) 

which is 175 kilometres from our blocks 

and within trucking distance. From 

Khurmala, the pipeline travels southeast 

to the central Kirkuk facilities, then 

south-west to Baiji before moving 

north-west to Fish Khabur where it 

crosses the border into Turkey before 

ending on the Turkish Mediterranean 

coast at Ceyhan. 

In May 2012, the KRG announced joint 

cooperation plans with Turkey for the 

development of additional infrastructure 

to export oil and gas. This announcement 

was accompanied by a number of 

expansion plans, including a 400,000 

barrel-per-day oil pipeline from the Taq 

Taq oil field in the Kurdistan Region to 

Khurmala. Construction on this project 

has nearly been completed, but it is not 

yet carrying any production. This 

infrastructure represents a potential tie-in 

point if a separate pipeline is built to the 

south to cover the 100 kilometres to our 

exploration blocks. 

As well, the KRG and Turkey announced a 

new one million barrel-per-day pipeline 

from Khurmala to Fish Khabur on the 

Turkish border that would be constructed 

by 2014. This pipeline would be 

constructed entirely in the Kurdistan 

Region, which would avoid any service 

disruptions due to disputes between the 

KRG and Iraqi federal government.

There are also indications that the KRG is 

considering converting the pipeline that 

is currently under construction to convey 

gas from Khurmala to the Dohuk area 

into an oil pipeline which could be 

Our ongoing operational  
success has, in turn, attracted  
new, long-term financial partners. 
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extended to the Turkish border. This 

infrastructure would serve the near- 

term purpose of transporting oil, until 

additional oil pipeline construction 

is completed.

Gas Pipelines

The KRG has committed to gas 

development with an initial focus on 

domestic power generation and other 

industrial uses. This would be followed by 

the expansion of infrastructure to 

facilitate exports to Turkey. 

We are working with the KRG to 

determine how the associated gas 

resources from our blocks can help meet 

the needs of the Kurdistan Region. 

Options under consideration include the 

provision of gas to power generators, 

compression or conversion of gas for sale 

in the domestic market, and reinjection of 

the gas into the Kurdamir-1 well bore to 

enhance overall oil recovery from the 

Kurdamir structure.

Over the longer term, the KRG and 

Turkey are also said to be evaluating an 

extension of the existing Kor Mor gas 

pipeline. This pipeline presently starts at 

the Kor Mor gas field and feeds both the 

Chemchemal and Pirdawd power plants. 

The extension would feed a third power 

plant at Dohuk. Dohuk currently utilizes 

diesel to generate 500 megawatts of 

power, but could be converted to run off 

100 million cubic feet of natural gas per 

day. The Kor Mor pipeline is capable of 

transporting approximately 300 million 

cubic feet of gas per day. Within two to 

three years of this expansion, the KRG 

predicts this pipeline would be 

expanded to commence natural gas 

exports to Turkey.

NeW PartNerS

Our ongoing operational success has, in 

turn, attracted new, long-term financial 

partners. We are now fully funded for our 

planned exploration and appraisal 

activities in 2013.

We are continuing our financing push 

into 2013 and are actively pursuing a dual 

listing for our stock on the London Stock 

Exchange in the U.K. This will provide us 

with an additional market for future 

equity financings and will facilitate the 

trading of shares for existing 

shareholders.

Gazprom Neft

In August 2012 we announced that the 

KRG had assigned Gazprom Neft as a 40 

percent interest partner in the Garmian 

Block. Gazprom Neft is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Gazprom, one of the world’s 

largest oil and gas producers. Gazprom 

Neft brings extensive technical and 

operational expertise in crude oil 

production, refining and marketing. 

The significant third party interest that 

the KRG received in the Garmian Block 

and the participation of a major player 

like Gazprom Neft validates the potential 

of our assets and the growing 

international interest in the Kurdistan 

Region. Operatorship of the Garmian 

Block will remain with WesternZagros 

until the commencement of the 

development period, currently estimated 

at the end of 2014.

As a result of the appointment, we 

received $56.5 million from Gazprom Neft 

for back costs minus the deemed sales 

from the Sarqala-1 EWT. 

Crest 

We welcome the support of a new 

financial partner, Crest Energy 

International LLC (Crest) of Houston. 

Crest and its affiliates make investments 

in and operate projects in the oil and 

gas sector throughout the Middle East, 

including additional investments in 

the Kurdistan Region.

In August 2012, Crest purchased, through 

a non-brokered private placement, 

51,000,000 common shares of 

WesternZagros, which provided us with 

proceeds of approximately $64 million. 

As part of the arrangement, Eric Stoerr, 

an officer of Crest, was immediately 

appointed as a member of our Board 

of Directors. 

Our beneficial relationship with Crest was 

strengthened in March 2013 when we 

entered into a second non-brokered 

private placement for an additional 

40,714,286 common shares. This time 

we were able to raise proceeds of $57 

million. We also entered into a loan 

agreement with Crest for a further 

$59.2 million. As reciprocation for its 

investment, Crest obtained the right to 

appoint an additional nominee to our 

Board of Directors and has nominated 

John Howland to the position.

Crest currently holds approximately 19.8 

percent of WesternZagros as a result of 

these transactions. Both private 

placements were priced at a premium to 

the market price at the time. 

Richard Chandler Corporation

In December 2012 we received another 

independent vote of confidence when the 

Richard Chandler Corporation (RCC) 

acquired 62,670,000 common shares of 

our stock on the open market. RCC is an 

international business group that builds 

and operates businesses in energy, 

consumer, financials, healthcare and 

education, with operations in Asia, Africa, 

the Americas, Europe and the Middle 

East. Notably, RCC places a special 

emphasis on corporate governance as a 

crucial element for business sustainability 

and increasing stakeholder value.

In this case, the $73 million investment by 

RCC represents approximately 15.21 

percent of the common shares of 

WesternZagros. After the Crest 
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transaction in early 2013, RCC opted to 

participate in the subsequent public 

offering to maintain its proportionate 

ownership.

heaLth, Safety & SecurIty

Health, safety and security are of the 

utmost importance due to the nature of 

our operations in a post-conflict area. Our 

end goal is to protect the welfare of our 

employees, as well as the local people 

who may be impacted by our activities. 

To help fulfil this agenda, we have 

adopted western and international 

standards for all of our Kurdistan 

Region operations. 

To support our health initiatives we have 

established relationships with local health 

providers in the nearby city of 

Sulaymaniya. As well, we have an 

agreement in place with International 

SOS for emergency medical evacuation. 

International SOS provides access to a 

worldwide network of health providers.

The dedication to safety demonstrated 

by all of our employees and contractors 

has produced a world-class work safety 

culture. By the end of March 2013, we 

had set another notable milestone for 

safety. We reached three million man 

hours without a lost time incident (‘‘LTI’’) 

over an 877 day period. Previously, the 

milestone of four million man hours 

without an LTI was achieved in 2009. 

We have operated in the Kurdistan 

Region with an excellent safety record 

since 2005.

Security is an essential investment when 

operating in a post-conflict area, but we 

believe that the security risks have greatly 

decreased across Iraq over the last few 

years. In addition, the Kurdistan Region 

continues to be the safest operating 

environment within Iraq. Based on the 

general success achieved by the KRG and 

on a quarterly assessment carried out by 

our security advisors, we currently assess 

the threat level within our blocks as low.

StreNgtheNINg the teaM

In line with the Company’s growth,  

we cultivated and expanded our 

management team. Following several 

appointments and promotions in 2012 

and 2013, we now have the strongest 

and most complete executive team in 

our history. 

In particular, we were pleased to welcome 

Mr. William (Bill) Jack to the position of 

General Manager Kurdistan Region in 

December.  Bill will be a resident in 

Kurdistan Region and will be responsible 

for liaising with the KRG and will look 

after in-country administration. Bill 

replaces Ian McIntosh, who elected to 

retire, although Ian continues to assist 

WesternZagros as a consultant.

WesternZagros is fortunate to have a 

highly professional team of employees 

and contractors both in Calgary and in 

the Kurdistan Region. Having achieved a 

breakthrough year in 2012 including the 

discovery of a giant field, the team is 

highly motivated to take the Company 

to the next level in 2013 and beyond.

 

Calgary team, February 2013
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Kurdamir Contingent and Prospective Resources

Table 1(a)

Gross Unrisked 
Contingent 
Resources (1), (2)

Kurdamir Block 
Oil, Gas and 
Condensate

As of  
Feb 8, 2013

   Low  
Estimate6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
Estimate(8)

Mean 
Estimate(9)

Prospect Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type

P90 (1C)
MMbbl/Bcf

P50 (2C)
MMbbl/Bcf

P10 (3C)
MMbbl/Bcf

Mean 
MMbbl/Bcf

Kurdamir
Tertiary 

Oligocene
Oil 210 365 599 390

Solution Gas 205 380 650 410

Associated 

Gas(4)
855 1220 1685 1250

Condensate 30 49 71 50

MMbOe(14) 417 681 1059 717

Kurdamir Tertiary Eocene Oil 69 138 263 155

Solution Gas 115 245 480 280

Associated Gas 90 130 180 130

Condensate 2 3 5 3

MMbOe 105 204 378 226

kurdamir total Mean MMbbl Oil Only – gross unrisked contingent resources 545

kurdamir total Mean MMbOe - gross unrisked contingent resources 943

Table 1(b)

Gross Unrisked 

Prospective 

Resources  (1), (3)

Kurdamir Block 

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate

As of  

Feb 8, 2013

Low  
Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
 Estimate(8)

Mean 
Estimate(9)

Prospect Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type

P90 
MMbbl

P50 
MMbbl

P10 
MMbbl

Mean 
MMbbl

Kurdamir
Tertiary 

Oligocene
Oil 309 1018 1861 1076

Solution Gas 310 1050 2030 1125

  MMbOe(14) 361 1193 2199 1263

Kurdamir Tertiary Eocene Oil 31 91 202 107

Solution Gas 50 160 350 185

  MMbOe 39 118 260 138

Kurdamir Cretaceous Oil 38 108 243 130

Solution Gas 75 225 525 275

Associated Gas 65 140 260 155

Condensate 2 4 8 4

  MMbOe 63 173 382 206

kurdamir total Mean MMbbl Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 1313

kurdamir total Mean MMbOe – gross unrisked Prospective resources 1607

Sarqala Contingent and Prospective Resources

Table 2(a)

Gross Unrisked 

Contingent 

Resources  (1), (2)

Garmian Block  

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate

As of  

Sept 7 2011

Low  
Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
 Estimate(8)

Mean  
Estimate(9)

Prospect Reservoir
Hydrocarbon 

Type 
P90 

MMbbl
P50 

MMbbl
P10 

MMbbl
Mean 

MMbbl

Sarqala
Jeribe / Upper 

Dhiban
Oil 9 21 44 24

MMbOe(14) 12 27 56 31

Jeribe/upper dhiban total Mean Oil Only  - gross unrisked contingent resources 24

Jeribe/upper dhiban total Mean MMbOe – gross unrisked contingent resources 31
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We increased our total mean contingent 
resources by 277% in 2012.

Table 2(b)

Gross Unrisked 

Prospective 

Resources(1),  (3)

Garmian Block 

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate

As of  

Sept 7, 2011

   Low  
Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
Estimate(8)

Mean 
Estimate(9)

Prospect Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type 

P90 
MMbbl

P50 
MMbbl

P10 
MMbbl

Mean 
MMbbl

Sarqala

Structure 

Below Lowest 

Known Oil 

Jeribe/Upper 

Dhiban

Oil 17 49 125 63

MMbOe(14) 22 62 158 80

Sarqala

Potential 

Extension  

Southwest 

Flank Jeribe/

Upper Dhiban

Oil 14 87 304 135

MMbOe 17 110 384 170

Jeribe/upper dhiban total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 198

Jeribe/upper dhiban total Mean MMbOe – gross unrisked Prospective resources 250

Table 2(c)

Gross Unrisked 

Prospective 

Resources (1), (3)

Garmian Block 

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate

As of  

Sept 7, 2011(5) 

   
Low  

Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
Estimate(8)

Mean 
Estimate(9)

Prospect Reservoir
Hydrocarbon 

Type 

P90 
MMbbl

P50 
MMbbl

P10 
MMbbl

Mean 
MMbbl

Sarqala
Jeribe / Upper 

Dhiban
Oil 31 136 429 198

MMbOe(14) 39 172 542 250

Sarqala(13) Oligocene Oil 18 41 87 48

  MMbOe 21 54 117 63

Sarqala(13) Eocene Oil 4 27 109 44

  MMbOe 16 88 303 130

Sarqala(13) Cretaceous Oil 0.5 4 14 6

MMbOe 4 14 44 20

Jeribe/upper dhiban total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 296

Jeribe/upper dhiban total Mean MMbOe – gross unrisked Prospective  resources 463
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Garmian Prospective Resources

Table 3

Gross Unrisked 

Prospective 

Resources (1), (3)

Garmian Block 

Oil, Gas & 

Condensate

Baram 

Prospect as of 

Feb 8, 2013, Mil 

Qasim Prospect 

as of May 30, 

2012, and 

Qulijan 

Prospect 

as of  

Jan 31, 2011(5)

Low  
Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
 Estimate(8)

Mean  
Estimate(9)

Prospect/Play Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type 

P90 
MMbbl

P50 
MMbbl

P10 
MMbbl

Mean 
MMbbl

Mil Qasim Upper Fars Oil 7 63 265 106

  MMbOe(14) 8 71 303 121

Upper Bakhtiari Oil 4 16 43 21

MMbOe 4 16 44 22

Mil qasim  Sub total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 127

Mil qasim Sub total Mean MMbOe – gross unrisked Prospective resources 143

Baram(10), (12) Oligocene Oil 72 320 906 423

  MMbOe(14) 84 375 1065 496

Baram(10), (12) Eocene Oil 0.6 4 27 11

  MMbOe 3 14 77 31

baram Sub total Mean Oil Only  -  gross unrisked Prospective resources 434

baram Sub total Mean MMbOe  -  gross unrisked Prospective resources 527

Qulijan(10), (11) Oligocene Oil 7 45 157 66

  MMbOe(14) 21 100 307 137

Qulijan(10), (11) Eocene Oil 1 9 34 14

  MMbOe 3 20 72 32

Qulijan(10), (11) Cretaceous Oil 0.4 3 13 6

  MMbOe 2 9 32 15

qulijan Sub total Mean Oil Only -  gross unrisked Prospective resources 86

qulijan Sub total Mean MMbOe  -  gross unrisked Prospective resources 183

Table 4(a)

Gross Unrisked 

Prospective 

Resources (1), (3)

Garmian Block  

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate

Pickuk as of 

May 30, 2012, 

and Bawanoor, 

Zardi and 

Upper Fars 

Prospects 

as of July 19, 

2011

Pichuk Upper Bakhtiari Oil 1 5 14 7

MMbOe(14) 1 5 14 7

Pichuk total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 7

Pichuk total Mean MMbOe - gross unrisked Prospective resources 7

Upper Fars 

Fault Trap Play

Upper Fars Oil 60 425 1,730 705

  MMbOe 68 480 1,953 798

upper fars fault trap Play total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 705

upper fars fault trap Play total Mean MMbOe - gross unrisked Prospective resources 798

Upper Fars 

Bawanoor 

Saddle Play

Upper Fars Oil 16 80 275 120

  MMbOe 19 96 331 282

upper fars bawanoor Saddle Play total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 120

upper fars bawanoor Saddle Play total Mean MMbOe - gross unrisked Prospective resources 282

Zardi Jeribe Oil 12 34 86 43

MMbOe 15 42 108 54

Mio-Oligocene Oil 4 34 130 54

MMbOe 6 46 173 184

Eocene Oil 2 18 73 30

MMbOe 3 26 102 104

Zardi  total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 127

Zardi total Mean MMbOe - gross unrisked Prospective resources 342
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Table 4(b)

Gross Unrisked 

Prospective 

Resources (1), (3)

Garmian Block  

Oil, Gas and 

Condensate

Segrdan, 

Chwar, Alyan 

and Tilako 

Prospects  

as of  

July 19, 2011

   Low  
Estimate(6)

Best  
Estimate(7)

High 
 Estimate(8)

Mean  
Estimate(9) 

Prospect / Play Reservoir Hydrocarbon 
Type 

P90 
MMbbl

P50 
MMbbl

P10 
MMbbl

Mean 
MMbbl

Segrdan Jeribe Oil 7 19 54 27

MMbOe 9 24 69 34

Mio-Oligocene Oil 3 26 123 49

MMbOe 4 35 179 182

Eocene Oil 1 8 45 17

MMbOe 1 11 64 69

Segrdan total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 93

Segrdan total Mean MMbOe - gross unrisked Prospective resources 285 

Chwar Jeribe Oil 6 19 46 23

MMbOe 7 24 59 30

Mio-Oligocene Oil 0 0 2 1

MMbOe 0 0 3 2

Eocene Oil 0 1 3 1

MMbOe 0 1 4 4

chwar total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 25

chwar total Mean MMbOe - gross unrisked Prospective resources 36

Alyan Mio-Oligocene Oil 1 8 35 14

MMbOe 1 10 43 27

Eocene Oil 0 1 4 1

MMbOe 0 1 5 4

Shiranish Oil 0 1 3 1

MMbOe 0 1 4 4

alyan total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 17

alyan total Mean MMbOe - gross unrisked Prospective resources 34

Tilako Jeribe Oil 2 6 14 7

MMbOe 3 8 17 9

Mio-Oligocene Oil 0 2 9 4

MMbOe 1 3 12 9

Eocene Oil 0 1 4 2

  MMbOe 0 2 6 4

tilako total Mean Oil Only – gross unrisked Prospective resources 13

tilako total Mean MMbOe - gross unrisked Prospective resources 22
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 Total Contingent and Prospective Resources
Tables 1(a)  
and 2(a)

Gross Unrisked 
Contingent 
Resources(1), (2) 
Kurdamir and 
Garmian Blocks 
Oil, Gas and 
Condensate

Play / Prospect
Mean estimate(9) Oil Only  

MMbbl
Mean estimate(9) MMbOe(14)  

MMbbl

Kurdamir Block

Kurdamir 545 943

Garmian Block

Sarqala 24 31

total contingent Mean estimate 569 974

Tables 1(b),  
2(b), 2(c), 3 and 
4(a) and 4(b)

Gross Unrisked 
Prospective 
Resources(1), (3) 
Kurdamir and 
Garmian Blocks 
Oil, Gas and 
Condensate

Play / Prospect
Mean estimate(9) Oil Only  

MMbbl
Mean estimate(9) MMbOe(14)  

MMbbl

Kurdamir Block

Kurdamir 1,313 1,607

Garmian Block

Pichuk 7 7

Upper Fars Fault Trap Play 705 798

Upper Fars Bawanoor Saddle Play 120 282

Zardi Complex 

(Zardi, Sergdan, Tilako)
233 649

Chwar 25 36

Alyan 17 34

Mil Qasim  

(Upper Fars, Upper Bakhtiari)
127 143

Sarqala 296 463

Baram 434 527

Qulijan 86 183

Sub Total Kurdamir Block 1,313 1,607

Sub Total Garmian Block 2,050 3,122

total Prospective Mean estimate 3,363 4,729
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NOteS tO tabLeS:

(1) The resources presented are the gross volumes estimated for the indicated reservoirs without any adjustments for the 
WesternZagros’s working interest or encumbrances. For a description of the production sharing terms under the PSCs, 
see the Company’s Annual Information Form dated March 22, 2013 under the heading “PSC Overview and 
Commitments – Revenue”.

(2) Contingent Resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from 
known accumulations using established technology or technology under development, but which are not currently 
considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or more contingencies. Contingent resources have an associated 
chance of development (economic, regulatory, market and facility, corporate commitment or political risks). These 
estimates have not been risked for the chance of development. There is no certainty that the contingent resources will be 
developed and, if they are developed, there is no certainty as to the timing of such development or that it will be 
commercially viable to produce any portion of the contingent resources.

(3) Prospective resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from 
undiscovered accumulations by application of future development projects. Prospective resources have both an 
associated chance of discovery (geological chance of success) and a chance of development (economic, regulatory, 
market and facility, corporate commitment or political risks). The chance of commerciality is the product of these two risk 
components. These estimates have not been risked for the chance of discovery or for the chance of development. There 
is no certainty that any portion of the prospective resources will be discovered. If a discovery is made, there is no 
certainty that it will be developed or, if it is developed, there is no certainty as to the timing of such development or that 
it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the prospective resources. Prospective resources are 
undiscovered resources that indicate development potential in the event the discovery is commercial and should not be 
construed as reserves or contingent resources.

(4) The gross unrisked contingent resources for gas reflect reductions for condensate recovery, surface losses, and fuel gas.

(5) Other than for Table 1(a) and 1(b), the estimates for the Tertiary Eocene and Cretaceous reservoirs at Kurdamir which are 
as at February 8, 2013; for Table 2(c) the estimates for the Oligocene, Eocene and Cretaceous reservoirs at Sarqala which 
are as at September 7, 2011; for Table 3 the estimates for Mil Qasim which are as at May 30, 2012.

(6) Low Estimate is considered to be a conservative estimate of the quantity that will actually be recovered. It is likely that 
the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the low estimate. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be 
at least a 90 percent probability (P90) that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the low estimate.

(7) Best Estimate is considered to be the best estimate of the quantity that will actually be recovered. It is equally likely that 
the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater of less than the best estimate. If probabilistic methods are 
used, there should be at least a 50 percent probability (P50) that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed 
the best estimate.

(8) High Estimate is considered to be an optimistic estimate of the quantity that will actually be recovered. It is unlikely that 
the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the high estimate. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be 
at least a 10 percent probability (P10) that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the high estimate.

(9) Mean Estimate is the average from the probabilistic assessment.

(10) The prospective resource estimates for the Qulijan Oligocene, Eocene and Cretaceous, Baran Oligocene and Eocene, and 
Sarqala Oligocene, Eocene and Cretaceous prospects are based upon interpretation of WesternZagros’s recent vintage 
2D seismic database within the PSCs (1483 kilometres, 42 lines) and well data from WesternZagros’s Kurdamir-1 and 
Sarqala-1 wells (prior to the re-entry).

(11) The Qulijan Oligocene, Eocene and Cretaceous prospective resource assessment is based on eight 2D seismic lines and 
offsetting Kurdamir-1 well information.

(12) The Baram Oligocene and Eocene prospective resource assessment is based on nine 2D seismic lines and nearby 
Kurdamir-1 well information.

(13) The Sarqala Oligocene, Eocene and Cretaceous prospective resource assessment is based on seven 2D seismic and 
information from the Sarqala-1 well drilled in 2008-2009.

(14) Barrels of oil equivalent (BOEs) may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A BOE volume conversion ratio of 6 
Mcf: 1 bbl has been used and is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip 
and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. Given that the value ratio based on the current price of oil as 
compared to gas is significantly different from the energy equivalency of 6:1, this conversion ratio may be misleading as 
an indication of value.
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The Company’s Statement of Oil and Gas Information contained in its Annual Information Form dated March 22, 2013, filed on 
SEDAR at www.sedar.com contains additional detail with respect to the resource assessments and includes the significant risks 
and uncertainties associated with the estimates and the recovery and development of the resources.

Readers are cautioned that the resource estimates contained herein do not yet incorporate any information obtained or to be 
obtained from drilling, analysis of core data or testing which has been carried out subsequent to February 8, 2013, including in 
respect of Kurdimar-3, Harisa-1, Baram-1 or the Upper Bakhtiari three well drilling program. Such additional information may 
result in changes to the prior assessments and such changes may be material.
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We actively contribute 
to the region’s socio-
cultural and economic 
development, and assist 
in promoting sustainable 
development and 
improving quality of life.

Construction site in the 
center of Erbil, Kurdistan
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Kurdistan Development: New Erbil International Airport
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Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR)

As part of our overall CSR, our 
community investment programs are 
designed to support the efforts of local 
communities in the development and 
growth of the Garmian region of 
Kurdistan. As such, all of our initiatives 
are based on ongoing consultations 
with community members. We are also 
guided through our participation in the 
UN Global Compact and the ten 
principles in the areas of human rights, 
labour, the environment and 
anticorruption. 

We actively contribute to the region’s 
sociocultural and economic 
development, and assist in promoting 
sustainable development and improving 
quality of life. Beyond this, we aspire to 
be an industry leader in CSR and have 
set high standards for our behaviour. 
Knowing that we cannot tackle all of 
the goals ourselves, we have engaged 
key stakeholders by working with 
non-governmental organizations 
(NGOs) and Kurdistan Region 
institutions. 

We continue to build on the trusted 
partnerships we have established with 
the people of the Kurdistan Region and 
actively look to expand our role. Our 
action strategy continues to focus on 
six key priorities, namely, local 
employment, water supply, education, 
health care, agriculture and recreation. 

LocaL EmpLoymEnt

We place strong emphasis on the 
incremental capacity development and 
skills training of local personnel. We 
currently employ over 200 full and 
part-time permanent local employees 
and service contractors to support our 
corporate offices in the Kurdistan 
Region, and at our camp and facilities 
on the Garmian Block. With the 
commencement of seismic survey 
activity during the fourth quarter of 
2012, we have engaged an additional 
190 local employees.

We endeavour to utilize local vendor 
services whenever possible, including 
infrastructure and consumables 
purchases, construction services, local 
vehicle and equipment rentals, and 
local support services and contractor 
staffing.

WatEr SuppLy

Many of the villages in the Garmian 
region rely on machine-dug ground 
water wells as their source of drinking 
and potable water. While the quality of 
the water can be remarkably good, with 
strong flow rates, the extreme heat of 
summer months tends to deplete the 
water supply. There are also several 
communities in the area that do not 
have water wells for village use.

To help provide clean water, we have 
partnered with Mercy Corp, a U.S.–based 
international NGO, on a water supply 
and treatment project in the villages  
of Tula Qat and Nawza Gawre. To 
supplement this effort, we are 
supporting ongoing sanitation 

education and cleanup projects to 
protect water sources in a number  
of Garmian villages.

Education

There are approximately 1,300 primary 
school-aged children within Garmian 
region. Although 70 percent of villages 
in the area do have a primary school 
(for children between ages six and 12), 
students must travel to other centres 
for further education. This has resulted 
in a relatively high adult illiteracy rate in 
the area of approximately 30 percent. 

Where education facilities are available, 
the school buildings are often in poor 
shape, with inadequate roofing, 
plumbing, electricity, lighting, windows 
and heating. This is compounded by a 
lack of school supplies such as basic 
teaching materials, textbooks, writing 
utensils, whiteboards, etc.

Our contribution to education in the 
area has been the restoration or 
renovation of the Hasira, Said Jazhni 
and Kawa Charmu primary schools. We 
are also tackling the lack of teaching 
materials by supporting the distribution 
of school supplies. To date, school 
supplies have been distributed to more 
than 3,000 children. Finally, we are 
sponsoring a mobile literacy bus 
program that travels throughout the Mil 
Qasim and Hasira areas. 

Beyond basic education needs, we are 
supporting a variety of initiatives that 
provide new opportunities to children in 
the Kurdistan Region. We are assisting 
various Garmian villages in providing 
sports, arts and social programs to 

We employ approximately 400 full and 
part-time local employees and service 
contractors in the Kurdistan Region.
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primary school children. In the major 
centre of Sulaymaniyah, we’ve helped 
the Asuda school set up a library for 
gifted students and the Timalek school 
set up its first computer laboratory. One 
of our newer projects has established a 
women’s journalism course in Kalar, 
where over 20 young women graduates 
were selected to participate in print and 
television media training.

heaLth care

The villages in the Garmian region 
generally do not have access to 
medical services, with only four out of 
25 villages having some type of clinic 
facility. In cases where villages do have 
services, they are typically old and of 
insufficient quality to serve the local 
population. Individuals seeking medical 
attention are often required to 
travel great distances to larger 
population centres.

To provide both immediate and longer 
term treatment options, we have 
refurbished clinics in Aziz Qadr and 
Omer Mil. We’ve also built a new health 
clinic in Hasira village, providing the 
first medical facility for the local area. 

To support these local clinics we have 
an ongoing program for donating 
medical equipment and supplies. In 
addition, we’re supporting a bus that 
will provide regular dedicated 
transportation for children suffering 
from the potentially fatal disease of 
Thalessemia from the Garmian region 
to medical facilities in Sulaymaniyah.

recreatION

One aspect of our community 
investment programs that we’ve found 
to be of particular interest to the 
residents of the Garmian region is the 
development of youth recreational and 
capability development activities. To 
support this initiative, we’ve refurbished 
meeting halls in Hasira and Aula Qut 
villages, and constructed a new 
meeting hall in Mil Qasim village. We’ve 
also sponsored and participated in a 
number of Kurdish events and 

initiatives, such as the the Kurdistan 
Region Careers Conference, the Kurdish 
Genocide Awareness Campaign and 
the Kurdish Youth Festival.

Children are often a key focus of our 
initiatives because access to recreation 
facilities or equipment has been 
extremely limited in the past. We are 
active in organizing music and games 
parties in Sarqala town. As well, we 
regularly donate sports equipment and 
uniforms to the Garmian Sports 
Directorate and youth teams across the 
Garmian region. This includes the 
distribution of soccer balls and the 
construction of a playing field in 
Hasira village.

Other initiatives have been focused on 
sports, arts and social programs in 
several Garmian villages and a women’s 
sewing course in Aula Qut village.

agrIcuLture

The primary sources of income in the 
Garmian region prior to our arrival were 
agriculture and livestock. The 
agricultural sector is heavily dominated 
by wheat crops that are dependent on 
rainfall due to a lack of modern 
irrigation. Poor conditions in the region 
have been exacerbated by frequent 
and severe droughts over the past 
few years.

Agriculture is a newer area of focus 
for WesternZagros’s community 
investment program, as we aim to 
support traditional socio-economic 
opportunities of the area. We have 
already begun implementing a 
household greenhouse project with 
STEP, an international NGO. This 
program consists of recycling used 
plastic water bottles from our 
operations into small greenhouses. 
These will be placed in village 
households to support self-sustainable 
agriculture for rural families. This 
program achieves community 
benefit, while also reducing our 
operational waste.

eNvIrONMeNt

We are committed to meeting or 
exceeding local regulations and to 
acting responsibly. We strive to follow 
relevant Canadian and international oil 
and gas regulations and environmental 
practices where none have yet been 
developed locally. 

One of our key objectives is to ensure 
that our operations minimize impact 
to the environment. To measure our 
performance we have carried out a 
full-scale Environmental Baseline 
Study for our areas of operation and 
have developed comprehensive 
environmental mitigation plans to 
address any impacts associated with 
operations. We continue to ensure full 
implementation of our Health, Safety 
and Environment Management systems 
with all applicable control measures 
required to ensure a safe and 
environmentally sound operation. We 
routinely perform emergency and spill 
response exercises and train our 
personnel for all contingencies 
involving potential environmental 
impacts from spills or industrial 
accidents. We also continue to explore 
opportunities for waste management 
improvement following the principles 
of reduce, re-use and recycle.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) reviews the financial condition, activities and results of 
operations of WesternZagros Resources Ltd. (“WesternZagros” or the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2012.  
This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements (the “Annual 
Financial Statements”) prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the related notes for  the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Additional information relating to the Company, including its quarterly MD&A for the year is available on SEDAR at  
www.sedar.com.

This MD&A is dated March 22, 2013.

Forward-Looking inFormation 

This discussion offers management’s analysis of the financial and operating results of WesternZagros and contains certain 
forward-looking statements relating to, but not limited to, operational information, future drilling plans and testing programs 
and the timing associated therewith, future production and sales, estimated commitments under the Company’s Production 
Sharing Contract for the Kurdamir area (“Kurdamir PSC”) and Production Sharing Contract for the Garmian area (“Garmian PSC”), 
anticipated capital and operating budgets, anticipated working capital and estimated costs. Forward-looking information 
typically contains statements with words such as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “expect”, “potential”, “could”, or similar words suggesting 
future outcomes. The Company cautions readers and prospective investors in the Company’s securities to not place undue 
reliance on forward-looking information as, by its nature, it is based on current expectations regarding future events that 
involve a number of assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those anticipated by WesternZagros. Readers are also cautioned that disclosed test rates and results are not necessarily 
indicative of long-term performance or of ultimate recovery.

Forward looking information is not based on historical facts but rather on management’s current expectations as well as 
assumptions made by, and information currently available to management, concerning, among other things, outcomes of 
future well operations, plans for and results of extended well tests and drilling activity, future capital and other expenditures 
(including the amount, nature and sources of funding thereof), future economic conditions, future currency and exchange 
rates, continued political stability, timely receipt of any necessary government or regulatory approvals, the successful 
resolution of disputes, the Company’s continued ability to employ qualified staff and to obtain equipment in a timely and 
cost efficient manner, the participation of the Company’s co-venturers in exploration activities, and the ability to sell test 
production and the prices to be received in connection therewith. In addition, budgets are based upon WesternZagros’s 
current exploration and appraisal plans and anticipated costs, both of which are subject to change based on, among other 
things, the actual outcomes of well operations and the results of drilling and testing activity, unexpected delays, availability 
of future financing and changes in market conditions. Although the Company believes the expectations and assumptions 
reflected in such forward-looking information are reasonable, they may prove to be incorrect. Forward-looking information 
involves significant known and unknown risks and uncertainties. A number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those anticipated by WesternZagros including, but not limited to, risks associated with the oil and gas industry (e.g. 
operational risks in exploration and production; inherent uncertainties in interpreting geological data; changes in plans with 
respect to exploration or capital expenditures; interruptions in operations together with any associated insurance proceedings; 
the uncertainty of estimates and projections in relation to costs and expenses and health, safety and environmental risks), 
the risk of commodity price and foreign exchange rate fluctuations, the uncertainty associated with any dispute resolution 
proceedings, the uncertainty associated with negotiating with foreign governments and risk associated with international 
activity, including the lack of federal petroleum legislation in Iraq in particular. 

In addition, statements relating to “resources” contained herein are deemed to be forward-looking statements, as they involve 
the implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions that the resources described can be economically 
produced in the future. Terms related to resource classifications referred to herein are based on the definitions and guidelines in 
the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook which are as follows. “Prospective resources” are those quantities of petroleum 
estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from undiscovered accumulations by application of future development 
projects. Prospective resources have both an associated chance of discovery (geological chance of success) and a chance 
of development (economic, regulatory, market, facility, corporate commitment or political risks). The chance of commerciality 
is the product of these two risk components. The estimates referred to herein have not been risked for either the chance of 
discovery or the chance of development. There is no certainty that any portion of the prospective resources will be discovered.  
If a discovery is made, there is no certainty that it will be developed or, if it is developed, there is no certainty as to the timing 
of such development or that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the prospective resources. “Contingent 
resources” are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations 
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using established technology or technology under development, but which are not currently considered to be commercially 
recoverable due to one or more contingencies. Contingent resources have an associated chance of development (economic, 
regulatory, market and facility, corporate commitment or political risks). The estimates referred to herein have not been risked 
for the chance of development. There is no certainty that the contingent resources will be developed and, if developed, there is 
no certainty as to the timing of such development or that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the contingent 
resources. All resource estimates presented are gross volumes for the indicated reservoirs, without any adjustment for the 
Company’s working interest or encumbrances. A barrel of oil equivalent (BOE) is determined by converting a volume of natural 
gas to barrels using the ratio of 6 million cubic feet (Mcf) to one barrel. BOEs may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. 
A BOE conversion ratio of 6 Mcf:1 BOE is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the 
burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. Given that the value ratio based on the current price 
of oil as compared to natural gas is significantly different from the energy equivalency of 6:1, utilizing a conversion on a 6:1 
basis may be misleading as an indication of value. The Company’s Statement of Oil and Gas Information contained in its 
Annual Information Form dated March 22, 2013 (“AIF”) filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com contains additional detail with 
respect to the resource assessments and includes the significant risks and uncertainties associated with the estimates and 
the recovery and development of the resources, and, in respect of contingent resources, the specific contingencies which 
prevent the classification of the resources as reserves. In addition, combined mean estimates of resources which are presented 
in this MD&A are an arithmetic sum of the mean estimates for individual reservoirs and each such individual mean estimate 
is the average from the probabilistic assessment that was completed for the reservoir. Readers should refer to the AIF for a 
detailed breakdown of the high (P10), low (P90) and best (P50) estimates for each of the individual reservoir assessments.

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. The forward-looking statements contained 
in this MD&A are made as of the date of this MD&A and, except as required by law, WesternZagros does not undertake any 
obligation to update publicly or to revise any of the included forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise. The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified by this cautionary 
statement. See the Risk Factors section of the Company’s AIF for a further description of these risks and uncertainties facing 
WesternZagros. Additional information relating to WesternZagros is also available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, including 
the Company’s AIF.

oVErViEw

WesternZagros is a publicly-traded, Calgary-based, international oil and gas company focused on acquiring properties and 
exploring for, appraising and producing crude oil and natural gas in Iraq. WesternZagros holds two Production Sharing Contracts 
(“PSCs”) with the Kurdistan Regional Government (“KRG”) in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq (“Kurdistan Region”) that are 
both on trend with, and adjacent to, a number of prolific historic oil and gas discoveries. The Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs 
each govern separate contract areas (collectively referred to as the “PSC Lands”). The Garmian contract area (1,780 square 
kilometres) is operated by WesternZagros. The Kurdamir contract area (340 square kilometres) is operated by Talisman 
(Block K44) B.V. (“Talisman”) with a 40 percent working interest. WesternZagros holds a 40 percent working interest in 
both PSCs. The KRG holds a 20 percent working interest in both PSCs. The remaining 40 percent third party participant 
interest (“TPPI”) in the Garmian PSC is held by Gazprom Neft Middle East B.V. (“Gazprom Neft”).

WesternZagros is currently exploring for and appraising discoveries of crude oil and natural gas in the Kurdistan Region and 
the Company currently has no reserves. The Company is focused on its exploration and appraisal programs to further delineate 
the approximately 569 million barrels (“MMbbl”) of Gross Mean Contingent Oil Resources that the Company has already 
discovered and 3.4 billion barrels (“Bbbl”) of Gross Mean Prospective Oil Resources. WesternZagros’s reported revenue is 
comprised entirely of interest earned on cash and cash equivalent balances and short-term investments. During the exploration 
phase, the Company credits proceeds received from the sale of any hydrocarbons during extended well testing against 
exploration and evaluation expenditures on the Statement of Financial Position. 

Basis oF PrEsEntation

Reporting and Functional Currency
The Company has prepared its December 31, 2012, audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, as 
issued by the IASB, and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that were published at the 
time of preparation and that were effective or available for early adoption on December 31, 2012. Comparative information 
for 2011, including that utilized in this MD&A, has been prepared in accordance with the Company’s IFRS accounting policies, 
which have been consistently applied to all periods presented.

The reporting and functional currency of the Company is the United States (“U.S.”) dollar. All references herein to US$ or to 
$ are to United States dollars.
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Strategy
WesternZagros continues to move forward on its growth strategy for exploration and development of its PSC Lands in the 
Kurdistan Region. The objective of the Company is to be recognised, through consistently superior business performance and 
operational excellence, as one of the leading junior oil and gas companies active in Iraq. It is committed to operating in Kurdistan 
in a safe and secure manner. In executing its strategy, WesternZagros has made it a priority to recruit and retain local personnel 
and to actively participate in, and contribute to, community development projects. WesternZagros believes that it has developed 
a relationship with government authorities, local communities and the business community in the Kurdistan Region that has 
enabled access to opportunities and the cooperation needed to successfully execute its operational activities. WesternZagros’s 
priority in the near term is to concentrate on exploration and appraisal activities on both the Garmian and Kurdamir Blocks to 
capture the maximum number of prospects during the allowable Exploration Period applicable to each Block.

HigHLigHts

WesternZagros’s highlights and activities to March 22, 2013 include the following.

Health, Safety, Environment and Security (HSE&S)
•	 The	dedication	to	safety	demonstrated	by	all	of	the	Company’s	employees	and	contractors	has	produced	a	world	class	

safety culture.

•	 WesternZagros	has	operated	in	Kurdistan	with	an	excellent	safety	and	security	record	since	2004.	On	October	27,	2012,	
WesternZagros’s operations celebrated having worked two full years without a recordable injury incident. As at March 20, 
2013, over 3.0 million hours of work have been performed safely and WesternZagros has achieved a total of 877 days 
without any Lost Time Incidents (“LTIs”).

•	 As	WesternZagros	conducts	its	operations	in	the	Kurdistan	Region,	health,	safety,	environment,	and	security	are	of	utmost	
importance. WesternZagros has adopted western and international health, safety and environment standards for its 
Kurdistan operations.

•	 WesternZagros	integrates	HSE&S	in	all	aspects	of	its	business	and	operations.	The	Company	continually	strives	to	
improve HSE&S performance in all of its activities.

•	 Security	risks	exist	in	Iraq	although	they	have	greatly	reduced	over	the	last	few	years.	In	WesternZagros’s	experience,	the	
Kurdistan Region maintains the safest operating environment in Iraq. Within the Region, insurgent activities have been 
limited in numbers and generally directed towards the offices and personnel of the KRG. The rigorous security environment 
in the Kurdistan Region is a direct result of the influence of the KRG through the Kurdistan Army, the Peshmerga, and the 
Kurdistan Intelligence organization, the Asayish. Through the deployment of the Peshmerga and the Asayish, the KRG has 
been largely effective in controlling its borders and maintaining security in the Region. Based on the general success achieved 
by the KRG and on advice from the Company’s security advisors, WesternZagros assesses the threat level within the PSC 
Lands as low.  

Corporate Social Responsibility
•	 Corporate	Social	Responsibility	(“CSR”)	is	part	of	the	essence	of	what	WesternZagros	stands	for	–	it	is	ingrained	in	our	culture	

and sustained through our values and local operating model. In short, it is the way we conduct business in all our jurisdictions. 
Community investment is an important part of our CSR. As demonstrated through our commitments and actions, the Company 
takes seriously our obligation to best serve our stakeholders and to improve the social, economic and environmental well-being 
of the communities in which we live and work. The Company is committed to developing long-term relationships with 
those affected by our business including employees, contractors, community residents, shareholders and governments. 
The Company continues to focus on six key community investment initiatives in the PSC Lands, namely, local employment, 
water supply, education, health care, agriculture and recreation. During 2012 CSR activities included construction and 
refurbishment of schools, health clinics, meeting halls, sports fields, and irrigation and road work initiatives.

•	 WesternZagros	continues	to	place	a	strong	emphasis	on	the	incremental	capacity	development	and	skills	training	of	local	
personnel. WesternZagros employs 203 full and part time permanent local national employees and service contractors to 
support its operations in the corporate offices in Kurdistan and at its camp and Sarqala EWT production facilities on the 
Garmian Block. With the commencement of seismic surveying during the fourth quarter of 2012 a further 190 local 
national employees have been employed by the Corporation and the seismic contractor.

•	 WesternZagros	endeavours	to	utilize	local	vendor	services	including	infrastructure	and	consumables	purchases,	construction,	
local vehicle and equipment rentals, local support services and contractor staffing, having spent in excess of $3 million on 
these services in 2012.

•	 WesternZagros	remains	committed	to	these	efforts	in	2013	and	appreciates	the	continued	support	and	assistance	of	both	
the KRG and its co-venturers.
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oPErations 

WesternZagros’s assets comprise two highly prospective blocks, the Kurdamir and Garmian Blocks, which are on trend with 
the super-giant Kirkuk oil field and adjacent to a number of prolific oil and gas discoveries.

Kurdamir Block
Kurdamir-2 Well
Kurdamir-2, the second exploration well on the Kurdamir Block, was spudded in October 2011 and completed in December 
2012. The well is located approximately two kilometres northeast of the Kurdamir-1 discovery well and targeted the Oligocene, 
Eocene and Cretaceous reservoirs on the flank of the structure where the combined potential oil interval was anticipated to 
be at maximum thickness.

Kurdamir-2 confirmed the presence of an oil column in both the Oligocene and Eocene reservoirs and extended the previous 
lowest known oil depth to a level deeper than the limit of the simple four way closure This proved the existence of a significantly 
larger trap than initially interpreted. As no oil-water contact was encountered in Kurdamir-2, the maximum thickness of the 
oil column is not yet known.

Oligocene Reservoir
During the first quarter of 2012, the Kurdamir-2 well reached the intermediate casing depth of 2,812 metres after drilling through 
the Oligocene interval. Wireline logs indicated a porous zone of 140 metres thickness within the Oligocene interval, between 
2,422 and 2,562 metres, all of which was hydrocarbon bearing. Within this hydrocarbon zone, initial well log data indicated 22 
metres of gross natural gas pay above 118 metres of gross oil pay. The first drill-stem test (“DST 1”), an open hole test conducted 
across the gas-oil contact, achieved a flow rate of 7.3 million cubic feet per day of gas and a stabilized flow rate of 950 barrels 
per day of 47 degree API mixture of light oil and condensate over the final seven hours of the main flow period. No evidence 
of water was encountered within the Oligocene interval. These initial results from the Kurdamir-2 well were significant for two 
reasons. The first is that the 327 metres of Oligocene hydrocarbon column that was proven in the Kurdamir-1 well was increased 
significantly to at least 420 metres (i.e. from the top of the Oligocene reservoir in the Kurdamir-1 well at 2,142 metres to the 
base of the gross oil pay in the Kurdamir-2 well at 2,562 metres). The second is that the bottom of the known oil column was 
extended down to at least 2,562 metres, which is significantly deeper than the limit of the four-way closure of the Kurdamir 
structure previously mapped by the Company from seismic data. This finding, in turn, supports the interpretation that the 
Oligocene reservoir is involved in a considerably larger trap and that Kurdamir and the Topkhana structure located on the 
neighbouring block share a common oil leg. WesternZagros does not have an interest in this neighbouring block.

During the fourth quarter of 2012 after drilling to total depth in the Cretaceous reservoir, the Company also completed two 
successful cased hole tests in two deeper sections of the Oligocene reservoir. The deeper of these two additional tests further 
increased the proven lowest known oil in the Kurdamir-2 well to at least 2,590 metres, an additional 28 metres beyond the 
lowest known oil from the well log data. The test results also validate that the prospective resources contained in the Oligocene 
reservoir extend still further down the flank of the structure. The additional extent of the Oligocene oil column will be further 
evaluated in the Kurdamir-3 appraisal well (spudded on February 22, 2013).

The table below summarizes the flow rates from all three intervals tested within the resulting 168 metres gross hydrocarbon 
column (22 metres of gas and 146 metres of oil) encountered in the Oligocene reservoir:

oligocene 
reservoir tests

tested interval 
(metres)

stabilized oil 
rate (bbl/d)

gas rate 
(mmcf/d)

oil aPi
apparent 
gas-oil ratio 
(scf/bbl)

DST #1 2,422-2,477 950 7.3 38-42° 7,684

DST #7 2,528-2,552 2,184 10.4 42° 4,762

DST #6 2,570-2,590 3,450 8.8 38° 2,550

The gas rates relative to oil rates for all three test intervals were higher than expected due to the following reasons:

•	 DST	1	was	an	open	hole	test	conducted	in	March,	2012,	across	the	gas-oil	contact	and,	consequently,	the	test	was	dominated	
by gas flowing from the gas cap.

•	 DST	6	and	7,	conducted	in	November	and	December,	2012,	respectively,	were	cased	hole	tests	that	have	anomalously	high	
gas rates which the Company interprets is due to gas being pulled down fractures or other high permeability zones within 
the reservoir that are connected to the gas cap or through channels in the cement behind casing.
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Based on reservoir data obtained from the Kurdamir testing program and independent engineering assessments, the Company 
predicts that sustainable production rates of 7,000 to 11,000 barrels of oil per day are possible for individual wells in the 
Oligocene reservoir utilizing horizontal drilling and completions technology. These sustainable production rates would follow 
higher initial flow rates. Horizontal wells will also minimize gas production from the oil leg where it underlies the gas cap.

The intervals tested in the Oligocene reservoir exhibited good permeability and, with optimally designed well completions 
to isolate the gas cap, are expected to yield oil production rates in excess of the rates shown in the table above. Based upon 
the information obtained on the Oligocene reservoir during the drilling and testing of Kurdamir-2, the combined mean estimate 
of gross contingent resources (oil only) has increased from 147 MMbbl to 390 MMbbl and the combined mean estimate of 
gross prospective resources (oil only) has correspondingly decreased from 1.2 billion barrels (“Bbbl”) to 1.1 Bbbl for the Oligocene 
reservoir in the Kurdamir Block.

The Kurdamir-2 well was completed in order to be ready for further additional testing of the Oligocene reservoir, subject to 
KRG approval.

Eocene Reservoir
During the drilling of the Eocene reservoir section at the Kurdamir-2 well, an oil bearing, fractured reservoir section with 
gross thickness of 275 metres was encountered similar to the Eocene reservoir section encountered in the Kurdamir-1 well. 
During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company successfully completed its testing program and proved an oil discovery in 
the Eocene reservoir. A single cased hole test was performed over a net perforated interval of 108 metres, which flowed 
light, 45 degree API oil at sub-commercial flow rates. No formation water was recovered during the test. Following an acid 
fracture stimulation, the well flowed back a mixture of oil, emulsion and spent acid. This finding provides additional evidence 
that the Kurdamir and neighbouring Topkhana structure are likely to share a common oil accumulation in the Eocene reservoir. 
This was the first test of the Eocene reservoir. The Company, with Talisman, will conduct seismic surveys to better delineate 
the reservoir potential and will further study how to optimize completion techniques for this resource. The information from 
this test allowed the Company to recognize 155 MMbbl of Gross Mean Contingent Oil Resources and 107 MMbbl of Gross Mean 
Prospective Oil Resources in the Eocene reservoir.

Cretaceous Reservoir
On June 29, 2012, the Kurdamir-2 well reached a final total depth of approximately 4,000 metres within the Cretaceous-age 
Shiranish reservoir. The Shiranish reservoir, as penetrated, is comprised of 510 metres of naturally-fractured marlstones and 
limestones. Testing through casing was completed in three intervals in the Shiranish. The testing confirmed an oil discovery 
in the low permeability fractured limestones although the reservoir exhibited non-commercial flow rates in this location. The 
three cased hole tests were conducted over a 221 metre gross interval and resulted in the flow of light, 39 to 40 degree API 
oil at sub-commercial rates. Despite discovering oil, the results of the test did not give the Company sufficient confidence to 
assess contingent resources for this reservoir. The Company is encouraged that the Shiranish testing program recovered oil 
from a depth that is significantly deeper than the limit of closure of the Kurdamir structure at the Cretaceous level as mapped 
from seismic data. This finding supports the observation that the Shiranish reservoir, in a similar fashion as the Oligocene 
reservoir and the Eocene reservoir, is also involved in a considerably larger trap and that Kurdamir and the neighbouring Topkhana 
structure share a common oil accumulation in the Shiranish reservoir. Further evaluation, including additional analyses of the 
test results, followed by the extensive 3D seismic appraisal program currently underway, will be required to better understand 
if the Shiranish is likely to have commercial reservoir characteristics. The revised Gross Mean Prospective Oil Resources for 
the Cretaceous reservoir are 130 MMbbl on the Kurdamir Block.

Kurdamir-3 Well
Drilling operations began at the Kurdamir-3 appraisal well on the giant oil discovery in the Oligocene reservoir of the Kurdamir 
structure (“Kurdamir Discovery”) on February 22, 2013. Drilling is ongoing with the well currently at 1,926 metres. The well is 
designed to appraise the Oligocene reservoir and is expected to take approximately four months to reach the planned total 
depth of 2,800 metres. The Kurdamir-3 well is being drilled on the southwest flank of the Kurdamir structure approximately 
three kilometres and five kilometres from the Company’s Kurdamir-1 and Kurdamir-2 wells, respectively. Kurdamir-3 will further 
appraise the additional areal and vertical extent of the oil leg in the Oligocene interval previously encountered in the Kurdamir-1 
and 2 wells.

Kurdamir 3D Seismic Survey
The Kurdamir 3D seismic survey started in January, 2013. The Company expects the data acquisition phase to be completed 
early in the third quarter of 2013. This survey encompasses 184 square kilometres on the Kurdamir Block and also extends 
into the neighbouring Topkhana Block in order to define more clearly the areal extent of the Oligocene, Eocene and Cretaceous 
reservoirs. The data from this survey will be used to decide on future appraisal and development well locations and to refine 
resource assessments.
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Garmian Block
Sarqala-1 Extended Well Test (“EWT”)
The Sarqala-1 EWT is currently halted at the request of the KRG. However, the Company continues engineering work to prepare 
for a planned workover to test the ultimate potential deliverability of the Jeribe reservoir in the Sarqala structure. It is anticipated 
that the Sarqala-1 well production capacity could increase from 5,000 bbl/d to 10,000 bbl/d once the workover is completed.

Sarqala and Mil Qasim Seismic Acquisition Survey
A 3D seismic survey over the Sarqala, Mil Qasim and Zardi complex structures and a 2D seismic survey over the Chwar structure 
commenced on November 1, 2012. The Company expects the data acquisition phase to be completed in the second quarter 
of 2013. The survey encompasses 325 square kilometres of 3D seismic and 60 kilometres of 2D seismic. Processing and 
interpretation of the 2D data is underway. The results of these surveys will be used to optimize the number and placement 
of future appraisal wells, improve the Company’s understanding of fracturing within these structures and to better define 
the Bakhtiari, Upper Fars, Jeribe, Oligocene, Eocene and Cretaceous reservoirs.

Hasira-1 Exploration and Appraisal Well
WesternZagros plans to spud the Hasira-1 well in the second quarter of 2013, in order to appraise the extent of the oil leg 
previously encountered in the Jeribe reservoir at Sarqala-1 and also to explore the deeper Oligocene reservoir potential 
beneath the Jeribe. Significant oil shows were encountered in the Oligocene interval in the Sarqala-1 well but the Company 
was unable to evaluate them due to wellbore conditions. The Company expects Hasira-1 to take approximately seven months 
to drill to a planned total depth of 4,100 metres. The drilling rig is currently being prepared in North America for deployment 
to the Hasira-1 location.

Baram-1 Exploration Well
The Company plans to spud the Baram-1 well in the third quarter of 2013, in order to explore the potential extension of the 
oil leg discovered in the Oligocene reservoir at Kurdamir onto the Garmian Block. WesternZagros expects the well to take 
approximately five months to reach the planned total depth of 3,800 metres. A second drilling rig is also currently being 
prepared in North America for deployment to the Baram-1 location. In addition to the potential resources on the Garmian 
Block, the Company believes that this well also has the potential to prove up significant additional gross contingent oil resources 
on the Kurdamir Block. This would occur if the Baram-1 drilling results support the Company’s interpretation that the Baram 
structure may be an extension of the Kurdamir Discovery.

Completing either Baram-1 or Hasira-1 by the end of 2013 will fulfill the Company’s obligations under the second exploration 
sub-period of the Garmian PSC, prior to any extension of such sub-period.

Upper Bakhtiari Three-Well Drilling Program
WesternZagros plans to explore the potential of the shallow (500 to 700 metres depth) Upper Bakhtiari formation in the 
southern part of the Garmian Block through a low cost, three well drilling program, subject to success. The Company intends 
to spud the first well in the second quarter of 2013 subject to the availability of a drilling rig in Kurdistan.

Planning and Development
•	 On	March	1,	2013,	the	Company	hired	a	Project	Manager	who	will	lead	a	team	that	includes	secondees	from	the	Garmian	

Block joint venture partner, Gazprom Neft, in the design of appraisal and potential development plans for the existing Sarqala 
Jeribe/Dhiban oil field and any other new discoveries that may be made on the Garmian Block during the Exploration Period 
of the PSC.

•	 In	regards	to	Garmian	Block	appraisal	and	potential	development	planning,	a	preliminary	engineering	design	of	the	Sarqala	
first phase central processing facility (“CPF”) with 20,000 bbl/d capacity was completed in order to be ready to request 
engineering procurement and construction tenders at the appropriate time. Work is continuing on finding options to utilize 
the associated natural gas from any future crude oil production to minimize the flaring of natural gas.

•	 In	order	to	begin	development	planning	on	the	Kurdamir	Block,	the	joint	venture	has	created	a	sub-committee	and	Talisman,	as	 
operator, has staffed a dedicated team in 2013 to commence this work following the recent oil discoveries in the Kurdamir-2 well.

•	 The	Company	and	its	joint	venture	partners	continue	discussions	with	the	KRG	to	advance	plans	for	the	utilization	of	natural	
gas from both the Garmian and Kurdamir Blocks. Gas conservation studies are ongoing on pipeline routing, gas re-injection 
options to maximize oil recovery and options for temporary and permanent power generation.
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Financial
•	 As	at	December	31,	2012,	WesternZagros	had	$79.6	million	in	working	capital.

•	 With	existing	working	capital	and	the	subsequent	financing	described	below,	the	Company	is	fully	funded	for	its	planned	
activities in 2013.

•	 Subsequent	to	December	31,	2012,	the	Company	collected	a	total	$119.9	million	in	proceeds	from	Crest	Energy	International	
LLC (“Crest”). This consists of $57.5 million of debt and approximately $62.4 million of equity from a non-brokered, private 
placement of 51 million common shares issued by the Company at a price of Cdn$1.25 per common share. The debt is repayable 
in September 2014 and interest will accrue at 6 percent per annum. This price per common share represented a 25 percent 
premium to the March 8, 2013 closing price.

•	 Crest	obtained	the	right	under	the	Investment	Agreement	to	appoint	an	additional	nominee	to	the	Company’s	Board	of	
Directors and has elected John Howland to that position. Eric Stoerr, an officer of Crest, has been a member of the Corporation’s 
Board of Directors since August 2012.

•	 On	March	20,	2013,	WesternZagros	subsequently	announced	the	finalized	terms	of	a	further	private	placement	of	common	
shares at Cdn $1.25 per common share for gross proceeds of US$13.9 million which is anticipated to close on April 4, 2013. 
Proceeds from the second private placement will be used to reduce the principal amount outstanding under the Crest loan

•	 The	Company	has	been	actively	pursuing	admittance	to	the	Standard	Listing	segment	of	the	Official	List	of	the	London	
Stock Exchange (“LSE”) in order to provide the Company with an alternate market for future equity financing.

•	 During	the	third	quarter	of	2012,	upon	assignment	of	the	TPPI	by	the	KRG,	the	Company	received	a	net	total	of	$56.5	million	in	
proceeds ($82.9 million received from Gazprom Neft for the TPPI’s share of back-costs for the period January 1, 2011 to May 31, 
2012, net of the TPPI’s share of Cost Recovery Oil related to the Sarqala-1 EWT; less $26.4 million paid to the KRG after the 
retroactive application of the production sharing terms of the Garmian PSC in relation to the Sarqala-1 EWT).

•	 From	October	2011	to	May	2012	WesternZagros	sold	test	production	from	the	Sarqala-1	EWT,	under	the	auspices	of	the	
Ministry of Natural Resources, into the Kurdistan Region domestic market. The Company collected a total of $52.5 million 
in gross proceeds ($39.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 and $12.9 million during the year ended December 31, 
2011) and delivered approximately $2.7 million in test production value to the KRG. Upon the retroactive application of the 
Garmian PSC terms pertaining to the total deemed gross sales of $55.2 million from the Sarqala-1 EWT during the period 
from October 2011 to May 2012, the net entitlements attributed to each party were as follows:

•	 WesternZagros	retained	a	net	entitlement	of	$14.9	million;

•	 The	KRG’s	net	entitlement	was	$25.9	million;	and

•	 Gazprom	Neft’s	net	entitlement	was	$14.4	million.

•	 WesternZagros	expects	any	future	proceeds	received	from	the	Sarqala-1	EWT	to	be	subject	to	the	production	sharing	
terms of the Garmian PSC.

•	 During	the	third	quarter	of	2012	the	Company	also	received	$57.4	million	from	Crest	from	a	non-brokered,	private	placement	
of 40,714,286 common shares of the Company, representing 9.88 percent of the shares outstanding, at Cdn$1.40 per share. 
This price represented an approximate 10 percent premium to the August 4, 2012 closing share price. Under the terms of 
the agreement, Eric Stoerr, a representative from Crest was appointed to the WesternZagros board of directors.

•	 WesternZagros’s	share	of	capital	expenditures	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2012,	included	60	percent	of	the	Kurdamir	
Block activities, 100 percent of Garmian Block costs to June 30, 2012, prior to the allocation of the TPPI to Gazprom Neft 
by the KRG, and 50 percent of the Garmian Block costs subsequent to June 30, 2012. For the year ended December 31, 
2012, WesternZagros’s share of costs associated with its Garmian and Kurdamir PSC activities and other capitalized costs 
was $106.2 million. Expenditures for the 12 month period included $80.6 million of drilling-related costs ($25.9 million on 
the Garmian Block and $54.7 million on the Kurdamir Block); $15.5 million related to the costs associated with operating 
the Sarqala EWT and other appraisal activities, including the South Garmian seismic program; $0.8 million of geological 
and geosciences related work; $6.8 million for supervision and local office costs; and $2.5 million for PSC-related costs.
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Corporate
•	 For	the	second	consecutive	year,	on	February	13,	2013,	WesternZagros	was	included	in	the	2013	TSX	Venture	50®,	a	ranking	
of	strong	performing	companies	listed	on	Canada’s	TSX	Venture	Exchange.	The	TSX	Venture	50®	annually	awards	the	top	
10 companies in each of five major industry sectors: Oil and Gas, Mining, Technology & Life Sciences, Diversified Industries 
and	Clean	Technology.	The	2013	TSX	Venture	Top	50	companies	were	chosen	based	their	share	price	appreciation,	trading	
volume, market capitalization, growth and analyst coverage, as of December 31, 2012. According to statistics compiled by the 
TSX	Venture	Exchange,	in	2012	WesternZagros	experienced	a	63	percent	growth	in	share	price	and	an	81	percent	growth	
in capitalization.

•	 On	February	1,	2013,	William	Jack	was	appointed	to	the	position	of	General	Manager	Kurdistan	following	the	retirement	of	
Ian McIntosh in 2013. Mr. Jack is responsible for government liaison and in-country administration. He brings with him over 
30 years of progressive leadership in international oil and gas roles, having spent the majority of his career with British Petroleum 
(“BP”) in the United Kingdom, Middle East, Russia, Australia and North America. His most recent appointment was General 
and Country Manager, Tunisia for Petrofac. Mr. Jack holds a Bachelor of Science, Mechanical Engineering from University 
of Glasgow.

•	 On	December	1,	2012,	Jasmine	Capital	Investments	Pte	Limited,	an	affiliate	of	Richard	Chandler	Corporation,	purchased	
62,670,000 common shares of WesternZagros from the Abu Dhabi National Energy Company, PJSC, (“TAQA”), with such 
shares representing approximately 15.21 percent of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares. Prior to the 
sale to the Jasmine Capital Investments Pte Limited, David Cook, TAQA’s board representative, resigned from the Company’s 
Board of Directors on September 1, 2012.

•		On	November	20,	2012,	Michael	Mossman	was	promoted	to	Senior	Vice	President	of	Engineering	and	Operations.	Mr.	Mossman	
joined WesternZagros as Vice President Operations in June 2012 and is responsible for all engineering and drilling operations.

•	 On	August	15,	2012,	the	Company,	the	KRG	and	Talisman	entered	into	a	Second	Amendment	Agreement	to	the	Kurdamir	PSC	
which extended the first exploration sub-period expiry date to August 31, 2012, and the second exploration sub-period expiry 
date to September 1, 2014.

•	 On	April	4,	2012,	Mike	Tinkler	was	promoted	to	Vice	President	Exploration	and	Reservoir	Development.	Mike	Tinkler	originally	
joined WesternZagros as Exploration Director in January 2012, leading the Company’s exploration appraisal and new ventures 
geotechnical work.

•	 On	April	2,	2012,	Dr.	George	Pinckney,	who	had	worked	for	seven	years	in	the	role	of	Exploration	Manager	and	Vice	President	
Exploration and Reservoir Development, elected to semi-retire and assume the part-time position of Executive Advisor, 
Corporate Projects.

•	 On	April	4,	2012	Tony	Kraljic	was	promoted	to	Vice	President	Business	Development.	Tony	Kraljic	originally	joined	WesternZagros	
in August 2011, as Senior Manager Corporate Planning and Joint Ventures.

Political
•	 On	March	8,	2013,	the	Iraqi	Government	passed	the	2013	Iraq	Budget	despite	a	boycott	by	Members	of	Parliament	from	

the Kurdistan Region and part of the Sunni Iraqi bloc. The 2013 federal budget allocates $645 million for oil companies 
working under contracts with the KRG, even though the KRG had requested $3.5 billion. The budget was based on an 
average of 2.9 million bbl/d of oil exports at a price of $90 per barrel, and includes an expected 250,000 bbl/d of oil 
exports from the Kurdistan Region.

•	 In	February	2013,	the	KRG	Minister	of	Natural	Resources	indicated	that	the	northern	gas	pipeline	currently	under	construction	
could be converted for use as a crude oil pipeline instead. This pipeline could have an initial capacity of 200,000-300,000 
bbl/d and could be operational by the end of the second quarter of 2013. The initial pipeline capacity could then be increased 
to approximately 1 million bbl/d, with pumping capability added. This pipeline would need to be extended by approximately 
20-40 kilometres for export of Kurdish crude direct to Turkey.

•	 On	January	22,	2013,	the	Turkish	cabinet	approved	an	increase	in	the	state	owned	Turkish	Petroleum	International	Company	
(“TPIC”) 2013 capital budget from $150 million to $500 million and approved to transfer ownership of TPIC from state oil 
company, Turkish Petroleum Corporation (“TPAO”) (which operates in southern Iraq) to BOTAS Petroleum Pipeline Corporation 
(“BOTAS”) in an effort to boost energy project activities abroad, particularly in Northern Iraq. On a related note, an unnamed 
new Turkish oil company was reportedly in negotiations to acquire several blocks in the Kurdistan Region in a joint venture 
with at least one major foreign oil company and the KRG.
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•	 On	January	8,	2013,	the	KRG	approved	the	export	of	oil	directly	from	Genel’s	Taq	Taq	field	in	the	Kurdistan	Region,	to	Turkey,	
starting with approximately 2,000-4,000 bbl/d of trucked exports with a plan to increase to 20,000 bbl/d in the first 
quarter of 2013.

•	 On	November	29,	2012,	the	KRG	halved	oil	exports	from	the	Region.	The	KRG	had	exported	as	much	as	190,000	bbl/d,	
which included approximately 5,000 bbl/d from the Sarqala EWT during November 2012. On December 25, 2012, the KRG 
essentially ceased the delivery of export oil to the Iraqi government as no second payment had been made as required 
under the September 19, 2012 agreement and no amount had been agreed for the 2013 Iraqi budget in December 2012.

•	 On	October	8,	2012,	the	Turkish	parliament	passed	legislation	permitting	Turkey	to	accept	exports	of	oil	to	be	refined	in	
Turkey in exchange for oil products to be returned to Iraq for electricity generation and for the other fuel usage. This legislation 
permitted the barter trade of oil from the Kurdistan Region of Iraq for products back to the Kurdistan Region for the first time.

•	 On	August	1,	2012,	the	KRG	restarted	oil	exports	from	the	Kurdistan	Region	in	a	bid	to	end	the	payment	dispute	with	the	
central government. Following this, on September 19, 2012, a new agreement between the Federal Government and the 
KRG was signed in Baghdad and was subsequently approved by the federal and regional cabinets. Key items from the 
agreement included:

•	 A	first	interim	payment	of	approximately	$541	million	from	the	Federal	Government,	which	was	delivered	to	the	KRG	 
in early October 2012. A second payment of approximately $292 million was to be delivered within one week of the first 
payment, however this amount remains outstanding.

•	Delivery	of	crude	oil	exports	by	the	KRG	to	Baghdad	of	200,000	bbl/d	was	to	occur	for	the	remainder	of	2012	and	then	
increase 250,000 bbl/d for 2013. Payments for this crude oil and other amounts owing in respect to the previous export 
of crude oil from the Kurdistan Region that remain unpaid were expected to be subject to negotiation and inclusion in 
the 2013 Iraq federal budget.

•	Audits	would	be	conducted	by	the	federal	Board	of	Supreme	Audit	(“BSA”)	of	both	the	producer’s	costs	incurred	on	the	
producing assets to date and the overall use and sale of crude oil within the Kurdistan Region to ensure that the export 
payments are made within the terms of each of the producer’s PSCs.

•	 In	July	2012	the	KRG	began	exporting	condensate	to	Turkey	in	exchange	for	diesel	and	kerosene.	The	Government	of	Turkey	
also confirmed in July 2012 the import of 5 to 10 road tankers of crude from Kurdistan daily, saying the volume could rise 
to 100-200 tankers per day.

•	 On	May	21,	2012,	the	Minister	of	Natural	Resources	of	the	KRG,	Dr.	Ashti	Hawrami,	announced	plans	with	the	Turkish	Energy	
Minister, Taner Yildiz, for the joint cooperation between Turkey and Kurdistan for the export of oil and gas. This announcement 
included the following infrastructure development and expansion plans:

•	 A	20”	oil	pipeline	within	the	Kurdistan	Region	from	the	Taq	Taq	oil	field	to	Khurmala,	the	northernmost	‘dome’	of	the	
super-giant Kirkuk field, whereby the Kirkuk-Ceyhan export pipeline can be accessed. It is intended that this line will 
ultimately have a capacity of 400,000 bbl/d;

•	 A	1	million	bbl/d	pipeline	from	Khurmala	Dome	to	Faysh	Khabur	on	the	Turkish	border	would	be	constructed	and	is	expected	
to be completed in 2014. This was to coincide with the construction in Turkey of a line to accept these volumes and transport 
them to Ceyhan for both accessing refining and exports through the Mediterranean Sea;

•	 A	60,000	bbl/d	expansion	to	the	largest	refinery	in	Kurdistan	located	near	Erbil.	The	refinery	initially	had	capacity	to	
process 40,000 bbl/d of crude oil and is connected via a pipeline from Khurmala. Commissioning of the expansion is 
underway and it is expected that the refinery will be capable of processing 100,000 bbl/d in 2013. The refinery is then 
planned to be further expanded to 170,000 bbl/d by the end of 2013;

•	 The	conversion	of	the	500	MW	Dohuk	power	plant	from	utilizing	diesel	to	natural	gas	to	generate	power,	with	the	
expectation that a further 100 MMcf/d of natural gas will be required to supply the power plant; and

•	 The	extension	of	the	existing	natural	gas	pipeline	within	the	Kurdistan	Region	to	the	Dohuk	power	plant.	Currently	this	pipeline	
connects the Kor Mor gas field to both the Chemchemal and Erbil power plants and is transporting approximately 300 MMcf/d.

•	 In	February	2011	an	interim	agreement	was	reached	between	the	KRG	and	the	federal	government	of	Iraq	with	respect	to	
the export and sale of crude oil from Kurdistan. The agreement was reported to provide 50% of the revenues from such 
sales to the KRG in order to reimburse operators for costs associated with the producing fields. The KRG confirmed receipt 
of two payments to date under this agreement in May 2011 and September 2011 relating to production in the first and second 
quarters of 2011. After receiving no subsequent payment for production in the remainder of 2011 and up to April 2012, the 
KRG halted the export of oil.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

selected annual information

U.S.$(000’s), unless otherwise specified

2012 2011 2010 

Total Interest Revenue 123 92 87

Net Loss 10,287 6,873 5,801

Net Loss Per Share (U.S.$ Per Share) 
(Basic and Fully Diluted)

0.027 0.023 0.028

E&E Expenditures(1) 106,241 95,557 66,853

Oil Sales Proceeds from Extended Well Test(2) 39,632 12,879 –

Total Assets 424,375 339,439 240,290

Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,413 1,903 649

Dividends (U.S.$ Per Share) – – –

(1): E&E expenditures are prior to change in non-cash investing activities, and do not reflect proceeds received upon assignment of the TPPI,  
 settlement of EWT production sharing terms, insurance recoveries nor disposal of E&E assets.

(2): Includes gross proceeds from the sale of crude oil from the extended well test on Sarqala-1 for the period of October 27, 2011, to May 28, 2012,  
 prior to the retroactive application of the Garmian production sharing terms in the third quarter of 2012.

General and Administrative Expenses
For the year ended December 31, 2012, WesternZagros expensed $11.0 million in general and administrative expenses (“G&A”) 
as compared to $8.5 million for the comparable period in 2011. G&A expenses were higher in 2012 due to increased professional 
fees, including initial costs incurred in relation to pursuing admittance to the Standard Listing segment of the Official List of 
the LSE, as well as higher stock-based compensation costs as compared to 2011. Increased personnel costs in 2012 were offset 
by a greater amount of capitalized administrative costs.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, WesternZagros capitalized $4.2 million of G&A (2011: $4.8 million), including the capitalized 
portion of share-based payments. The amounts capitalized are directly related to the supervision of the Company’s exploration 
and evaluation activities.

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (“DD&A”)
For the year ended December 31, 2012, WesternZagros had $0.1 million of depreciation related to certain administrative assets, 
as compared to $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2011. No depletion of exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) 
assets will be recognized until such time that the technical feasibility and commercial viability has been demonstrated and 
development has been sanctioned, in which case the applicable E&E assets would be tested for impairment and reclassified 
as development expenditures and then depleted on a unit of production basis.

Stock Based Compensation
The Company recognizes the expense associated with share-based payments on a graded vesting basis for all stock options 
granted. For the year ended December 31, 2012, WesternZagros recorded $1.4 million in stock based compensation expense 
(2011: $0.9 million) and $1.0 million as part of capitalized G&A (2011: $0.6 million), with a corresponding increase to contributed 
surplus. The increased stock-based compensation recognized in 2012 relates to the graded vesting of a larger number of options 
granted during the year as compared to the prior year.

Foreign Exchange
WesternZagros adopted the U.S. dollar as its measurement and reporting currency since the majority of its expenditures are, 
or will be, directly or indirectly denominated in U.S. dollars and to facilitate a more direct comparison to other international 
crude oil and natural gas exploration and development companies. As at December 31, 2012, WesternZagros held more than 
95 percent of its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments in U.S. dollar accounts and U.S. dollar overnight and 
term deposits. The Company also has certain assets and liabilities in currencies other than the U.S. dollar (mainly Canadian 
dollars). For financial statement presentation purposes, WesternZagros converts other currencies to U.S. dollars at the end 
of each period resulting in foreign exchange gains and losses. Canadian dollar balances are held for the purpose of funding 
WesternZagros’s Canadian dollar expenditures, which are mainly related to the costs associated with general and administrative 
costs for its head office and certain drilling-related services and tangible equipment procured from Canadian suppliers. For 
the year ended December 31, 2012, WesternZagros recorded a $0.1 million foreign exchange gain relating to these conversions, 
compared to a $0.2 million foreign exchange gain for the year ended December 31, 2011.
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As at December 31, 2012, had the US Dollar changed by one percent against the Canadian Dollar, with all other variables held 
constant, the Company’s foreign exchange gain or loss would have been affected by approximately $0.1 million (2011: $0.1 million).

Income Taxes
For the year ended December 31, 2012, WesternZagros had a current income tax recovery of $0.7 million related to non-capital 
losses incurred in the current year that are expected to result in the recovery of a portion of the taxes paid for the prior year.  
In comparison, for the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company had a net tax recovery of $1.5 million, comprised of $1.7 
million current income tax recovery and $0.2 million deferred income tax expense. The current income tax recovery in 2011 
related to the net impact of previously unrecognized foreign exchange gains and losses which were recognized in 2011 and 
the utilization of non-capital loss carry forwards and G&A costs incurred, the combination of which resulted in the full recovery  
of taxes originally incurred in 2008.

The Company received proceeds of $1.8 million for net prior year tax recoveries during the year ended December 31, 2012 
(2011: $0.8 million).

Other Income
WesternZagros’s other income is comprised entirely of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment 
balances. Interest of $0.1 million was earned for the year ending December 31, 2012 (2011: $0.1 million).

Net Loss
For the year ended December 31, 2012, WesternZagros recorded a net loss of $10.3 million compared to a net loss of $6.9 million 
for the same period of 2011. The increased net loss in 2012 was due to increased G&A costs and reduced income tax recoveries 
as compared to 2011. WesternZagros is an early stage exploration enterprise and, apart from its working interest in the Kurdamir 
and Garmian PSCs, cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, the Company has no other significant assets.

Capital Expenditures
WesternZagros’s share of capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2012, included 60 percent of the Kurdamir Block 
activities, 100 percent of Garmian Block costs to June 30, 2012, prior to the allocation of the TPPI to Gazprom Neft by the 
KRG, and 50 percent share of the Garmian Block costs subsequent to June 30, 2012. For the year ended December 31, 2012, 
WesternZagros’s share of costs associated with the Garmian and Kurdamir PSC activities and other capitalized costs was 
$106.2 million. Expenditures for the year included $80.6 million of drilling-related costs ($25.9 million on the Garmian Block 
and $54.7 million on the Kurdamir Block); $15.5 million related to the costs associated with operating the Sarqala EWT and 
other appraisal activities, including the South Garmian seismic program; $0.8 million of geological and geosciences related 
work; $6.8 million for supervision and local office costs; and $2.5 million for PSC-related costs.

By comparison, the Company’s share of E&E expenditures, including WesternZagros’s 100 percent share of expenditures 
associated with its Garmian PSC activities and 60 percent share of its Kurdamir PSC activities, for the year ended December 31, 
2011, was $95.6 million (prior to the impact of changes in non-cash investing capital, insurance recoveries, gross proceeds 
from the Sarqala-1 EWT and disposals). Expenditures for the year included $71.3 million of drilling-related costs; $5.7 million 
for appraisal activities; $2.2 million of geological and geosciences related work; $5.9 million for supervision and local office 
costs; $3.0 million for PSC related expenditures; and $7.5 million for corporate activities.

Upon assignment of the TPPI in the Garmian Block by the KRG during the third quarter of 2012, the Company received $82.9 
million from Gazprom Neft in relation to the TPPI’s estimated back costs for the period January 1, 2011 to May 31, 2012, net of 
Cost Recovery Oil due to Gazprom Neft upon application of the Garmian PSC terms to gross deemed sales from the Sarqala-1 
EWT during the period of October 2011 to May 2012. All subsequent costs incurred for Garmian PSC activities are funded equally 
by WesternZagros and Gazprom Neft. The proceeds received were credited against the Company’s E&E expenditures.

Also upon assignment of the TPPI during the third quarter of 2012, the Company paid the KRG $26.4 million due to the retroactive 
application of the terms of the Garmian PSC for the deemed gross sales from the Sarqala-1 EWT during the period October 
2011 to May 2012. This net settlement was debited against the Company’s E&E expenditures.

Until May 27, 2012, the Company continued the Sarqala-1 EWT that first began in the fourth quarter of 2011, with ongoing sales 
of test oil into the local Kurdistan domestic market under the auspices of the KRG. The EWT was temporarily suspended on 
May 28, 2012, when the Company began planned well repairs which carried on until July 2012. For the year ended December 
31, 2012, the Company executed five sales contracts and received gross payments totalling $39.6 million (sales of test oil 
first commenced during the three months ended December 31, 2011: and totalled $12.9 million, gross, for that period). Following 
the retroactive application of the Garmian PSC terms to the deemed gross sales and the resulting settlement with the KRG 
and Gazprom Neft following the TPPI assignment, the Company’s total net entitlement for sales of test oil for the entire period 
of October 2011 to May 2012 was $14.9 million (approximately $3.5 million for the three month period ended December 31, 
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2011 and $11.5 million for the five month period ended May 31, 2012). The Company is still in the exploration stage of development 
and any future proceeds received, net of costs, will continue to be credited against E&E expenditures when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership have passed and the value of those sales can be reliably measured.

After the Sarqala-1 EWT was suspended in May 2012, approval from the KRG to recommence the Sarqala-1 EWT was not received 
until November 8, 2012, with test production directed for export from the Kurdistan Region via Iraqi controlled pipeline 
infrastructure. The Company then delivered approximately 88,000 bbls (gross) of test production prior to halting the EWT 
again on November 27, 2012, per further direction from the KRG. Oil exports from the Kurdistan Region were halted until further 
progress is made with the Iraqi Government with regards to the ongoing payment issues for oil exports from the Kurdistan Region. 
The Company expects its net entitlement to be based on the terms of the Garmian PSC but it has not been paid for the oil 
that was delivered for export. There is uncertainty relating to the amount and the timing of proceeds due for this oil, as well 
as uncertainty as to when exports from the Kurdistan Region might recommence. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded 
any receivable for the value of the Company’s net entitlement and consequently no associated credit to E&E expenditures. 
WesternZagros is still in the exploration stage of development and credits any net proceeds received from the sales of test 
oil exports against E&E expenditures in the period in which the proceeds are received.

QuartErLy inFormation 

The following table summarizes key financial information on a quarterly basis for the 2012 and 2011 fiscal periods:

U.S.$(000’s), unless otherwise specified

Year Ended Three Month Periods Ended

Dec 31, 2012 Dec 31, 2012 Sep 30, 
2012

Jun 30, 2012 Mar 31, 2012

Revenue 123 48 30 20 25

Net Loss 10,287 3,326 2,677 2,287 1,997

Net Loss Per Share (U.S.$ Per Share)  
(Basic and Fully Diluted) 0.027 0.009 0.007 0.006 0.005

E&E Expenditures(1) 106,241 31,169 16,486 23,854 34,732

Oil Sales Proceeds from Extended Well Test(2) 39,632 – – 13,690 25,942

Total Assets 424,375 424,375 395,507 329,655 335,109

Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,413 4,413 1,384 2,007 1,854

Dividend (U.S.$ per Share) – – – – –

U.S.$(000’s), unless otherwise specified

Year Ended Three Month Periods Ended

Dec 31, 2011 Dec 31, 2011 Sep 30, 2011 Jun 30, 2011 Mar 31, 2011

Revenue 92 25 16 34 17

Net Loss 6,873 1,964 2,013 1,416 1,480

Net Loss Per Share (U.S.$ Per Share) 
(Basic and Fully Diluted) 0.023 0.005 0.007 0.005 0.006

E&E Expenditures(1) 95,557 36,531 24,651 18,420 15,955

Oil Sales Proceeds from Extended Well Test(2) 12,879 12,879 – – –

Total Assets 339,439 339,439 275,078 272,650 271,720

Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,903 1,903 1,417 864 816

Dividend (U.S.$ per Share) – – – – –

(1) E&E expenditures as presented are prior to change in non-cash investing capital, insurance recoveries, recovery of estimated back  
 costs upon allocation of the TPPI, disposals and gross proceeds received and payments made related to extended well test sales.

(2) Includes proceeds from the sale of crude oil from the extended well test on Sarqala-1 for the period of October 27 to December 31, 2011,  
 and from January 1 to May 28, 2012. During the third quarter of 2012, $26.4 million was remitted to the KRG upon the retroactive application  
 of the Garmian PSC terms.
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Fourth Quarter
In the fourth quarter of 2012, WesternZagros had a net loss of $3.3 million in comparison to the fourth quarter of 2011 which 
was a net loss of $2.0 million. Increased G&A expenditures included initial costs incurred pursuing admittance to the Official 
List of the LSE, reduced foreign exchange gains and lower income tax recoveries contributed to the increased net loss in the 
fourth quarter of 2012 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2011.

The Company has been actively pursuing admittance to the Standard Listing segment of the Official List of the LSE in order 
to provide the Company with an alternate market for future equity financing. Following the completion of the private placement 
and debt funding from Crest, the Company intends to seek an introductory listing and then to commence trading on the LSE 
in the second quarter of 2013.

WesternZagros’s E&E expenditures totaled $31.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2012 as compared to $36.5 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2011. The decrease in the fourth quarter of 2012 was primarily due to the Company’s 50 percent funding requirement 
for Garmian Block activities subsequent to the assignment of the TPPI to Gazprom Neft as compared to the Company’s 100 
percent funding requirement in the fourth quarter of 2011. During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company’s 60 percent funding 
for the Kurdamir Block related mainly to Kurdamir-2 testing and completion activities while the Company’s 50 percent funding 
for the Garmian Block related to the South Garmian 3D seismic program and certain long lead drilling items related to Hasira-1 
and Baram-1, both of which will be spud in 2013. In comparison, during the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company’s 60 percent 
funding requirement for the Kurdamir Block included the commencement of the Kurdamir-2 drilling operations while the 
Company’s 100 percent funding for the Garmian Block included Mil Qasim-1 drilling and testing activities.

On November 8, 2012, WesternZagros began, as a result of a request by the Ministry of Natural Resources of the KRG, to deliver 
crude oil for export from the Sarqala-1 EWT. However, on November 27, 2012, as a result of a subsequent request of the KRG, 
deliveries for export sales from the Kurdistan Region were halted until further notice. The Company has not been paid for its 
net entitlement under the terms of the Garmian PSC for these deliveries of approximately 88,000 bbls (gross) of test oil production 
made between November 8 and 27, 2012. There is uncertainty relating to the amount and the timing of proceeds due for this 
oil, as well as uncertainty as to when exports from the Kurdistan Region might recommence. Accordingly, the Company has 
not recorded any receivable balance for the value of the Company’s net entitlement and consequently no associated credit 
to E&E expenditures. Upon notice from the KRG, the Company will re-commence the Sarqala-1 EWT and deliver future test 
production either for export or into the Kurdistan domestic market. However, the timing for restarting the Sarqala EWT, the 
payment terms and the timing of any future proceeds to be received are currently unknown. In comparison, during the fourth 
quarter of 2011 WesternZagros sold its first test oil produced from Sarqala-1 into the Kurdistan Region domestic market under 
the auspices of the KRG and the Company received $12.9 million of gross sales proceeds.

kurdamir and garmian Production sHaring contracts: summary and commitmEnts

Under the terms of its Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs, WesternZagros has a 40 percent working interest in each PSC and the 
KRG has a 20 percent working interest in both PSCs. The remaining 40 percent working interest in the Kurdamir PSC is held 
by Talisman. On August 1, 2012, the remaining 40 percent TPPI in the Garmian PSC was assigned to Gazprom Neft by the 
KRG. WesternZagros, the KRG and Talisman for the Kurdamir PSC and WesternZagros, the KRG, and the Gazprom Neft for 
the Garmian PSC, are each a “Contractor Group” for the respective blocks.
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WesternZagros’s remaining PSC exploration commitments are summarized in the following table:

kurdamir Psc garmian Psc

First exploration sub-period (expired) August 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Exploration obligation Kurdamir-2 (completed) Mil Qasim-1 exploration well 
(completed)

Second exploration sub-period Additional two years Additional two years

Exploration obligation One appraisal well (Kurdamir-3) One exploration well (Hasira-1 or 
Baram-1)

Other extensions Six month extension One year extension

Other Work commitments by end of 
extension

One well Three wells (Upper Bakhtiari wells, 
Baram-1 or Hasira-1 and an unnamed 
well)

PSC payments Additional Capacity Building Support 
Payment payable equal to 3% of 
WesternZagros Profit Oil;  
$1.1 million annual payments

Additional Capacity Building Support 
Payment payable equal to 3% of 
WesternZagros Profit Oil; 
$0.6 million annual payments.

Operator Talisman WesternZagros (1)

Working interest WesternZagros 40% WesternZagros 40%

Talisman 40% Unassigned TPPI 40% 

KRG 20% (2) KRG 20% (2)

(1) Pursuant to the terms of the Garmian PSC, Gazprom Neft will operate the Garmian Block following the end of the Exploration Period.

(2) WesternZagros funds 100% of the KRG costs on the Kurdamir Block and 50% of the KRG costs on the Garmian Block, ultimately to be recovered  
 by WesternZagros though the KRG’s share of Cost Recovery Oil, which, pursuant to the terms of the Company PSCs will be paid to WesternZagros.

During the second quarter of 2012, the Kurdamir-2 well reached total depth of approximately 4,000 metres as required for 
the Company to meet its commitments related to the first exploration sub-period under the Kurdamir PSC. The Company 
has entered the second exploration sub-period under the Kurdamir PSC. The Company has committed to expenditures of 
approximately $34 million, under approved AFEs, to meet its 60 percent funding requirement related to planned Kurdamir 
Block activities, which includes the Company’s portion of completion costs associated with Kurdamir-2, drilling the Kurdamir-3 
vertical well (which was spudded on February 22, 2013), a seismic program over the Kurdamir structure and the associated 
supervision and local office support costs and other planned Kurdamir Block activities to December 31, 2013. The Kurdamir-3 
appraisal well and the Kurdamir seismic program will satisfy the Company’s minimum obligations relating to the second 
exploration sub-period under the Kurdamir PSC. At the end of the later of the second exploration sub-period or the subsequent 
extension period, the Kurdamir PSC requires WesternZagros, and other parties who have elected to participate, to relinquish 
the remaining undeveloped area within the Kurdamir Block other than any approved development areas.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company finished drilling the Mil Qasim-1 exploration well in order to meet its 
commitments for the first exploration sub-period under the Garmian PSC. The Company has entered the second exploration 
sub-period of the Garmian PSC. During the second exploration sub-period the Company’s 50 percent funding obligations 
following the assignment of the TPPI are to drill one commitment well (Hasira-1 or Baram-1) by December 31, 2013, and spend 
a minimum of $12.5 million on drilling and associated geological and geophysical activities. Upon fulfilling these minimum 
commitments and receiving approval from the KRG for a 2 year exploration program that includes plans to drill three additional 
exploration wells, the Company will be entitled to a one year extension of the second exploration sub-period (i.e. to December 31, 
2014). At the end of the second exploration sub-period, the PSC requires the Company and other parties who have elected 
to participate, to relinquish the remaining undeveloped area within the Garmian Block other than any approved 
development areas.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company also submitted and received approval from the KRG for an appraisal 
work program and budget with respect to the Sarqala discovery. The Company plans to continue the extended well test on 
Sarqala-1 (subject to KRG approval) and conduct a 3D seismic program and drill up to two appraisal wells. The Company has 
also submitted the required appraisal work program and budget with respect to the Mil Qasim Discovery for approval by 
the KRG. The program includes further analysis on the Mil Qasim-1 testing results, as well as the 3D seismic data and Upper 
Fars drilling data from the drilling of the Hasira-1 well and incorporating information to be gathered under the Sarqala 
appraisal program.

48 / WesternZagros 2012 Annual Report



Kurdamir and Garmian Production Sharing Contracts: Production
The Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs provide each respective Contractor Group with the exclusive right to develop and produce 
any commercial discoveries. A development area encompasses any discoveries made prior to the end of the exploration period, 
in WesternZagros’s case, December 31, 2014 for the Garmian PSC and September 1, 2014 for the Kurdamir PSC. The development 
period for producing a commercial discovery is an initial term of 20 years from the date of declaring a commercial discovery 
with a further automatic right to a five year extension. If commercial production is possible at the end of the last period then 
the Contractor Group shall be entitled to an extension of a further five years under the same terms as in the applicable PSC 
if a request is made by the Contractor Group at least six months before the end of the first five year extension. Any prospect 
that remains undrilled at the end of the applicable exploration period is relinquished back to the KRG. WesternZagros has several 
prospects that could result in potential development areas including but not limited to Baram, Quiljan, Bawanoor and Alyan 
in the North Garmian area; Sarqala, Mil Qasim, Chwar, the Zardi complex, the Upper Fars Fault Trap Play, and Tilako in the South 
Garmian area, and Kurdamir in the Kurdamir Block. The exploration and appraisal program is based on the highly prospective 
formations discovered through the drilling of the Sarqala-1, Mil Qasim-1 and Kurdamir wells.

Pursuant to the terms of the Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs, WesternZagros maintains the right to market its share of oil on 
the world market. There is an obligation under the Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs to make oil production available to meet 
regional market demand. During the first and second quarters of 2012 the Company sold test oil from the Sarqala-1 extended 
well test, which had originally commenced in the fourth quarter of 2011, into the local domestic Kurdistan market under the 
approval from the Ministry of Natural Resources of the KRG. Under the terms of these sales agreements, all gross proceeds 
were initially credited against recoverable costs under the Garmian PSC. Upon the allocation of the TPPI, the production sharing 
terms of the Garmian PSC were retroactively applied to the gross proceeds received for the period October 2011 to May 2012. 
During the third quarter of 2012, $26.4 million was subsequently remitted to the KRG with respect to a reconciliation of the 
government’s share of production. With approval from the Ministry of Natural Resources of the KRG to recommence the 
Sarqala-1 extended well test, any proceeds received for future sales contracts will be subject to the production sharing terms 
of the PSC.

Pursuant to the terms of the Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs, the price for natural gas is based on the actual price obtained at 
the delivery point, and ultimate sales contracts and final sales prices are subject to KRG approval. Limited markets exist for 
natural gas within Iraq and there is limited infrastructure for export and no such price for natural gas has yet to be established 
in Kurdistan. The KRG has the expansion of its electricity generation as one of its priorities and is pursuing a number of projects 
that may expand these markets and the demand for natural gas.

Kurdamir and Garmian Production Sharing Contracts: Commercial Terms
The sharing of oil production occurs as follows: of the total oil produced, operations oil is available to the Contract Group 
for use in carrying out its obligations under the PSCs; the remaining oil is subject to a 10 percent royalty payable to the KRG 
(the residual is considered to be “net available oil”). Up to 45 percent of the net available oil is available for cost recovery 
with the remainder as “profit oil”. Costs subject to cost recovery include all costs and expenditures incurred by the Contractor 
Group for exploration, development, production and decommissioning operations, as well as any other costs and expenditures 
incurred directly or indirectly with these activities. The portion of profit oil available to the Contractor Group is based on a 
sliding scale from 35 percent to 16 percent depending on a calculated R-Factor. The R-Factor is established by reference to 
the ratio of cumulative revenues over cumulative costs. When the ratio is below one, the Contractor Group is entitled to 35 
percent of the profit oil. The percentage is then reduced on a linear sliding scale to a minimum of 16 percent at an R-Factor 
ratio of two or greater.

The production sharing terms for natural gas are the same as the oil production sharing terms except that the net available gas 
available for cost recovery is 55 percent and the profit sharing component is on a different scale. For natural gas, the portion 
of profit natural gas available for the Contractor Group is based on a sliding scale from 40 percent to 20 percent depending 
on a calculated R-factor. The R-Factor is established by reference to the ratio of the Contractor Group’s cumulative revenue 
over cumulative costs. When the R-Factor is below one, the Contractor Group is entitled to 40 percent of the profit oil. The 
Contractor Group’s percentage is then reduced on a linear scale to a minimum of 20 percent at a ratio of 2.75 or greater.

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had approximately $103 million related to the Garmian PSC and $144 million relating to 
the Kurdamir PSC, both net to WesternZagros, of recoverable costs available that may ultimately be recovered from future crude 
oil or natural gas sales in accordance with the PSCs. Pursuant to the terms of the PSCs, these estimated cost pools are subject 
to government audit. As a result of the net impact of collecting the back-costs from Gazprom Neft upon the TPPI assignment 
and WesternZagros’s funding of only 50 percent of the costs incurred on the Garmian Block, the Company’s portion of the 
Garmian costs eligible for cost recovery were reduced accordingly.
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Other Commitments 
The Company has entered into various exploration-related contracts, including contracts for drilling equipment, services and 
other tangible equipment. The following table summarizes the Company’s portion of estimated commitments in relation to 
these exploration-related contracts relating mainly to long lead items for planned drilling activities on the Garmian Block and 
other contractual obligations at December 31, 2012:

U.S.$(000’s), unless otherwise specified

For the years Ending december 31,

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017+ Total

Exploration $ 5,744 – – –	 – $ 5,744

Office $ 1,129 $ 1,093 $ 1,247 $ 1,250 $ 1,250 $ 5,969

$ 6,873 $ 1,093 $ 1,247 $ 1,250 $ 1,250 $ 11,713

Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Company also entered into a two year drilling contract for two drilling rigs for which 
the Company’s portion is a minimum commitment of $31.5 million, and in respect of which it has placed as security a deposit 
held in trust of $20 million.

LEgaL ProcEEdings

From time to time, the Company may become involved in legal or administrative proceedings in the normal conduct of business. 
The Company is currently in disputes with two contractors that have entered into arbitration proceedings. The first is in relation 
to compensation owing to a contractor under a terminated agreement where the termination is being disputed and compensation 
in excess of that agreed by the parties may be sought. The second is in relation to amounts owing to a contractor for services 
provided that have been withheld by the Company as a result of a potential breach of contract by the contractor. At this 
stage in the applicable proceedings there has been no formal claim of monetary damages against the Company made by 
either contractor. The Company believes that these matters, individually or in aggregate, are unlikely to have a material impact 
on WesternZagros’s financial position. However, given the current stage of the disputes, there can be no certainty at this time 
as to the outcome of such proceedings or the ultimate effect which they may have on the Company.

oFF BaLancE sHEEt arrangEmEnts

The Company does not presently utilize any off-balance sheet arrangements to enhance its liquidity and capital resource 
positions, or for any other purpose. During the year ended December 31, 2012, WesternZagros did not enter into any  
off-balance sheet transactions.

outLook

In accordance with the Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs, the end of the exploration periods are September 1, 2014 and December 31, 
2014, respectively, after which the development periods begin. On the Kurdamir Block, the Company’s focus will be on continued 
appraisal drilling to delineate the existing 943 MMBOE of Gross Mean Contingent Resources and the estimated 1.6 billion BOE 
of Gross Mean Prospective Resources. On the Garmian Block, the Company’s focus will be on exploration drilling to delineate 
the following estimated Gross Mean Prospective Resources: 527 MMBOE on the Baram prospect, 463 MMBOE on the Sarqala 
Discovery and 143 MMBOE on the Mil Qasim Upper Bakhtiari Discovery. In addition, WesternZagros’s work program on the 
Garmian Block over the next two years will be on exploration activities to rank, prioritize and drill the highest ranked additional 
prospects prior to the end of the exploration period. This ranking will be based on the results of the North and South Garmian 
Seismic Programs (2D and 3D) and the 2013 drilling results of the Company’s planned wells on the Garmian and Kurdamir 
Blocks and also other Operator’s wells on neighbouring blocks. Possible prospects for future exploration drilling in 2014 include 
Qulijan, Chwar, Bawanoor, Alyan, Zardi Complex, Tilako and the Upper Fars Fault Trap play. 

Kurdamir Block
The Company continues to work with the operator, Talisman, to appraise the giant oil discovery in the Oligocene reservoir of 
the Kurdamir discovery. This includes a 3D seismic program over the Kurdamir structure with acquisition that commenced in 
January 2013, drilling and testing the Kurdamir-3 well that was spudded on February 22, 2013, targeting an estimated 150-250 
MMBOE of Gross Mean Prospective Resources, and an extended well test in the Kurdamir-2 well which is anticipated to start 
in the second half of 2013, subject to the approval of the KRG. Appraisal activities for the deeper Eocene and Cretaceous 
reservoirs will be deferred until additional insight is obtained on optimal drilling locations. The Company anticipates that the 
results of the 3D seismic survey currently underway over Kurdamir will assist in this process.
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Planned expenditures include approximately $30 million for the Kurdamir-3 vertical appraisal well (spudded February 22, 2013), 
$9 million for the Kurdamir seismic program which commenced in the first quarter of 2013, and $2 million for the Kurdamir-2 
completion costs. Contingent projects may also include $9 million for a potential Kurdamir-3 sidetrack, if required, and, subject 
to KRG approval, $7 million related to commencement of extended well test production at the Kurdamir-2 well.

Garmian Block
WesternZagros expects to recommence the EWT at Sarqala upon KRG approval to gain additional information in order to 
appraise the discovery for future development. Upon receipt of KRG approval, the Company plans to complete a workover 
of the Sarqala-1 well in the second half of 2013 in order to allow future EWT production capability to increase beyond the 
current 5,000 barrels per day. Engineering work is also underway for permanent facilities to increase EWT production capability 
at Sarqala including gas conservation measures. In particular, preliminary engineering design of the Sarqala first phase 
permanent facilities with 20,000 bbl/d capacity has been completed in readiness to request engineering procurement and 
construction tenders at the appropriate time. Work is continuing on opportunities to utilize the associated natural gas from 
any future crude oil production to minimize the flaring of natural gas.

Hasira-1 Exploration and Appraisal Well
The Hasira-1 well is planned to spud in the second quarter of 2013 to appraise the extent of the oil leg previously encountered 
in the Jeribe reservoir, targeting 25-50 MMBOE of Gross Mean Prospective Resources, at the Sarqala-1 well and also to explore 
the deeper Oligocene reservoir, targeting a further 25-50 MMBOE of Gross Mean Prospective Resources. Significant oil shows 
were encountered in the Oligocene interval at Sarqala-1 but the Company was unable to evaluate them at that time due to 
wellbore conditions. Hasira-1 is expected to take approximately seven months to drill to a planned total depth of 4,100 metres. 
The drilling rig is currently being prepared in North America for deployment to the Kurdistan Region.

Baram-1 Exploration Well
The Baram-1 well is planned to spud in the third quarter of 2013, in order to explore a potential extension of the oil leg in the 
Oligocene reservoir of the Kurdamir discovery into the Garmian Block. If successful and the extension is confirmed, this well 
could add 200-300 MMBOE of Gross Mean Contingent Resources in the Garmian Block and possibly also confirm an additional 
500-600 MMBOE of Gross Mean Contingent Resources on the Kurdamir Block. WesternZagros expects the well to take 
approximately five months to reach the planned total depth of 3,800 metres. An additional drilling rig is also currently being 
prepared in North America for deployment to the Kurdistan Region.

The completion of either Baram-1 or Hasira-1 in 2013 would fulfill the Company’s obligations under the second exploration 
sub-period of the Garmian PSC, prior to any extension of such sub-period.

Upper Bakhtiari Three-Well Drilling Program
This program is to explore the potential of the shallow (500 to 700 metres depth) Upper Bakhtiari formation in the southern 
part of the Garmian Block through a low cost, three well drilling program, targeting 29 MMBOE of Gross Mean Prospective 
Resources. If successful, the wells could be quickly tied into the existing Sarqala facilities for EWT production, subject to 
KRG approval. The Company plans to spud the first well in the second quarter of 2013 subject to the availability of a drilling 
rig in Kurdistan.

Garmian Seismic Programs
WesternZagros has commenced a 3D seismic appraisal survey over the Sarqala, Mil Qasim and adjacent Zardi Complex 
structures. WesternZagros has completed the 2D seismic survey at Chwar which is located 22 kilometres west-northwest of 
Sarqala to elevate this low risk, Jeribe oil opportunity to drill ready status. The Chwar prospect will be ranked against the 
other prospects on the Garmian Block. The Company will utilize the 3D information to optimize the number and placement 
of future appraisal and development well, improve its understanding of fracturing within these structures and further evaluate 
the Bakhtiari, Upper Fars, Jeribe, Oligocene, Eocene and Cretaceous reservoirs on the southern portion of the Block. The 
Company also plans to conduct a 3D seismic program in the second half of 2013 over the northern portion of the Block targeting 
the Baram and Qulijan structures. The 3D data over Baram will assist in determining whether Baram is an extension of the 
existing Kurdamir Oligocene discovery or a separate structure.

Planned expenditures include $30 million for the Hasira-1 well (expected to be spudded in the second quarter of 2013), $28 million 
for the Baram-1 well (expected to be spudded in the third quarter), $4 million for the Sarqala EWT facilities, $2 million for 
the first of three wells of the Mil Qasim Upper Bakhtiari program, $7 million for the Garmian South seismic programs and  
$11 million for G&A and other costs. Contingent projects may also include $4 million for anticipated Sarqala-1 work over and 
recompletion costs, subject to KRG approval, $8 million for the Garmian North seismic program and $4 million for up to two 
additional wells at the Mil Qasim Upper Bakhtiari program, subject to successful results.
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LiQuidity and caPitaL rEsourcEs

WesternZagros is currently exploring for and appraising discoveries of crude oil and natural gas in the Kurdistan Region. As 
an exploration company, the Company typically funds all capital expenditures and related commitments from existing cash 
balances and short-term investments, the sales proceeds received from any EWT’s, and by accessing additional sources of 
funding from external sources. WesternZagros’s other income is comprised entirely of interest earned on cash and cash 
equivalent balances and short-term investments. WesternZagros invests its cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investments with major Canadian financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings and in Government of Canada 
instruments. This is in accordance with an Investment Policy approved by the Board of Directors.

As at December 31, 2012, WesternZagros had $79.6 million in working capital with no outstanding bank debt or other interest 
bearing indebtedness. During the first quarter of 2013, the Company collected $119.9 million in proceeds from Crest after 
securing approximately $62.4 million from the issuance of 51 million common shares of the Company at Cdn$1.25 per common 
share and $57.5 million of debt, repayable in September 2014. On March 20, 2013, WesternZagros subsequently announced 
the finalized terms of a further private placement of common shares at Cdn $1.25 per common share for gross proceeds of 
US$13.9 million which is anticipated to close on April 4, 2013. Proceeds from the private placement will be used to reduce the 
principal amount outstanding under the Crest loan. The remainder of the debt is repayable in September 2014 and interest will 
accrue at 6 percent per annum. This price per common share represented a 25 percent premium to the March 8, 2013 closing 
price. The Company is subject to certain ongoing covenants under the loan agreement with Crest. Crest has increased its 
ownership position to 19.8 percent of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares following closing of the private 
placements. Under the terms of the investment agreement, Crest has the right to name two members to the WesternZagros 
Board of Directors. Eric Stoerr, a representative from Crest was appointed to the Board of Directors prior to this financing and 
the second nominee, John Howland, was appointed upon closing of this financing. With the proceeds received from Crest and 
the subsequent private placement as described above, the Company is fully funded for its planned activities for 2013.

In regards to the debt secured with Crest subsequent to December 31, 2012, the debt is secured by 10 percent of the shares 
of the Company’s operating subsidiary. The principal amount of the debt, together with the accrued interest, is to be repaid 
in full in September 2014, subject to certain prepayment terms, including but not limited to a partial repayment obligation in 
the event of a future equity offering by the Company or following the occurrence of an event of default. Events of default 
under the loan agreement with Crest include, but are not limited to, payment defaults, defaults in the performance of covenants 
under the loan agreement, material misrepresentations by the Company or the insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company. In 
the event default occurs and is continuing Crest may (i) declare the amounts due under the loan agreement to be accelerated 
and immediately due and payable, and (ii) take immediate possession of any collateral in satisfaction for the amounts due 
under the loan agreement. Following an event of default and the acceleration of indebtedness, the amounts due under the 
loan agreement will accrue interest at a rate of eight percent per annum.

With the completion of this financing, the Company is fully funded for its planned 2013 activities. However, WesternZagros 
may be required to access further funding in the future, dependent on the level and timing of exploration and appraisal 
activities pursued by the Company and the funding requirements under the relevant PSCs. WesternZagros, in considering 
the proper timing to potentially access further capital, will also assess the following factors:

•	 The	expected	timing	for	appraisal	and	development	activities	at	Sarqala,	Mil	Qasim,	and	Kurdamir,	 
and the future exploration activities on the Garmian and Kurdamir Blocks in 2014;

•	 The	ability	to	export	oil	and	natural	gas	from	the	Kurdistan	Region	in	accordance	with	the	economic	 
terms of the PSCs and the promulgation of a new Federal Petroleum Law of Iraq;

•	 The	current	conditions	in	the	financial	markets,	including	the	potential	for	further	market	instability;	and

•	 The	timing	for	repayment	of	outstanding	debt.

outstanding sHarE data
As at December 31, 2012, there were 412,100,825 shares issued and outstanding. Subsequent to December 31, 2012, there 
were 51 million common shares issued to Crest via a non-brokered private placement and 257,333 options exercised for 
common shares and as a result there were 463,358,158 shares issued and outstanding as at the date of this MD&A. The 
number of common shares reserved for issuance pursuant to options granted will not exceed 10 percent of the issued and 
outstanding common shares.

52 / WesternZagros 2012 Annual Report



For the year ended December 31, 2012, there were 8,129,000 options granted, 542,383 options forfeited and 177,067 options 
exercised by officers, employees or contractors, bringing the total stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2012 to 
26,188,250. Subsequent to December 31, 2012, there were 5,816,000 options granted, 257,333 options exercised for common 
shares and 70,000 options forfeited by officers, employees or contractors, as well as 4,900,000 options that expired bringing 
the total number of stock options outstanding as at the date of this MD&A to 26,776,917.

risk Factors 

The oil and gas industry is very competitive and is subject to many risks. Many of these risks are outside of WesternZagros’s 
control. The ability of WesternZagros to successfully carry out its business plan beyond exploration is primarily dependent 
upon the continued support of its shareholders, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, meeting all commitments 
under the PSCs, the resolution of remaining political disputes in Iraq, progress on the federal petroleum law and the ability 
to export oil and natural gas from the Kurdistan Region in accordance with the economic terms under the PSCs, the state of 
the capital markets, the ability of WesternZagros to obtain financing as required to develop reserves, and the continued receipt 
of proceeds from the Sarqala-1 EWT. Management of WesternZagros has identified certain key risks and their potential impact 
on WesternZagros’s operations.

For further information on risk factors affecting the business of WesternZagros, see “Risk Factors” relating to the Company 
as referenced in the March 22, 2013 Annual Information Form (“AIF”).

criticaL accounting EstimatEs 

WesternZagros’s critical accounting estimates are defined as those estimates that have a significant impact on the portrayal 
of its financial position and operations and that require management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates in the 
application of IFRS. Judgments, assumptions and estimates are based on historical experience and other factors that management 
believes to be reasonable under current conditions. As events occur and additional information is obtained, these judgments, 
assumptions and estimates may be subject to change. WesternZagros believes the following are the critical accounting estimates 
used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements, which can also be found in Note 5 to the December 31, 2012 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
as at the date of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Such estimates relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the consolidated 
financial statements. Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimated amounts as future confirming events occur. 
Significant estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, recovery 
of asset carrying values, provision for decommissioning liabilities, income taxes, and share-based payments.

Recoverability of asset carrying value
At each reporting date, the Company assesses its exploration and evaluation and property, plant and equipment expenditures 
for possible impairment if events or circumstances indicate the carrying values of the assets might not be recoverable. Relevant 
indicators include the following: the continued progression of Management’s operational plans; new information obtained 
from wells that have been drilled or tested; changes or restrictions in access to drilling sites; changes in legal, regulatory, market, 
environmental, technological, or political factors that could impact ongoing operations; the ability of the Company to continue 
fulfilling ongoing commitments; and significant changes in the Company’s market value.

If factors indicate that the Company may need to recognize impairment, the carrying value of the assets for each cash-generating-
unit is compared to the greater of value-in-use or fair-value less costs to sell (“FVLCS”). It is anticipated that the FVLCS, would 
be more readily computed. Determination of the FVLCS amount and any resulting impairment involves the use of significant 
estimates and assumptions about future events and factors such as future commodity prices, the impact of inflation on operating 
expenses, discount rates, production profiles, the ability to produce and export crude oil and natural gas, the future capital 
costs needed to develop reserves, as well as the future marketability and availability of transportation for crude oil and natural 
gas that is produced.

At the reporting date, the Company is still in the exploration phase of operations on its PSC Lands. The Company has not 
recognized any impairment for exploration and evaluation expenditures nor for property, plant, and equipment.
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Exploration and evaluation expenditures
Applicable exploration costs incurred continue to be carried as E&E expenditures until such time that the technical feasibility 
and commercial viability of the crude oil and natural gas hydrocarbons has been demonstrated. At each reporting date, the 
Company assesses whether the technical feasibility and commercial viability has been demonstrated in order to determine 
if the E&E expenditures should then be assessed for impairment and transferred to development expenditures. This assessment 
includes but is not limited to, the recognition of reserves by a qualified independent reserves evaluator, a declaration of 
commerciality, uninterrupted and regular sales of production, or an approved development plan. As at the reporting date, 
the Company does not believe that is has demonstrated commercial viability and technical feasibility of its properties and, 
accordingly, has not yet incurred any development expenditures.

Prior to the conclusion of the E&E phase, any production is considered to be test production and any associated proceeds 
received, net of applicable costs, are credited to E&E expenditures when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
passed and the value of those sales can be reliably measured. For sales of test production into the Kurdistan domestic market, 
for which proceeds are received in advance from the buyers, the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit to E&E 
expenditures upon delivery of the associated test production. In regards to test production delivered for export from the 
Kurdistan Region, for which the payment mechanism is still developing, the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit 
to E&E expenditures upon the receipt of any associated proceeds.

Provision for decommissioning obligations
The Corporation recognizes both an asset and a provision for decommissioning obligations in the period in which they are 
incurred by estimating the fair value of the obligation. Provisions for environmental clean-up and remediation costs associated 
with the Corporation’s drilling operations are based on current legal and constructive requirements, technology, price levels 
and expected plans for remediation. Actual costs and cash outflows and the timing of those cash outflows can differ from 
estimates because of changes in laws and regulations, public expectations, prices, discovery and analysis of site conditions, 
future performance of wells drilled, and changes in clean-up technology. Estimating the timing and amount of cash outflows 
required to settle these obligations are inherently difficult and are based on Management’s current experience. A risk free rate 
has been used in the calculations. Any differences between actual and estimated decommissioning obligations would impact 
both the asset and the provision which then would impact future depletion on the asset as well as accretion on the provision.

Income tax
Tax regulations and legislation and the interpretations thereof in the jurisdictions that the Company operates are subject to change. 
As such, income taxes are subject to measurement uncertainty. Deferred income tax assets are assessed by Management 
based on all available information at the end of the reporting period to determine the likelihood that they will be realized 
from future taxable earnings.

Share-based payments
The estimates, assumptions, and judgments made in relation to the fair value of share-based payments and the associated 
expense recognition is subject to measurement uncertainty. The fair value of employee stock options is measured using a Black 
Scholes option pricing model. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, 
expected volatility, expected life of the instrument, estimated forfeitures, expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate.
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rEcEnt accounting PronouncEmEnts issuEd But not yEt EFFEctiVE

The IASB has issued the following standards which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with 
early adoption permitted. These new standards, none of which will have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements, are briefly summarized as follows:

IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements: IAS 27 replaces the existing IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements”. IAS 27 contains accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates when an entity prepares separate financial statements. IAS 27 requires an entity preparing separate financial 
statements to account for those investments at cost or in accordance with IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”.

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: IAS 28 prescribes the accounting for investments in associates 
and sets out the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements: IFRS 10 establishes the principles for the presentation and preparation of 
consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities. IFRS 10 replaces IAS 27 “Consolidated 
and	Separate	Financial	Statements”	and	SIC-12	“Consolidation	–	Special	Purpose	Entities”.

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements: IFRS 11 establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement, and 
requires entities to classify interests in joint arrangements as either a joint venture or a joint operation. Joint ventures will be 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for joint operations the entity will recognize it share of the 
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” and SIC-13 
“Jointly	Controlled	Entities	–	Non-monetary	Contributions	by	Venturers”.

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements relating to an entity’s 
interests in other entities such as joint arrangements, associates or unconsolidated structured entities, including special purpose 
vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosure requirements and also introduces 
significant additional disclosure requirements that address the nature and risk associated with interests in other entities.

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurements: IFRS 13 defines fair value and sets out a single IFRS framework for measuring fair 
value and the required disclosures about fair value measurements for use across all IFRS standards. IFRS 13 is intended to 
eliminate the inconsistencies in fair value measurement and the disclosure requirements contained in various other IFRS 
standards that refer to fair value.

The following standard issued by the IASB becomes effective January 1, 2015:
IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: IFRS 9 is the first part of a new standard on classification and measurement of financial 
assets and liabilities that will replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurements”.

For financial assets, IFRS 9 has two measurement categories: amortized cost and fair value. All equity instruments are measured 
at fair value. A debt instrument is at amortized cost only if the entity is holding it to collect contractual cash flows and the 
cash flows represent principal and interest. Otherwise it is at fair value through profit and loss.

For financial liabilities, although the classification criteria for financial liabilities will not change under IFRS 9, the approach 
to the fair value option for financial liabilities may require different accounting for changes to the fair value of a financial 
liability as a result of changes to an entity’s own credit risk.
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Independent  
Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of WesternZagros Resources Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements ofWesternZagros Resources Ltd., which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and the consolidated statements 
of comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
WesternZagros Resources Ltd. as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and its financial performance and its  
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants 
Calgary, Alberta

March 21, 2013

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
111 5th Avenue SW, Suite 3100, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 5L3 
T: +1 403 509 7500, F: +1 403 781 1825 
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.
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Management’s Responsibility  
for Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for the reliability and integrity of the consolidated financial statements, the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, and other financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report. 

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financing Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the IASB. Financial statements are not precise as they include certain amounts based on estimates 
and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial 
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report has 
been prepared on a basis consistent with that in the financial statements, unless otherwise stated.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and 
internal control and for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board is assisted in exercising 
its responsibilities through the Audit Committee of the Board.

The Audit Committee meets periodically with management and the auditors to satisfy itself that each is properly discharging 
its responsibilities, to review significant accounting and reporting matters and to review the consolidated financial statements.  
The Audit Committee reports its findings and recommends the approval of the consolidated financial statements to the Board.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited on behalf of the shareholders by the independent auditors 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.

M. Simon Hatfield 
Chief Executive Officer

Greg Stevenson 
Chief Financial Officer

March 22, 2013
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(thousands of United States dollars)
december 31, 

2012
 December 31, 

2011 

assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents (note 7) $ 146,835 $ 64,511

Short-term investments (note 7) - 9,997

Trade and other receivables (note 8) 459 327

Prepaid expenses and deferred costs 1,248 275

Income tax recoverable (note 9) 697 2,632

Total current assets 149,239 77,742

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment (note 10) 95 89

Exploration and evaluation expenditures (note 11) 275,041 261,608

Total non-current assets 275,136 261,697

total assets $ 424,375 $ 339,439

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (note 12) $ 69,603 $ 35,922

Income tax payable - 813

Total current liabilities 69,603 36,735

Non-current liabilities

Provision for decommissioning obligations (note 13) 4,207 1,728

Deferred tax liabilities (note 9) 206 175

Total non-current liabilities 4,413 1,903

total liabilities 74,016 38,638

Equity

Equity attributable to shareholders

Share capital (note 14) 399,240 341,681

Contributed surplus (note 15) 14,969 12,683

Accumulated deficit (63,850) (53,563)

total equity 350,359 300,801

total equity and liabilities $ 424,375 $ 339,439

Commitments and contingencies (note 21) 

Subsequent events (note 22)

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Fred J. Dyment Randall Oliphant
Director Director

58 / WesternZagros 2012 Annual Report



Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(thousands of United States dollars, except per share amounts) 2012 2011

other income

Interest income $ 123 $ 92

Expenses

General and administrative expenses (note 16) 11,003 8,472

Depreciation 60 201

Accretion on decommissioning obligations (note 13) 54 25

Foreign exchange (gain) loss (47) (228)

Total expenses 11,070 8,470

Loss before taxation 10,947 8,378

taxation

Current (note 9) (690) (1,726)

Deferred (note 9) 30 221

Total taxation (recovery) (660) (1,505)

total loss and comprehensive loss attributable to shareholders $  10,287  $ 6,873

net loss per share – basic and diluted (note 18) $ 0.027  $ 0.023

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(thousands of United States dollars)

number  
of shares

share  
capital

contributed 
surplus

accumulated 
deficit

total  
equity

Balance January 1, 2011 207,464,320 $ 253,583 $ 11,223 $ (46,690) $ 218,116

Issuance of common shares 163,665,352 90,185 – – 90,185

Share issuance costs – (2,151) – – (2,151)

Options exercised (note 15) 79,800 64 (22) – 42

Share based payments (note 15, 

16)

– – 1,482 – 1,482

Loss for the period – – – (6,873) (6,873)

Balance december 31, 2011 371,209,472 341,681 12,683 (53,563) 300,801

Issuance of common shares 40,714,286 57,436 – – 57,436

Share issuance costs - (29) – – (29)

Options exercised (note 15) 177,067 152 (57) – 95

Share based payments (note 15, 

16)

– – 2,343 – 2,343

Loss for the period – – – (10,287) (10,287)

Balance december 31, 2012 412,100,825 $ 399,240 $ 14,969 $ (63,850) $ 350,359

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(thousands of United States dollars) 2012 2011 

cash flow from operating activities

Net loss before taxation $ (10,947) $ (8,378)

Adjustments for

Depreciation 60 201

Accretion (note 13) 54 25

Share based payments (note 15, 16) 1,374 860

Income taxes recovered, net 1,812 794

Change in non-cash operating working capital (note 20) 497 (232)

Net cash from (used in) operating activities (7,150) (6,730)

cash flow from investing activities

Proceeds received upon assignment of third party participant (note 11) 82,856 –

Settlement of EWT production sharing terms (note 11) (26,434) –

Expenditures on exploration and evaluation activities (note 11, 20) (74,162) (72,298)

Gross oil sales proceeds from extended well test (note 11) 39,632 12,879

Short-term investments 9,997 (9,997)

Disposals of exploration and evaluation assets 149 482

Insurance recoveries (note 11) - 20,646

Additions to property, plant and equipment (note 10) (66) (29)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 31,972 (48,317)

cash flow from financing activities

Issuance of common shares, net of costs (note 14) 57,407 88,034

Proceeds from options exercised 95 42

Net cash from (used in) financing activities 57,502 88,076

change in cash and cash equivalents 82,324 33,029

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 64,511 31,482

cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 146,835 $ 64,511

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

60 / WesternZagros 2012 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

(thousands of United States dollars)

1. gEnEraL inFormation

WesternZagros Resources Ltd. (the “Company” or “WesternZagros”) is headquartered in Calgary, Canada. The Company is 
incorporated	under	the	laws	of	the	Province	of	Alberta,	Canada.	The	address	for	the	Company	is	Suite	600,	440	–	2nd	Avenue	S.W.,	
Calgary, Alberta, T2P 5E9.

WesternZagros is a publicly-traded, Calgary-based, international oil and gas company engaged in acquiring properties and 
exploring for, appraising and producing crude oil and natural gas in Iraq. WesternZagros holds two Production Sharing Contracts 
(“PSCs”) with the Kurdistan Regional Government (“KRG”) in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. The Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs 
each govern a separate contract area. The Garmian contract area (1,780 square kilometres) is operated by WesternZagros. The 
Company holds a 40 percent interest in the Garmian PSC, the KRG holds a 20 percent interest and the remaining 40 percent 
interest is held by Gazprom Neft Middle East B.V. (“Gazprom Neft”). The Kurdamir contract area (340 square kilometres) is 
operated by Talisman (Block K44) B.V. (“Talisman”) with a 40 percent working interest, WesternZagros holds a 40 percent 
working interest and the KRG holds a 20 percent working interest.

The	Company	has	its	listing	on	the	TSX	Venture	Exchange	under	the	symbol	“WZR.V”.

Authorization of financial statements
These consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2012 were authorized for issuance in accordance 
with a resolution of the Board of Directors on March 22, 2013.

2. Basis oF PrEParation

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as 
issued by the IASB, and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that were published at the 
time of preparation and that were effective or available for early adoption on December 31, 2012. These consolidated financial 
statements, including the prior year comparative information, have been prepared in compliance with IFRS. The Company 
has consistently applied the accounting policies disclosed within these financial statements to all periods presented herein.

3. signiFicant accounting PoLiciEs

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are described below.

A. Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, and have been 
prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for certain cash flow information. The accounting policies, as described in 
further detail in this note, have been consistently applied to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

These consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in United States dollars (“U.S.”). The Company 
has adopted the U.S. dollar as its functional and reporting currency since most of its expenses are directly or indirectly denominated in 
U.S. dollars. When revenues are realized, it is expected that U.S. dollars would be received. All references herein to U.S. $ or 
to $ are to United States dollars and references herein to Cdn$ are to Canadian dollars. These consolidated financial statements 
are rounded to the nearest thousand (U.S.$000) except where otherwise indicated.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of critical accounting estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the reporting date, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates relate 
to unsettled transactions and events at the reporting date. Accordingly, actual results may ultimately differ from the estimated 
amounts as future confirming events occur. Areas that involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 5 “Critical accounting 
judgements, estimates and assumptions”.
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 B. Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries as follows:

wholly-owned subsidiary Jurisdiction nature of operations

WesternZagros Resources Inc. Canada Holding Company

Western Oil International Holdings Limited Cyprus Holding Company

WesternZagros Limited Cyprus Exploration Company

WesternZagros (Garmian) Limited Cyprus Inactive

These subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies. The 
Company has100 percent direct ownership of these entities. Accordingly, the subsidiaries are fully consolidated within the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Inter-company transactions and balances, including unrealized income and expenses arising from inter-company transactions,  
are eliminated in full in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

C. Jointly controlled assets under the PSCs

The jointly controlled assets under the PSCs offer joint ownership by the Company and its co-venturers to the PSCs for assets 
contributed to the ongoing exploration project in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. The Company recognizes its share of the jointly 
controlled assets and its share of the joint liabilities incurred under the PSCs (refer to Note 21 “Commitments and contingencies” 
for a description of the PSCs).

D. Foreign currency translation

These consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, which is the Company’s functional and reporting currency.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates 
of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the statement of financial position, any resulting exchange rate 
differences are recorded in the statement of comprehensive loss. Non-monetary items are measured at historical exchange rates.

E. Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Crude oil and natural gas exploration and evaluation expenditures (“E&E expenditures”) are accounted for using a modified 
‘successful	efforts’	method	of	accounting.	Accordingly,	the	Company	accounts	for	its	share	of	costs	relating	to	the	acquisition	
of, exploration for, and evaluation of crude oil and natural gas assets, including related provisions for decommissioning liabilities, 
as E&E expenditures. E&E expenditures include, but are not limited to, license and land acquisition costs; topographical, geological, 
geochemical, and geophysical costs or studies; drilling and testing of exploratory and non-productive wells; costs related to 
evaluating the technical feasibility or commercial viability of extracting mineral reserves; carrying costs directly related to unproved 
properties; major development projects; and administrative costs directly related to exploration and evaluation activities. 
Any insurance recoveries received in relation to an insurable event pertaining to E&E activities are credited to E&E expenditures. 
Costs incurred prior to obtaining the rights to explore are expensed in the statement of comprehensive loss.

The costs will continue to be carried as E&E expenditures until such time that the technical feasibility and commercial viability 
of the crude oil and natural gas hydrocarbons has been demonstrated. Determining the classification of E&E expenditures 
versus development expenditures requires significant judgement. Whether the technical feasibility and commercial viability 
has been demonstrated is assessed on an ongoing basis by the Company. This assessment includes but is not limited to, the 
recognition of reserves by a qualified independent reserves evaluator, a declaration of commerciality, uninterrupted and regular 
sales of production, or an approved development plan. As at the reporting date, the Company does not believe that is has 
demonstrated commercial viability and technical feasibility of its properties.

Once the Company believes it has demonstrated commercial viability and technical feasibility of its properties, the applicable 
E&E expenditures are then assessed for impairment and transferred to development expenditures. Prior thereto, any production 
is considered to be test production and any associated proceeds received during the E&E phase, net of applicable costs, are 
credited to E&E expenditures when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed and the value of those sales 
can be reliably measured. The accounting treatment related to hydrocarbon sales during the E&E phase requires significant 
judgement. For any sales of test production into the Kurdistan domestic market, proceeds are received in advance from the 
buyers for which the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit to E&E expenditures upon delivery of the associated 
test production. For any sales of test production delivered for export, the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit 
to E&E expenditures upon the receipt of any associated proceeds, as the payment mechanism is still developing for crude 
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oil exported from the Kurdistan Region of Iraq and consequently the value of crude oil delivered for export cannot be reliably 
measured at the time of delivery. As at the date of these financial statements the Company is an exploration stage company 
and has not yet incurred any development expenditures.

Accumulated E&E expenditures are assessed for impairment if: a) sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility and 
commercial viability; and b) facts or circumstances suggest the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. Indicators 
of impairment are considered at least annually or whenever facts and circumstances indicate potential impairment. For the 
purposes of impairment testing, E&E expenditures are allocated on a cashgenerating unit (“CGU”) basis. The Company has 
established that each PSC entered into be identified as a separate CGU. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by 
which the E&E expenditure’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the E&E 
expenditure’s fair value less costs to sell and their value in use. Impairment losses are recognized immediately in the statement 
of comprehensive income (loss). If facts and circumstances subsequently indicate that a reversal of a previous impairment 
loss is warranted, the carrying value is increased up to the recoverable amount, with the reversal limited to the original loss 
amount. As at the reporting date no impairment has been recognized.

No depreciation or amortization is charged against exploration and evaluation expenditures.

F. Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less depreciation, and are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful lives based on the following annual rates:

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20%

Computer hardware and software 33%

Leasehold improvements over the associated lease term

Whenever events or circumstances dictate, the Company compares the carrying value of property, plant and equipment to 
the higher of its value in use and fair value less costs to sell, based on estimated discounted future cash flows, to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.

G. Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in the bank, less outstanding cheques, and short-term highly liquid deposits with 
maturity dates of three months or less.

Short-term investments are highly liquid deposits with maturity dates between three and six months.

H. Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the Company’s statement of financial position when the Company becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are de-recognized when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial assets expire or when the contractual rights to those assets are transferred. Financial liabilities 
are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, or expired.

Upon initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments into one of the following categories based on the 
purpose for which the instruments were acquired:

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – this category is comprised of derivatives, or assets acquired 
or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, except for those derivatives designated as 
hedges. They are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the 
comprehensive statement of income (loss) for the period. The Company has not classified any instruments in this category, 
and has not identified any material embedded derivatives in any of its financial instruments.

available-for-sale financial assets – this category is comprised of non-derivative investments designated as available for sale 
and can include marketable securities and investments in debt and equity securities. Available-for-sale investments are recognized 
initially at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in 
fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income. Available-for-sale investments are classified as non-current, unless 
the investments mature within twelve months, or management expects to dispose of them within twelve months. The Company 
has not classified any instruments in this category.

Loans and receivables – this category is comprised of non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. The Company’s loans and receivables are comprised of cash and cash equivalents, 
short-term investments and trade and other receivables and are included in current assets due to their short-term nature.
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Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be received less, when material, a discount to 
reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost – this category is comprised of financial liabilities measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method, which includes trade and other payables.

I. Impairment of financial instruments

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. If such 
evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as follows:

Financial assets carried at amortized cost – the impairment loss is the difference between the amortized cost of the loan or 
receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective 
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by this amount either directly or indirectly through the use of an 
allowance account.

available for sale financial assets – the impairment loss is the difference between the original cost of the asset and its fair 
value at the measurement date, less any impairment losses previously recognized in the statement of loss. This amount 
represents the cumulative loss in accumulated other comprehensive income that is reclassified to net income. 

Impairment losses on financial instruments carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of 
the loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized. 
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity instruments are not reversed.

J. Provision for decommissioning obligations

Provision for decommissioning obligations are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. Provision is made for the present value of the future cost of abandonment 
of oil and gas wells and related facilities. The Company recognizes the initial spud date as the obligating event for each well 
location. The Company currently has no other facilities or infrastructure relating to petroleum operations that would require 
future abandonment activities. When the provision is first recognized a corresponding amount equivalent to the provision is 
also currently recognized as part of the cost of E&E expenditures.

The amount recognized is the estimated cost of decommissioning activities based on internal engineering estimates prevailing 
at the reporting date, discounted to its present value utilizing a pre-tax risk-free interest rate. Changes in the estimated timing 
of decommissioning or decommissioning cost estimates are dealt with prospectively by recording an adjustment to the provision, 
with a corresponding adjustment to E&E expenditures, and are updated at each reporting date to reflect the current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

The liability is increased each period due to the passage of time and the associated accretion is expensed to income in the period.

K. Taxation including deferred taxation

Tax expense represents current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 
or loss except to the extent that it relates to items directly in equity, in which case the related income tax impact is recognized 
in equity.

Current tax is based on the taxable profits for the period using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted and any 
adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on a non-discounted basis, using the liability method, based on the 
differences between the carrying values in the consolidated financial statements and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. Deferred taxes are calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Tax assets and liabilities are recognized on an entity by entity basis as the Company does not have the legal right to offset 
recognized amounts between entities.

L. Share capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares are recognized as a 
deduction from equity in the period in which the equity is issued and prior thereto are treated as deferred costs.
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M. Share-based payments

The Company has established a Stock Option Plan for the issuance of options to directors, officers, employees and consultants 
to purchase Common Shares of the Company. The vesting period and expiry date for each option grant is set at the discretion 
of the Board of Directors. Each vesting tranche is considered a separate award with its own vesting period. The fair value of 
each tranche is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Compensation costs are recognized 
over the vesting period for each particular tranche based on the number of awards expected to vest, with a corresponding 
increase to contributed surplus. Compensation costs directly related to exploration activities are capitalized, costs related 
to non-exploration activities are treated as general and administrative expenses. The number of option awards expected to 
vest is reviewed at each reporting date, with any impact being recognized immediately. 

The cash proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, together with the amount recorded to contributed 
surplus are credited to share capital when the options are exercised.

N. Other income

The Company recognizes other income on an accrual basis and is related to the interest income earned on the Company’s 
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment balances.

O. Fair value 

The fair value of instruments, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables approximate their carrying amounts 
due to the short term maturity of the instruments.

P. Loss per share

The Company presents the basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing the loss 
attributable to the shareholders of the Company by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period. Diluted income per share is determined by adjusting the income attributable to the common shareholders and 
the average number of common shares outstanding for the period for the effects of all potential dilutive common shares. 
Note that by definition, for periods in which there is a loss attributable to the common shareholders, there can be no dilutive 
impact on the loss per share calculation.

Q. Recent accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards as issued by the IASB are not yet effective 
for the period ending December 31, 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 
The following mandatory standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards, which are briefly summarized 
below, are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, none of which will have a material impact on 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements:

ias 27 – separate Financial statements:

IAS 27 replaces the existing IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”. IAS 27 contains accounting and 
disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate 
financial statements. IAS 27 requires an entity preparing separate financial statements to account for those investments  
at cost or in accordance with IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”.

ias 28 – investments in associates and Joint Ventures:

IAS 28 prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the application of the equity method when 
accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures.

iFrs 10 – consolidated Financial statements:

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of 
an entity so as to obtain benefits from it activities. IFRS 10 replaces IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” 
and	SIC-12	“Consolidation	–	Special	Purpose	Entities”.
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iFrs 11 – Joint arrangements:

IFRS 11 establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement, and requires entities to classify interests 
in joint arrangements as either a joint venture or a joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting whereas for joint operations the entity will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses 
of	the	joint	operation.	IFRS	11	replaces	IAS	31	“Interests	in	Joint	Ventures”	and	SIC-13	“Jointly	Controlled	Entities	–	Non-monetary	
Contributions by Venturers”.

iFrs 12 – disclosure of interests in other Entities:

IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements relating to an entity’s interests in other entities such as joint arrangements, associates 
or unconsolidated structured entities, including special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries 
forward existing disclosure requirements and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address the 
nature and risk associated with interests in other entities.

iFrs 13 – Fair Value measurements:

IFRS 13 defines fair value and sets out a single comprehensive IFRS framework for measuring fair value and the required 
disclosures about fair value measurements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, 
at the measurement date. IFRS 13 is intended to eliminate the inconsistencies in fair value measurement and the disclosure 
requirements contained in various other IFRS standards that refer to fair value.

The following standard issued by the IASB becomes effective January 1, 2015:

iFrs 9 – Financial instruments:

IFRS 9 addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and replaces the multiple category and 
measurement models contained in IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurements”. For financial assets, IFRS 9 
contains only two measurement categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit and loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the 
models for measuring equity instruments, all equity instruments are measured at fair value, either through profit and loss or other 
comprehensive income. Where equity investments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, dividends 
are recognized in profit or loss to the extent they do not clearly represent a return of investment; however, other gains and 
losses (including impairments) associated with such instruments remain in accumulated comprehensive income indefinitely.

For financial liabilities, IFRS 9 largely carries forward the existing requirements of IAS 39, except that fair value changes due 
to credit risk for liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss are generally recorded in other comprehensive income.

4. FinanciaL risk managEmEnt

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade and other receivables 
and trade and other payables. The main risks that could adversely affect the Company’s financial instruments are credit risk, 
liquidity and funding risk, and market and interest rate risk. 

Risk management is carried out by senior management, and is reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors. The Company’s 
risk management program concentrates mainly on securing the necessary financial resources required to minimize the potential 
risk that the Company is not able to meet its ongoing obligations and commitments. The risk management policies employed 
by the Company are discussed below:

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The Company is 
currently exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments to the extent these balances 
are invested with various institutions. The Board of Directors of the Company has approved an Investment Policy to dictate 
the various types of instruments and institutions that can be invested in and monitors these against this policy on a regular 
basis. Currently, the Company has entered into transactions for cash equivalents with major Canadian financial institutions 
with investment grade credit ratings.

The Company is also exposed to credit risk for any amounts owing by Gazprom Neft for its share of costs related to the activities 
carried out while WesternZagros continues as operator of the Garmian Block. The ability of the Company to successfully carry 
out the exploration, appraisal and development of its PSC contract areas may be impacted by the ongoing receipt of Gazprom 
Neft’s share of costs incurred in relation to the Garmian PSC activities.
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With respect to the Company’s financial assets, the maximum exposure to credit risk due to default of a counter party is 
equal to the carrying value of these instruments. The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date is as follows:

as at december 31 2012 2011

Cash and cash equivalents $ 146,835 $ 64,511

Short-term investments - 9,997

Trade and other receivables 459 327

Total $ 147,294 $ 74,835

There are no past due or impaired amounts as at the reporting date. Accordingly, the Company does not expect any losses 
from non-performance by these counterparties, and has not recorded a provision against any of these amounts as it does 
not consider the balances to be impaired.

There was no credit risk associated with sales of test oil from the Sarqala-1 extended well test (“EWT”) into the Kurdistan Region 
domestic market during the period October 3011 to May 2012, as each of the purchase and sales contracts were fully prepaid  
in advance by the buyers.

However, there is credit risk associated with any test oil delivered for export. Under the auspices of the Ministry of Natural 
Resources, the Company recommenced the Sarqala-1 EWT on November 8, 2012. Deliveries continued until November 27, 
2012 when the Ministry of Natural Resources requested that production be halted, with approximately 88,000 (gross) barrels 
of crude oil delivered for export during that period. The Company expects its net entitlement for any test oil exports to be 
based upon the terms of the Garmian PSC, however the Company has not yet been paid for the exported oil. There is uncertainty 
relating to the amount and the timing for receipt of any associated proceeds and, accordingly, the Company has not recorded 
any receivable for the value of exported volumes as at the reporting date.

Liquidity and funding risk
Liquidity and funding risk is the risk that the Company may be unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash or its equivalent in 
a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments as they become due. The Company is in the exploration phase 
of operations and is engaged in acquiring properties and exploring for crude oil and natural gas. The Company funds its 
share of commitments from existing cash balances and short-term investments, future net proceeds from any sales of test 
production and, if required, by accessing additional sources of funding from debt or equity markets. Significant liquidity and 
funding events from 2011 onwards include the following:

•	 During	2011,	the	Company	completed	two	private	placements	of	common	shares	for	total	gross	proceeds	of	$90.2	million;

•	 During	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	the	Company	commenced	an	extended	well	test	at	the	Sarqala-1	oil	discovery	and	sold	
test production into the Kurdistan Region domestic market under the auspices of the Ministry of Natural Resources and 
received $12.9 million in gross proceeds for the three month period ended December 31, 2011;

•	 Under	the	auspices	of	the	Ministry	of	Natural	Resources,	the	Company	continued	the	Sarqala-1	EWT	and	received	a	further	
$39.6 million in gross proceeds from the sales of test production into the Kurdistan Region domestic market for the five 
month period ended May 31, 2012. As a combined total, WesternZagros received gross cash proceeds of $52.5 million 
from sales of test oil during the period October 2011 to May 2012;

•	 During	the	third	quarter	of	2012,	the	Company	collected	a	net	total	of	$56.5	million	in	proceeds	following	the	KRG	assignment	
of the Third Party Participant Interest (“TPPI”) in the Garmian PSC to Gazprom Neft, which was comprised of the following:

i. Cash proceeds of $82.9 million were received from Gazprom Neft due to the recovery of Gazprom Neft’s share of back 
costs pertaining to Garmian Block activities for the period January 1, 2011 to May 31, 2012, net of Gazprom Neft’s share 
of Recovery Oil from the historic sales of test production from the Sarqala-1 EWT; and

ii. WesternZagros also paid the KRG $26.4 million upon the retroactive application of the terms of the Garmian PSC in 
regards to the deemed gross sales received from the Sarqala-1 EWT during the period October 2011 to May 2012;

•	 During	the	third	quarter	of	2012,	the	Company	completed	a	non-brokered	private	placement	of	common	shares	with	
Crest Energy International LLC (“Crest”) for total gross proceeds of $57.4 million;

•	 Subsequent	to	December	31,	2012,	the	Company	received	a	total	of	$119.9	million	in	proceeds	from	Crest	after	securing	debt	
of $57.5 million and securing approximately $62.4 million through a nonbrokered, private placement by issuing 51 million 
common shares of the Company to Crest at a price of Cdn$1.25 per common share; and

•	 Also	subsequent	to	December	31,	2012,	the	Company	finalized	terms	of	a	further	marketed	private	placement	to	sell	up	to	
11,431,422 common shares at a price of Cdn$1.25 per common share for gross proceeds of approximately $13.9 million and 
which is anticipated to close on April 4, 2013. It is expected that proceeds from the private placement will be used to reduce 
the principal amount outstanding under the Crest loan.
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The Company may require additional funding over time to maintain ongoing exploration programs and property commitments, 
as well as for administration expenses. In general, the Company’s ability to continue its operations and exploration activities 
is dependent upon its ability to sell oil and gas from any extended well tests or from any of its discoveries that are ultimately 
developed, or to obtain additional funding over time as required. Any additional funding that may be required above and beyond 
the Company’s net entitlement to any future sales proceeds received, if any, from extended well tests or other discoveries 
that may be developed is dependent upon the level and timing of exploration and appraisal activities pursued by the Company 
and the funding requirements of the Company under the relevant PSCs.

As at the December 31, 2012, the Company had not entered into any debt financing arrangements and was not subject to any 
externally imposed capital requirements. Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Company secured debt of $57.5 million from 
Crest that shall accrue interest at 6 percent per annum. The debt and accrued interest is to be repaid in September 2014 
(refer to Note 22 “Subsequent events” for a description of the Crest financing transaction). 

At December 31, 2012, financial liabilities included trade and other payables. The Company also has certain commitments related 
to the Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs as well as various other commitments (refer to Note 21 “Commitments and contingencies” 
for a further description of the Company’s commitments). The estimated timing of cash outflows relating to financial liabilities 
and the Company’s exploration commitments as at the reporting date is summarized as follows (U.S. $000s):

as at december 31, 2012
Less than 

 six months
Six months 

 to 1 year 2–5 years Total

Trade and other payables $ 69,603 	– 	– $ 69,603

Total expected cash outflow $ 69,603 	– 	– $ 69,603

as at december 31, 2011

Trade and other payables $ 35,922 	– 	– $ 35,922

Income tax payable 813 	– 	– 813

Total expected cash outflow $ 36,735 – – $ 36,735

The Company’s capital structure consists of shareholder’s equity, working capital and debt (refer to Note 22 “Subsequent 
events” for a description of debt financing obtained by the Company subsequent to December 31, 2012). The Company will 
adjust its capital structure to manage its drilling programs through the issuance of shares, the issuance and/or repayment  
of debt and adjustments to capital spending. The Company’s objectives when managing its capital structure are as follows:

i. Ensure adequate levels of available cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments to meet the Company’s 
commitments under the Garmian and Kurdamir PSCs (also refer to Note 21 “Commitments and contingencies”); and

ii. To prudently fund expenditures related to the acquisition of properties, and for exploration, appraisal and development  
of crude oil and natural gas properties.

The Board of Directors regularly reviews the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and the timing 
of any required debt repayments against the Company’s expenditure commitments and estimates the need and timing for 
additional equity or debt financing. This review includes estimating the potential net proceeds to be derived from crude oil 
sales during any extended well testing.

Market and interest rate risk
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates 
and equity or commodity prices received from both the export market or from the local Kurdistan Region domestic market. 
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that changes in market interest rates will impact interest earned 
on the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments and may impact interest incurred on any 
outstanding debt instruments. The Company is also exposed to foreign exchange risk, as the majority of costs are 
anticipated to be incurred in U.S. dollars while the funds it will have available to it may be in other currencies.

The Company’s Investment Policy dictates the various types of instruments and institutions that can be invested in and 
monitors these against this policy on a regular basis. The Board of Directors has also approved a Foreign Exchange Policy 
to dictate the currencies held by the Company and the instruments that can be utilized by the Company to meet its day to 
day requirements. This Foreign Exchange Policy requires the Company to hold the majority of its cash and cash equivalents 
and short term investments in U.S. dollars and sets out the type and duration of instruments that can be used to meet the 
Company’s day to day foreign exchange requirements. The Foreign Exchange Policy does allow the Company to hold other 
balances, mainly Canadian dollars, to meet its funding needs for general and administrative and other spending requirements 
in these currencies. Neither aforementioned policy permits the Company to enter into any economic hedging as it relates to 
interest or foreign exchange risks. As at December 31, 2012, had the U.S. dollar changed by one percent against the Canadian 
dollar, with all other variables held constant, the Company’s foreign exchange gain (loss) would have been affected by 
approximately $0.1 million  (2011: $0.1 million).
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In general, both crude oil and natural gas prices are subject to wide fluctuation. During the year ended December 31, 2012, 
Brent daily spot crude prices ranged in value from $89 to $128 per barrel. WesternZagros originally negotiated the economic 
terms of the Original PSC in 2007 in a crude oil price environment of approximately $50 per barrel. Any significant and sustained 
decline in crude oil prices that may be received which are below that price and that are subject to the terms of the PSCs may 
impact the feasibility of WesternZagros’s business plan.

For any sales of test production into the Kurdistan Region domestic market, the Company is subject to both market conditions 
and commodity price fluctuations. Local sales prices are lower than the prevailing international prices. Any change in the 
sustainability, longevity and continuation of the local domestic market in the Kurdistan Region or fluctuation in the prices received 
could have a considerable impact on any future cash proceeds received by WesternZagros.

For any test production delivered for export from the Kurdistan Region of Iraq, the marketability and price of any exports is, 
and will continue to be, affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control including the impact that the various levels 
of government may have on the ultimate price received for crude oil and natural gas sales. In addition, the timing of payments 
received by the Company for any exports would be uncertain as the payment mechanism for export sales from the Kurdistan 
Region of Iraq is still developing. The Company’s ability to market its crude oil and natural gas may depend on its ability to 
secure transportation. The Company may also be affected by deliverability uncertainties related to the proximity of its potential 
production to pipelines and processing facilities and operational problems affecting such pipelines and facilities as well as 
potential government regulation relating to price, the export of crude oil and natural gas and other aspects of the the crude 
oil and natural gas business. To date, the Company has not been paid its net entitlement for the approximate 88,000 bbls 
(gross) of test oil delivered for export from the Kurdistan Region during November 2012.

5. criticaL accounting JudgEmEnts, EstimatEs and assumPtions

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities as at the reporting date, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Such estimates relate to unsettled transactions and events as at the reporting date. Accordingly, actual results may ultimately differ 
from the estimated amounts as future confirming events occur. Areas that involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed below.

A. Recoverability of asset carrying values

At each reporting date, the Company assesses its exploration and evaluation and property, plant and equipment expenditures 
for possible impairment if events or circumstances indicate the carrying values of the assets might not be recoverable. Relevant 
indicators include the following: the continued progression of Management’s operational plans; new information obtained 
from wells that have been drilled or tested; changes or restrictions in access to drilling sites; changes in legal, regulatory, market, 
environmental, technological, or political factors that could impact ongoing operations; the ability of the Company to continue 
fulfilling ongoing commitments; and significant changes in the Company’s market value.

If factors indicate that the Company may need to recognize impairment, the carrying value of the assets for each cash-generating-
unit is compared to the greater of value-in-use or fair-value less costs to sell. The determination of the value-in-use amount, 
which is based on discounted future cash flows, and any resulting impairment involves the use of significant estimates and 
assumptions about future events and factors such as future commodity prices, the impact of inflation on operating expenses, 
discount rates, production profiles, the ability to produce and export crude oil and natural gas, the future capital costs needed to 
develop reserves, as well as the future marketability and availability of transportation for crude oil and natural gas that is produced. 

At the reporting date, the Company is still in the exploration phase of operations on both the Garmian and Kurdamir Blocks. 
The Company has not recognized any impairment for E&E expenditures nor for property, plant, and equipment. 

B. Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Applicable exploration costs incurred continue to be carried as E&E expenditures until such time that the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of the crude oil and natural gas hydrocarbons has been demonstrated. At each reporting date, the Company 
assesses whether the technical feasibility and commercial viability has been demonstrated in order to determine if the E&E 
expenditures should then be assessed for impairment and transferred to development expenditures. This assessment includes but 
is not limited to, the recognition of reserves by a qualified independent reserves evaluator, a declaration of commerciality, 
uninterrupted and regular sales of production, or an approved development plan. As at the reporting date, the Company 
does not believe that is has demonstrated commercial viability and technical feasibility of its properties and, accordingly, 
has not yet incurred any development expenditures.
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Prior to the conclusion of the E&E phase, any production is considered to be test production and any associated proceeds 
received, net of applicable costs, are credited to E&E expenditures when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
passed and the value of those sales can be reliably measured. For sales of test production into the Kurdistan domestic market, 
for which proceeds are received in advance from the buyers, the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit to E&E 
expenditures upon delivery of the associated test production. In regards to test production delivered for export from the 
Kurdistan Region, for which the payment mechanism is still developing, the Company’s net entitlement is recognized as a credit 
to E&E expenditures upon the receipt of any associated proceeds. 

C. Provision for decommissioning obligations

The Company recognizes both an asset and a provision for decommissioning obligations in the period in which they are incurred 
by estimating the fair value of the obligation. The Company has chosen to base the fair value calculations on a risk-free discount 
rate, rather than a credit-adjusted risk-free rate, which is a critical accounting judgement under IFRS. Provisions for environmental 
clean-up and remediation costs associated with the Company’s drilling operations are based on current legal and constructive 
requirements, technology, price levels and expected plans for remediation. Actual costs and cash outflows and the timing of 
those cash outflows can differ from estimates because of changes in laws and regulations, public expectations, prices, discovery 
and analysis of site conditions, future performance of wells drilled, and changes in clean-up technology. Estimating the timing 
and amount of cash outflows required to settle these obligations are inherently difficult and are based on Management’s 
current experience. Any differences between actual and estimated decommissioning obligations would impact both the asset 
and the provision, which would then impact future depreciation of the asset as well as accretion on the provision.

D. Income tax

Tax regulations and legislation and the interpretations thereof in the jurisdictions that the Company operates are subject to 
change. As such, income taxes are subject to measurement uncertainty. Deferred income tax assets are assessed by Management 
based on all available information at the end of the reporting period to determine the likelihood that they will be realized from 
future taxable earnings.

E. Share-based payments

The estimates, assumptions, and judgments made in relation to the fair value of share-based payments and the associated 
expense recognition is subject to measurement uncertainty. The fair value of employee stock options is measured using a 
Black Scholes option pricing model. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the 
instrument, expected volatility, expected life of the instrument, expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate.

6. sEgmEnt rEPorting

For the purposes of segment reporting, the Company is in the exploration phase and has one significant asset related to its 
interest in the PSCs with the KRG in respect of an exploration project in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. Accordingly, the Company 
has identified one segment for operational activities carried out in the country of Iraq. Refer to Note 21 “Commitments and 
contingencies” for a description of the PSCs.

7. casH and casH EQuiVaLEnts and sHort-tErm inVEstmEnts

as at december 31 2012 2011

Cash and cash equivalents:

Bank balances $ 44,688 $ 3,212

Term deposits 102,147 61,299

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 146,835 $ 64,511

Short-term investments:

Term deposits $ – $ 9,997

Total short-term investments $ – $ 9,997
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8. tradE and otHEr rEcEiVaBLEs

current as at december 31 2012 2011

Other receivables $ 459 $ 327

Total trade and other receivables $ 459 $ 327

Other receivables relates mainly to a GST receivable and balances owing from certain payables vendors that have yet to be 
realized. All classes within trade and other receivables do not contain any impaired assets.

9. taxation

For the years ended december 31 2012 2011

Current tax:

Recovery for the year $ (697) $ (1,819)

Adjustments in respect of prior years 7 93

Total current tax expense (recovery) $ (690) $ (1,726)

Deferred tax:

Origination	and	reversal	of	temporary	differences – current	year $ 30 $ 221

Total deferred tax expense $ 30 $ 221

Total taxation expense (recovery) $ (660) $ (1,505)

Income tax expense (recovery) differs from that which would be expected from applying the combined statutory Canadian 
federal and provincial tax rate of 25.0 percent (2011: 26.5 percent) due to the following:

For the years ended december 31 2012 2011

Net loss before taxation $ (10,947) $ (8,378)

Statutory tax rate 25% 26.5%

Taxation (recovery) at statutory tax rate $ (2,737) $ (2,220)

Reconciling items:

Losses in foreign jurisdiction with no tax benefit 401 853

Stock-based compensation 585 228

Adjustments in respect of prior years 7 93

Previously unrecognized non-capital losses – (69)

Impact of issuance costs not included in loss before taxation (109) (99)

Effect of carrying back losses at a higher year tax rate (38) (155)

Non-deductible expense 12 7

Impact of recognized currency differential on loss carry-backs – (446)

Current year loss not recognized as a deferred tax asset 1,211 337

Other 8 (34)

Total taxation (recovery) $ (660) $ (1,505)

The Canadian statutory tax rate decreased to 25.0% in 2012 (2011: 26.5%) as a result of tax legislation enacted in 2007.
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The analysis of deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

deferred tax liabilities as at december 31 2012 2011

To be recovered within 12 months $ – $	 –

To be recovered after more than 12 months 206 175

Total deferred income tax liability $ 206 $ 175

The deferred income tax liability is comprised of:

deferred income tax liability as at december 31 2012 2011

Temporary differences on property, plant and equipment $ 206 $ 175

Non-capital loss carry-forwards  – 	 –

Total deferred income tax liability $ 206 $ 175

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.

The Company has not recorded deferred tax assets in respect of the following temporary differences:

temporary differences december 31 2012 2011

Non-capital loss carry-forwards $ 6,109 $ 1,270

Share issue costs 2,145 2,508

Property, plant and equipment – 51

Total temporary differences $ 8,254 $ 3,829

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a $4.8 million non-capital loss forward from the current tax year and a $1.3 
million non-capital loss carry-forward from the prior tax year, both of which would be available to offset against future 
taxable income. These losses will expire on December 31, 2032 and 2031 respectively.

As at December 31, 2012, the Company also had a deferred tax liability of $469 (2011: $469) for temporary differences of 
$3,751 related to an investment in the shares of a subsidiary which was not recognized because the Company controls 
whether the liability will be incurred and is satisfied that it will not be incurred in the foreseeable future.

10. ProPErty, PLant and EQuiPmEnt

As at the reporting date, property, plant and equipment is comprised of office and computer equipment and leasehold 
improvements. As the Company is still in the exploration stage, all oil and gas assets, including assets related to provisions  
for decommissioning obligations, are classified within exploration and evaluation assets.

as at december 31 2012 2011

Costs $ 1,926 $ 1,860

Accumulated depreciation (1,831) (1,771)

Net book value $ 95 $ 89

For the years ended december 31 2012 2011

Opening net book value $ 89 $ 261

Additions 66 29

Depreciation (60) (201)

Closing net book value $ 95 $ 89
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11. ExPLoration and EVaLuation ExPEnditurEs

as at
december 31, 

2012
December 31, 

2011

Costs $ 275,041 $ 261,608

Net book value $ 275,041 $ 261,608

Period ended 2012 2011

Opening net book value $ 261,608 $ 180,770

Additions 109,636 97,248

Proceeds received upon assignment of TPPI (82,856) –

Gross proceeds received from EWT (39,632) (12,879)

Insurance recoveries – (3,049)

Settlement of EWT production sharing terms 26,434 –

Disposals (149) (482)

Closing net book value $ 275,041 $ 261,608

All E&E expenditures pertain to the Kurdistan Region exploration project with respect to the Company’s PSCs and have been 
capitalized in accordance with the Company’s exploration and evaluation accounting policy. Included in E&E expenditures 
as at December 31, 2012 is $3.8 million related to provisions for decommissioning obligations (December 31, 2011: $1.4 million). 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company has capitalized $4.2 million of general and administrative costs (2011: 
$4.8 million), including $1.0 million of share-based compensation costs (2011: $0.6 million) directly related to exploration 
activities. All E&E expenditures are excluded from depreciation.

During the third quarter of 2012, the KRG assigned the TPPI in the Garmian PSC to Gazprom Neft through an amendment to the 
Garmian PSC. Under the terms of the Amended Garmian PSC, the Company received an initial payment of $82.9 million from 
Gazprom Neft, comprised of $94.1 million for the Gazprom Neft’s share of backcosts in regards to gross costs incurred on the 
Garmian Block for the period January 1, 2011 to May 31, 2012 (i.e. including funding half of the KRG’s interest) less $11.2 million 
for Gazprom Neft’s share of Recovery Oil from the historic sales of test production from the Sarqala-1 EWT. The funds received 
from Gazprom Neft were credited against E&E expenditures, WesternZagros and Gazprom Neft each fund 50 percent of all 
subsequent costs incurred related to the Garmian PSC.

The Amended Garmian PSC also provided for the production sharing terms of the PSC to be retroactively applied to the 
production from the extended well test at Sarqala-1, being production from October 2011 to May 2012. During the third quarter 
of 2012, $26.4 million was remitted to the KRG, comprised of the KRG’s net entitlement of deemed gross sales of $25.9 million 
plus $3.2 million for the Gazprom Neft’s share of Contractor Profit Oil (net settled between the KRG and Gazprom Neft upon 
assignment of the TPPI), less $2.7 million of deemed sales previously received by the KRG. The $26.4 million settlement with 
the KRG was debited against exploration and evaluation expenditures. The overall impact to WesternZagros was a net receipt 
of $56.5 million of proceeds upon the assignment of the TPPI to Gazprom Neft, credited against E&E expenditures.

The Sarqala-1 EWT originally commenced during the fourth quarter of 2011 and resulted in the Company’s sales of test oil into 
the local Kurdistan Region domestic market from October 2011 to May 2012, under the auspices of the Ministry of Natural 
Resources. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company executed five sales contracts and received gross payments 
totaling $39.6 million (three months ended December 31, 2011: $12.9 million). For the period October 2011 to May 2012, the 
Company collected a total of $52.5 million in gross proceeds from the sale of test oil. Upon retroactive application of the 
production sharing terms during the third quarter of 2012, the Company retained total net proceeds of $14.9 million from 
inception-to-date sales of test oil, as summarized below:

Psc terms westernZagros gazprom net krg total Ewt 
Proceeds(*)

Royalty Oil NA NA $5.5 million $5.5 million

Recovery Oil $11.2 million $11.2 million NA $22.4 million

Initial Profit Oil NA NA $17.8 million $17.8 million

Contractor Profit Oil $3.7 million $3.2 million $2.6 million $9.5 million

total $14.9 million $14.4 million $25.9 million $55.2 million

(*): Includes deemed $2.7 million of take-in-kind value attributed to the KRG.
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The extended well test was temporarily suspended on May 28, 2012, and the Company began planned well repairs which were 
then completed July 2012. WesternZagros is still in the exploration stage of development and credits any net proceeds received 
from the sale of test oil into the Kurdistan Region domestic market against E&E expenditures when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have passed and the value of those sales can be reliably measured.

Approval from the Ministry of Natural Resources to recommence the Sarqala-1 EWT was not received until November 2012. Upon 
direction from the KRG, the Company temporarily delivered crude oil for export between November 8 and November 27, 2012. 
However the Sarqala-1 EWT was again halted on November 27, 2012, per further direction from the KRG. The Company expects 
its net entitlement to be based on the terms of the Garmian PSC, however the Company has not been paid for the approximate 
88,000 bbls (gross) of test production delivered for export. There is uncertainty as to the amount and the timing of proceeds 
due for the test oil that was exported. Accordingly, as at the reporting date the Company has not recorded any receivable 
for the value of the Company’s net entitlement and consequently no associated credit to E&E expenditures. WesternZagros 
is still in the exploration stage of development and credits any net proceeds received from the sales of test oil exports against 
E&E expenditures in the period in which the proceeds are received.

During 2011 the Company concluded an insurance claim related to the cost of the well control and recovery operations at 
Kurdamir-1, which had first begun during 2010. The control of well insurance policy covering these claims had a net aggregate 
limit to the Company of $45 million, with a $0.4 million deductible. Under the terms of the insurance policy, the Company 
submitted claims for these costs as they were incurred and paid and these claims were then subject to the review and approval 
of an adjuster appointed by the insurers. During 2011, the Company and the insurers settled the balance of the claim which 
resulted in approximately $3.0 million of insurance recoveries being recognized and credited against E&E expenditures and 
the collection of $20.6 million in insurance proceeds for the year, of which $17.6 million had already been recognized in 2010.

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had approximately $103 million related to the Garmian PSC and $144 million related 
to the Kurdamir PSC, both net to WesternZagros, of recoverable costs available that may ultimately be recovered from future 
crude oil or natural gas sales in accordance with the PSCs. Under each PSC, costs subject to recovery include all costs and 
expenditures incurred for exploration, development, production and decommissioning operations, as well as any other costs 
and expenditures incurred directly or indirectly from these activities. Pursuant to the terms of the PSCs, these estimated cost 
pools are subject to government audit.

12. tradE and otHEr PayaBLEs

current as at december 31 2012 2011

Trade, joint venture and other payables $ 40,252 $ 7,031

Accruals 29,351 28,891

Total trade and other payables $ 69,603 $ 35,922

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the trade, joint venture and other payables includes cash call prepayments received 
from Gazprom Neft in relation to anticipated future expenditures for Garmian Block activities. Trade and other payables are 
non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 day terms. Accruals relate mainly to E&E and other expenditures 
incurred as at the reporting date.

13. ProVision For dEcommissioning oBLigations

Decommissioning liabilities are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 
amount of obligation can be made. Provisions are made for the present value of the future cost of abandonment of oil and gas 
wells and related facilities.

The amount recognized is the estimated cost of decommissioning activities based on internal engineering estimates prevailing  
at the reporting date, discounted to its present value utilizing a pre-tax risk-free interest rate. Changes in the estimated 
decommissioning costs or the estimated timing of decommissioning costs are dealt with prospectively by recording an 
adjustment to the provision, with a corresponding adjustment to exploration and evaluation assets, and are updated at each 
reporting date to reflect the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

These costs are assumed to be incurred in 2039 in respect of well locations as at the reporting date. The Company’s share 
of the total undiscounted amount of estimated cash flow required to settle the obligation is $7.9 million. The Company has 
used the Bank of Canada long-term bond yield rate and an inflation rate of 2.86 percent to calculate the net present value of 
the future obligations. The additional obligations incurred in 2011 related to the Company’s 100 percent working interest 
funding for both the Sarqala-1 re-entry operation and drilling operations at Mil Qasim-1, as well as the Company’s 60 percent 
working interest in the Kurdamir-2, which was spud in late 2011. Upon assignment of the TPPI to Gazprom Neft during 2012, 
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the Company’s portion of the obligation relating to Sarqala-1 and Mil Qasim-1 was then reduced to 50 percent, resulting in a 
decrease to the existing obligations. The change in the estimates for 2012 was mainly due to certain anticipated additional 
abandonment activities that are required for Mil Qasim-1.

The following table presents the reconciliation of the Company’s provision for decommissioning liabilities:

For the years ended december 31 2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,728 $ 509

Increase (decrease) in obligations (647) 1,046

Changes in estimates or timing of cash flows 3,072 148

Accretion 54 25

Balance, end of year $ 4,207 $ 1,728

14. sHarE caPitaL

As at December 31, 2012, the Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares, 
issuable in series. The common shares are without nominal or par value.

The common shares issued and outstanding were as follows:

Number  
of shares

 
Amount

Balance as at January 1, 2011 207,464,320 $ 253,583

Issuance of common shares, net of costs 163,665,352 88,034

Options exercised for common shares 79,800 64

Balance December 31, 2011 371,209,472 $ 341,681

Issuance of common shares, net of costs 40,714,286 $ 57,407

Options exercised for common shares 177,067 152

Balance December 31, 2012 412,100,825 $ 399,240

15. sHarE BasEd PaymEnts

Pursuant to the stock option plan, the Board of Directors may grant options to directors, officers, employees and other service 
providers. The aggregate number of shares that may be reserved for issuance pursuant to stock options may not exceed 10 
percent of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company on a non-diluted basis as at the time of granting. 
Stock options expire not more than five years from the date of grant, or earlier if the individual ceases to be associated with 
the Company, and the option vesting period is determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors when granted. These 
options are equity settled share based payment transactions.

The following tables present the reconciliation of stock options granted:

For the year ended december 31, 2011
Number  

of options

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price ($Cdn)

Outstanding, beginning of year 20,354,900 $ 1.00

Granted 630,000 0.55

Exercised (79,800) 0.51

Forfeited and expired (2,126,400) 1.15

Outstanding, end of year 18,778,700 $ 0.97

Exercisable at December 31, 2011 14,707,466 $ 1.09
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For the year ended december 31, 2012
Number  

of options

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price ($Cdn)

Outstanding, beginning of year 18,778,700 $ 0.97

Granted 8,129,000 0.76

Exercised (177,067) 0.53

Forfeited and expired (542,383) 0.69

Outstanding, end of year 26,188,250 $ 0.91

Exercisable at December 31, 2012 20,255,570 $ 0.96

The fair value of all options granted have been estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
and are summarized in the following table:

2012 2011

Weighted average fair value of stock options granted $ 0.44 $ 0.37 

Average Risk Free Interest Rate 1.15 1.14

Expected Life 3 years 3 years

Average Expected Volatility 94% 108%

Dividend Per Share nil Nil

The following table summarizes Stock Options outstanding and exercisable under the Stock Option Plan at December 31, 2011:

options outstanding options Exercisable

Range of 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

Number  
of Options 

Outstanding

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual  
Life (years)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

Number  
of Options 

Exercisable

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual  
Life (years)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

$	 0.38 – $0.49 9,411,700 3.97 0.49 6,222,466 3.97 0.49

$	 0.50 – $1.00 4,142,000 2.43 0.57 3,286,667 2.04 0.57

$	 1.01 – $2.00 255,000 1.95 1.43 228,333 1.89 1.39

$	 2.01 – $3.28 4,970,000 0.11 2.17 4,970,000 1.11 2.17

Total 18,778,700 2.85 0.97 14,707,466 2.54 1.09

The following table summarizes Stock Options outstanding and exercisable under the Stock Option Plan at December 31, 2012:

options outstanding options Exercisable

Range of 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

Number  
of Options 

Outstanding

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual  
Life (years)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

Number  
of Options 

Exercisable

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual  
Life (years)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise  

Price Cdn$

$	 0.38 – $0.49 9,183,500 2.97 0.49 9,131,500 2.97 0.49

$	 0.50 – $1.00 11,529,750 3.19 0.68 5,899,070 2.30 0.63

$	 1.01 – $2.00 505,000 2.86 1.30 255,000 0.94 1.43

$	 2.0 1 – $3.28 4,970,000 0.10 2. 1 7 4,970,000 0.10 2. 1 7

Total 26,188,250 2.52 0.91 20,255,570 2.05 0.96

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recognized $1.4 million (2011: $0.9 million) of share based 

compensation costs as general and administrative expense and capitalized $1.0 million (2011: $0.6 million).
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16. gEnEraL and administratiVE ExPEnsEs, By naturE

For the years ended december 31 2012 2011

Staff expenses $ 7,383 $ 6,677

Share-based payments 1,374 860

Travel expenses 1,134 1,005

Professional fees 3,999 1,956

Office costs 1,272 1,084

Regulatory and corporate project costs 805 581

Other administrative expenses 430 532

Less capitalized general and administrative costs (5,394) (4,223)

Total administrative expenses $ 11,003 $ 8,472

Key management personnel have been identified as the Board of Directors and the Executive Management Team. 
Details of key management remuneration are shown in Note 17 “Related party transactions and balances.”

17. rELatEd Party transactions and BaLancEs

All wholly-owned subsidiaries as listed in Note 3(B) have been included in the consolidated accounts.

The remuneration of the fourteen key management personnel of the Company, which includes the Directors and Officers 
and other Executive Management personnel, is set out below in aggregate:

For the years ended december 31 2012 2011

Salaries and wages $ 2,963  $ 2,351

Short-term benefits 64 48

Share-based compensation (expensed) 1,169 657

Share-based compensation (capitalized) 449 210

Total $ 4,645  $ 3,266

18. Loss PEr sHarE, Basic and diLutEd

The basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of common shares issued during the period. In computing diluted per share amounts, all of the Company’s options at 
the reporting date totaling 26,188,250 (2011: 18,778,700) have been excluded as they are anti-dilutive. Accordingly no additional 
common shares were added to the basic weighted average shares outstanding to account for dilution.

The basic and diluted loss per share was calculated as follows:

For the years ended december 31 2012 2011

Loss for the period $ 10,287 $ 6,873

Weighted-average common shares (000’s) 387,316 294,247

Loss per share (basic and diluted) $ 0.027 $ 0.023

19. sHarEHoLdEr rigHts PLan

On October 18, 2007, the Company adopted a shareholder rights plan (the “Plan”). Under the Plan, one right has been issued 
in respect of each currently issued common share and one right will be issued with each additional common share which is 
issued. The rights remain attached to the common shares and are not exercisable or separable unless one or more of certain 
specified events occur. If a person or group acting in concert acquires 20 percent or more of the common shares of the Company, 
the rights will entitle the holders thereof (other than the acquiring person or group) to purchase common shares at a substantial 
discount from the then market price. The rights are not triggered by a “Permitted Bid” as defined in the Plan. The Plan will remain 
in effect until termination of the annual meeting of shareholders in 2013, unless extended by resolution of the shareholders 
at such meeting.
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20. suPPLEmEntaL casH FLow inFormation

Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets are comprised of:

For the years ended december 31 2012 2011

Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets $ (106,241) $ (95,557)

Change in non-cash investing working capital 32,079 23,259

$ (74,162) $ (72,298) 

Changes in non-cash working capital is comprised of:

For the years ended december 31 2012 2011

related to operating activities

Trade and other receivables $ (41) $ 6

Prepaid expenses (96) (236)

Trade and other payables 634 (2)

$ 497 $ (232) 

related to investing activities

Trade and other receivables $ (91) $ 8,735

Prepaid expenses (877) –

Trade and other payables 33,047 14,524

$ 32,079 $ 23,259

21. commitmEnts and contingEnciEs

A. PSC commitments

WesternZagros holds two PSCs with the KRG in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq. The Kurdamir and Garmian PSCs each govern 
a separate contract area. The Garmian contract area (1,780 square kilometres) is operated by WesternZagros. The Company 
holds a 40 percent interest in the Garmian PSC, the KRG holds a 20 percent interest and the remaining 40 percent working 
interest is held by Gazprom Neft. The Kurdamir contract area (340 square kilometres) is operated by Talisman with a 40 percent 
working interest, WesternZagros holds a 40 percent working interest and the KRG holds a 20 percent working interest. 
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A summary of the commitments under the PSC’s is as follows:

kurdamir Psc garmian Psc

First Exploration Sub-Period (expired) August 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Exploration Obligation Kurdamir-2  
(completed)

Mil Qasim-1 Exploration Well 
(completed)

Second Exploration Sub-Period Additional Two Years Additional Two Years

Exploration Obligation One Appraisal Well  
(Kurdamir-3)

One Exploration Well (Hasira-1 or 
Baram-1)

Other Extensions Six Month Extension One Year Extension

Work Commitments One well Three wells

PSC Payments Additional Capacity Building Support 
Payment payable equal to 3% of 
WesternZagros Profit Oil. $1.1 million 
annual payments.

Additional Capacity Building Support 
Payment payable equal to 3% of 
WesternZagros Profit Oil. $0.6 million 
annual payments.

Operator Talisman WesternZagros (1)

Ownership WesternZagros 40% WesternZagros 40%

Talisman 40% Gazprom Neft 40%

KRG 20% (2) KRG 20% (2)

(1): Pursuant to the terms of the Garmian PSC, Gazprom Neft will operate the Garmian Block following the end of the Exploration Period.

(2): WesternZagros funds 100 percent of the KRG costs on the Kurdamir Block and 50 percent of the KRG costs on the Garmian Block,  
 ultimately to be recovered by WesternZagros through the KRG’s share of Cost Recovery Oil.

During the second quarter of 2012, the Kurdamir-2 well reached total depth of approximately 4,000 metres as required for the 
Company to meet its commitments related to the first exploration sub-period under the Kurdamir PSC. The Company has 
entered the second exploration sub-period of the Kurdamir PSC. The Company has committed to expenditures of approximately 
$34 million, under approved AFE’s, to meet its 60 percent funding requirement related to planned Kurdamir Block activities, 
which includes the Company’s portion of completion costs associated with Kurdamir-2, drilling the Kurdamir-3 vertical well 
(which was spudded on February 22, 2013), a seismic program over the Kurdamir structure and the associated supervision 
and local office support costs and other planned Kurdamir Block activities to December 31, 2013. The Kurdamir-3 well and 
the 2013 Kurdamir seismic program will satisfy the Company’s minimum obligations relating to the second exploration 
sub-period under the Kurdamir PSC.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company finished drilling the Mil Qasim-1 exploration well in order to meet its 
commitments for the first exploration sub-period under the Garmian PSC. The Company has entered the second exploration 
sub-period of the Garmian PSC. During the second exploration sub-period the Company’s 50 percent funding obligations are 
to drill one commitment well (Hasira-1 or Baram-1) by December 31, 2013, and spend a minimum amount of $12.5 million on 
drilling and associated geological and geophysical activities. Upon fulfilling these minimum exploration commitments and 
receiving approval from the KRG for a 2 year exploration program that includes three additional wells, the Company would 
then be entitled to a one year extension of the second exploration sub-period (i.e. to December 31, 2014).

During 2011, the Company also submitted and received approval from the KRG for an appraisal work plan and budget with 
respect to the Sarqala discovery. The Company plans to complete the extended well test on Sarqala, conduct a 3D seismic 
program and drill up to two appraisal wells. The Company has submitted the required Appraisal Work Program and Budget 
with respect to the Mil Qasim Discovery for approval by the KRG. The program includes further evaluation and analysis of 
the 3D seismic data and Upper Fars drilling data from the drilling of the Hasira-1 well and incorporating information to be 
gathered under the Sarqala appraisal program. 
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B. Other commitments

The Company has entered into various exploration-related contracts, including contracts for drilling equipment, services and 
other tangible equipment. The following table summarizes the Company’s portion of estimated commitments in relation to 
these exploration-related contracts relating mainly to long lead items for planned drilling activities on the Garmian Block 
and other contractual obligations at December 31, 2012 (U.S. $000’s): 

For the  
years ending 
december 31 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017+ Total

Exploration $ 5,744 – – – – $ 5,744

Office $ 1,129 $ 1,093 $ 1,247 $ 1,250 $ 1,250 $ 5,969

$ 6,873 $ 1,093 $ 1,247 $ 1,250 $ 1,250 $ 11,713

Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Company also entered into a two year drilling contract for two rigs, for which the 
Company’s portion is a minimum commitment of $31.5 million, and in respect of which it has placed as security a deposit 
held in trust of $20 million. 

C. Contingencies

i. Litigation

From time to time, the Company may become involved in legal or administrative proceedings in the normal conduct of business. 
The Company is currently in disputes with two contractors that have entered into arbitration proceedings. The first is in 
relation to compensation owing to a contractor under a terminated agreement where the termination is being disputed and 
compensation in excess of that agreed by the parties may be sought. The second is in relation to amounts owing to a contractor 
for services provided that have been withheld by the Company as a result of a potential breach of contract by the contractor. 
At this stage in the applicable proceedings there has been no formal claim of monetary damages against the Company made 
by either contractor. The Company believes that these matters, individually or in aggregate, are unlikely to have a material 
impact on WesternZagros’s financial position. However, given the current stage of the disputes, there can be no certainty at 
this time as to the outcome of such proceedings or the ultimate effect which they may have on the Company.

ii. Regulatory

Oil and gas operations are subject to extensive controls and regulations imposed by various levels of government that may be 
amended from time to time. The Company’s operations may require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities 
in the countries in which it operates. Under the Garmian and Kurdamir PSCs, the KRG is obligated to assist in obtaining all 
permits and licenses from any government agencies in the Kurdistan Region and from any other government administration 
in Iraq. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain all necessary licenses and permits that may be 
required to carry out exploration and development of its projects.

The political and security situation in Iraq is unsettled and volatile. The Kurdistan Region is the only “Region” of Iraq that is 
constitutionally established pursuant to the Iraq Constitution, which expressly recognizes the Kurdistan Region. The political 
issues of federalism and the autonomy of the Regions of Iraq are matters about which there are major differences between 
the various political factions in Iraq. These differences could adversely impact the Company’s interest in the Kurdistan Region 
including the ability to export any hydrocarbons as a result of our activities.

22. suBsEQuEnt EVEnts

Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Company collected a total of $119.9 million in proceeds from Crest after securing debt 
of $57.5 million and securing $62.4 million of equity through a non-brokered, private placement of 51 million common shares 
of the Company issued at a price of Cdn$1.25 per common share. The debt is repayable September 2014 and shall accrue 
interest at 6 percent per annum. 

Also subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Company finalized terms of a further marketed private placement to sell up to 
11,431,422 common shares at a price of Cdn$1.25 per common share for gross proceeds of approximately $13.9 million and 
which is anticipated to close on April 4, 2013. It is expected that proceeds from the private placement will be used to reduce 
the principal amount outstanding under the Crest loan.
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